Syntax

INTRODUCTION

Syntax is the part of grammar which deals with sentences and combinability of words. The core of syntax is the study of the sentence. Syntax embraces on the one hand the structure of the sentence, that is, its components, their structure and the relations between these components, and on the other hand structural and communicative types of sentences.

THE SENTENCE

§ 1. Anything that is said in the act of communication is called an utterance. Most utterances are sentences, although there are some which are not sentences and are called non-sentence utterances. Thus utterances fall into two groups: sentences and non-sentence utterances.

Sentences may be regarded from the point of view of their structure and their communicative value.

Structural classification of sentences

§ 2. From the point of view of their structure, sentences can be:

1. Simple or composite (compound and complex).

2. Complete or incomplete (elliptical).

3. Two-member (double-nucleus) or one-member (single-nucleus).

These three classifications are based on different approaches to the structural organisation of sentences and reflect its different aspects.

The difference between the simple sentence and the composite sentence lies in the fact that the former contains only one subject-predicate unit and the latter more than one. Subject-predicate units that form composite sentences are called clauses.

Honesty is the best policy. (one subject-predicate unit) 

Still waters run deep. (one subject-predicate unit) 

You can take a horse to the water, but you cannot make him drink, (two subject-predicate units, or two 

clauses) 

You never know what you can do till you try. (three subject-predicate units, or three clauses)

The difference between the compound and complex sentence lies in the relations between the clauses that constitute them (see § 137, 138, 144).

Complete and incomplete (or elliptical) sentences are distinguished by the presence or absence of word-forms in the principal positions of two-member sentences.

In a complete sentence both the principal positions are filled with word-forms.

When did you arrive? 

I came straight here.

In an incomplete (elliptical) sentence one or both of the main posi​tions are not filled, but can be easily supplied as it is clear from the context what is missing.

Cheerful, aren’t you?

Ready?

Could’ve been professional.

Wrong again.

Elliptical sentences are typical of conversational English. One-member and two-member sentences are distinguished by the num​ber of principal parts (positions) they contain: two-member sentences have two main parts - the subject and the predicate, while one-member sen​tences have only one principal part, which is neither the subject nor the predicate.

Two-member sentences:

The magpie flew off. 

We are going to my house now.

One-member sentences:

An old park.

Mid-summer.

Low tide, dusty water.

To live alone in this abandoned house!

THE SIMPLE SENTENCE 

Two-member sentences

§ 3. The basic pattern of a simple sentence in English is one subject-predicate unit, that is, it has two main (principal) positions: those of the subject and of the predicate. It is the pattern of a two-member sentence. There are several variations of this basic pattern, depending mainly on the kind of verb occupying the predicate position. The verb in the predicate position may be intransitive, transitive, ditransitive or a link verb.

Here are the main variants of the fundamental (basic) pattern:

1. John ran.

2. John is a student.

3. John is clever.

4. John learned French.

5. John gives Mary his books. 

	
6. John lives
	in London.

there


7. We found John guilty.

8. We found John a bore.

The basic pattern may be  unextended or extended. 

An unextended sentence contains two main positions of the basic pattern, that of the subject and tlie predicate.

Mary laughed. 

Mary is a doctor. 

Mary is happy.

An extended sentence may contain various optional elements (including attributes, certain kinds of prepositional objects and adverbial modifiers).

John ran quickly to me.

My friend John is a very kind student.

Mary laughed heartily at the joke.

Obligatory extending elements are those which complete the meaning of other words, usually verbs, or pronouns, which without them make no or little sense. Therefore obligatory elements are called complements.
John learned French. (the meaning of “learned” is incomplete without the object “French”)

John gives Mary his books. (the meaning of “gives Mary” conveys different meaning without the object 

“his books”)

John lives in London, (the meaning of “lives” is incomplete without an adverbial of place)

One-member sentences

§ 4. One-member sentences in English are of two types: nominal sentences and verbal sentences.

Nominal sentences are those in which the principal part is expressed by a noun. They state the existence of the things expressed by them. They are typical of descriptions.

Nominal sentences may be:

a) unextended.

Silence. Summer. Midnight.

b) e x t e n d e d.

Dusk - of a summer night.

The grass, this good, soft, lush grass.

English spring flowers!

Verbal sentences are those in which the principal part is expressed by a non-finite form of the verb, either an infinitive or a gerund. Infinitive and gerundial one-member sentences are mostly used to describe different emotional perceptions of reality.

To think of that!

To think that he should have met her again in this way!

Living at the mercy of a woman!

Elliptical (incomplete) sentences

§ 5. A two-member sentence may be either complete or incomplete (elliptical). An elliptical sentence is a sentence in which one or more word-forms in the principal positions are omitted. Ellipsis here refers only to the structural elements of the sentence, not the informational ones. This means that those words can be omitted, because they have only grammatical, structural relevance, and do not carry any new relevant information.

In English elliptical sentences are only those having no word-forms in the subject and predicate positions, i. e., in the positions which constitute the structural core of the sentence.

There are several types of elliptical sentences.

1. Sentences without a word-form in the subject position.

Looks like rain.

Seems difficult.

Don’t know anything about it.

2. Sentences without word-forms in the subject position and part of the predicate position. In such cases the omitted part of the predicate may be either a) an auxiliary verb or b) a link verb.

a) Going home soon? 

See what I mean? 

Heard nothing about him lately.

b) Not bad.

Free this evening? 

Nice of you to come. 

Susan’s father?

3. Sentences without a word-form only in part of the predicate position, which may be an auxiliary or a link verb.

You seen them? 

Everything fixed? 

You sure? 

All settled.

4. Sentences without word-forms both in the subject and the predicate position. Such ellipses occur in various responses.

What time does Dave come for lunch? - One o’clock. 

What were you thinking about? - You. 

What do you want of us? Miracles? 

Where’re you going? - Home.

5. Sentences without a word-form in the predicate position. Such ellipses occur only in replies to questions.

Who lives there? - Jack. 

What’s happened? - Nothing.

The Structural Types of Sentence 

Sentence


	Simple
	Composite



	One-member
	Two-member
	Complex
	Compound



	
	Complete 
	Incomplete
	Complete
	Incomplete




COMMUNICATIVE TYPES OF SENTENCES

§ 6. The sentence is a minimal unit of communication. From the viewpoint of their role in the process of communication sentences are divided into four types, grammatically marked: declarative, interrogative, imperative, exclamatory sentences. These types differ in the aim of communication and express statements, questions, commands and exclamations respectively.

	Dickens was born in 1812. 

When shall I see you again? 

Do you know Italian?
	Come up and sit down. 

What a quiet evening!


These types are usually applied to simple sentences. In a complex sentence the communicative type depends upon that of the main clause, as in:

I waited till the light turned to green. (statement)

Do you always wait till the light turns to green? (question)

Wait till the light turns to green. (command)

How thoughtless of you not to have waited till the light turned to green! (exclamation)

In a compound sentence, coordinate clauses may as well belong to different communicative types.

Look out, or you may meet with an accident. (command-statement) 

I obeyed, for what else could I do? (statement-question)

Declarative sentences

§ 7. A declarative sentence contains a statement which gives the reader or the listener some information about various events, activities or attitudes, thoughts and feelings. Statements form the bulk of monological speech, and the greater part of conversation. A statement may be positive (affirmative) or negative, as in:

I have just come back from a business trip. 

I haven’t seen my sister yet.

Grammatically, statements are characterized by the subject-predicate structure with the direct order of words. They are mostly two-member sentences, although they may be one-member sentences, as in:

Very early morning. 

No curtain. No painting.

Statements usually have a falling tone; they are marked by a pause in speaking and by a full stop in writing.

In conversation, statements are often structurally incomplete, especially when they serve as a response to a question asking for some information, and the response conveys the most important idea.

Where are you going? - To the library.

Thanks to their structure and lexical content, declarative sentences are communicatively polyfunctional. Thus, besides their main function as information-carriers, statements may be used with the force of questions, commands and exclamations, as in:

I wonder why he is so late. 

You mustn’t talk back to your parents.

Interrogative sentences

§ 8. Interrogative sentences contain questions. Their communicative function consists in asking for information. They belong to the sphere of conversation and only occasionally occur in monological speech.

All varieties of questions may be structurally reduced to two main types, general questions (also called “yes-no” questions) and pronominal questions (otherwise called “special” or “wh” - questions). Both are graphically identified by a question mark. The two main types have a number of structural and communicative modifications.

General questions

§ 9. In  general questions the speaker is interested to know whether some event or phenomenon asked about exists or does not exist; accordingly the answer may be positive or negative, thus containing or implying “yes” or “no”.                          

A general question opens with a verb operator, that is, an auxiliary, modal, or link verb followed by the subject. Such questions are characterized by the rising tone.

Does your sister go figure-skating? 

Is that girl a friend of yours? 

Can you speak French?

“Yes-no” questions may be incomplete and reduced to two words only: Can you? Does he?

A negative "yes-no" question usually adds some emotional colouring of surprise or disappointment.

Haven’t you posted the letter yet? (Why?)

General questions opening with will/would may be considered as commands and requests according to their communicative role (see § 17).

Owing to their occasional emotional colouring, “yes-no” questions may function as exclamations (see § 22).

Tag questions

§ 10. A  tag question is a short “yes-no” question added to a statement. It consists only of an operator prompted by the predicate verb of the statement and a pronoun prompted by the subject. Generally the tag has a rising tone.

You know French, don’t you? - Yes, a bit. 

George is a football fan, isn’t he? - He certainly is.

A tag question is added to a statement for confirmation and therefore is sometimes called aconfirmative question. It corresponds to such Russian tag questions as He так ли? Не правда ли? Ведь так? The speaker expects the listener to share his view of some situation rather than to give him some new information. The most usual patterns of sentences with tag questions are as follows.

Positive statement - negative tag - positive answer 

You knew that before, didn’t you? - Yes, I did.

Negative statement - positive tag - negative answer

You didn’t know that before, did you? - No, I didn’t.

The answer, however, may be unexpected, as in: You didn’t know that before, did you ? - But I did.

The falling tone of the tag is also possible. It makes the whole sentence sound like a statement. The speaker actually knows the answer and can do without it.

There is one more sentence pattern with a tag question which is less frequently used.

Positive statement - positive tag

You knew about it before, did you?

Negative statement - negative tag 

You didn’t know about it before, didn’t you?

This sentence pattern is used when the speaker comes to a conclusion concerning some event. Such sentences may begin with the conjunction so.

So you knew about it before, did you?

A sentence pattern with a tag question may serve as a response to the previous remark. Thus it forms a comment having some emotional attitude, such as surprise, anger, sarcasm.

They even put the car on the ship for you.

- They do, do they? Who takes it off again?

He brought these flowers, too. - He did, did he? - Yes. 

Alternative questions

§ 11. An  alternative question implies a choice between two or more alternative answers. Like a “yes-no” question, it opens with an operator, but the suggestion of choice expressed by the disjunctive conjunction or makes the “yes-no” answer impossible. The conjunction or links either two homogeneous parts of the sentence or two coordinate clauses. The part of the question before the conjunction is characterized by a rising tone, the part after the conjunction has a falling tone.

Will you go to the opera or to the concert to-night?

An alternative question may sometimes resemble a pronominal question beginning with a question word:

Which do you prefer, tea or coffee? 

Where shall we go, to the cinema or to the football match?

Actually such structures fall into two parts, the first forms a pronominal question, the second a condensed alternative question.

Would you prefer tea or coffee? 

Shall we go to the cinema or to the football match?

Sometimes the alternative contains only a negation:

Will they ever stop arguing or not?

Suggestive questions

§ 12. Suggestive questions, also called  declarative questions, form a peculiar kind of "yes-no" questions. They keep the word order of statements but serve as questions owing to the rising tone in speaking and a question mark in writing, as in:

You really want to go now, to-night?

- Yes, nothing could make me stay.

By their communicative function suggestive questions resemble sentences with tag questions; they are asked for the sake of confirmation. The speaker is all but sure what the answer will be (positive or negative), and by asking the question expects confirmation on the part of the ad​dressee.

You are familiar with the town?

- I spent winter here many years ago.

You still don’t believe me, Aunt Nora?

- No, I don't.

The answer is sometimes unexpected.

A child like you talking of “we women”! What next? You’re not in earnest?

- Yes, I am.

Unlike ordinary “yes-no” questions, suggestive questions may con​tain independent elements, such as interjections, modal words or phrases, the conjunction so, parenthetical clauses, etc., as in:

You are joking, eh?

Surely you are not offended?

So you knew about, it before?

Suggestive questions are frequently used as question responses with various kinds of emotional colouring, most often that of surprise or incredulity.

He said you were a very good ski-teacher.

- He said that? 

You sound surprised.

Because of their main communicative function, suggestive questions are very useful as leading questions to get exact information, as seen in the following passage:

You mean to say he at no time asked you the actual purpose of your visit?

- Not at that interview.

- And it did not occur to you to force this information on him ?

- Indeed it did...

Pronominal questions

§13. Pronominal questions open with an interrogative pronoun or a pronominal adverb, the function of which is to get more detailed and exact information about some event or phenomenon known to the speaker and listener.

The interrogative pronouns and adverbs which function as question words are as follows: what, which, who, whom, whose, where, when, why, how and the archaic whence (= where from), whither (= where, where to), wherefore (= what for, why).

Adverbial phrases such as how long, how often may also function as question words.

Question words may have various syntactical functions in the sentence, depending upon the information the speaker wants to obtain:

1. Who came first? (subject) - I did.

2. What makes you think so? (subject) - Your behaviour.

3. Whose team has won the match? (attribute) - Ours.

4. Which story did you like best? (attribute) - The last.

5. Who is that man? (predicative) - He is my brother.

6. What are you doing there? (object) - Nothing.

7. When are you going to come back? (adverbial of time) - Tomorrow.

8. How can I get to your place? (adverbial of manner) - By bus.

As can be seen from the above examples, word order in a pronominal question is characterized by inversion of the operator and the subject. Inversion does not take place when the question word is the subject or an attribute to the subject (see examples 1, 2, 3).

A question word may be preceded by a preposition.

On what resolution do you insist?

In colloquial English it is preferable to shift the preposition to the end of the question.

What are you laughing at? 

What did you argue about?

In colloquial English the pronoun who is used as a question word functioning either as subject or object.

Who has done it? 

Who do you see there?

The tone of pronominal questions is usually a falling one.

§ 14. Pronominal questions are often used as short responses. They usually consist of (a) a question word or (b) a question word followed by a preposition.

a) I’m leaving for home. - When? 

George won’t come to-night. - Why? 

Let’s meet again. - Where? 

I think I can help you. - How?

b) I want to talk with you. - What about? 

Come again. - What for? 

Open the tin. - What with?

The patterns (a) and (b) are employed when some information is missing and the listener asks for the necessary information. The tone is falling.

§ 15. Question words preceded by prepositions are usually employed as echo questions. No information is missing in the previous remark, the whole idea is questioned. The tone is rising and the question word is heavily stressed. They express surprise, incredulity and sometimes incomprehension.

Let’s talk about life on Saturn. - About what?

I opened the door with a pin. - With what?

You are a shameless liar, - I am a what?

Our neighbour was born in 1973. - She was born when?

The whole of the question may be reduced to the question word, with the article repeated if necessary.

- Your husband was telling us all about the chromosomes.

- The what?

- The chromosomes, the genes... or whatever they are.

- The Boss wants to see you.

- The who?

The whole of the pronominal question may be re-addressed to gain time for the answer. The re-addressed question takes a rising tone.

When are you going to see me? - When am I going to see you? -Yes, when? - On Sunday, if it suits you.

Rhetorical questions

§ 16. Both general and pronominal questions may serve as rhetorical questions. A rhetorical question contains a statement disguised as a question. Usually it is a positive question hiding a negative statement. No answer is expected.

Can any one say what truth is? (No one can say what it is.)

Do we always act as we ought to? (We do not always act as we ought to.)

What else could I do? (I could do nothing.)

Who would have thought to meet you here? (Nobody would.)

In their form and intonation rhetorical questions do not differ from standard question types. The difference lies in their communicative aim. A rhetorical question does not ask for any new information. It implies a statement and is always emotionally coloured. Besides, it is employed to attract the listener's attention. Since rhetorical questions do not require an answer, they are not followed by a response. The speaker may give an answer himself to clarify his idea. Rhetorical questions are employed in monological speech, especially in oratory, and poetry in the writer’s digressions.

To me what is wealth? - it may pass in an hour.

If tyrants prevail, or if Fortune should frown:

To me what is title? - the phantom of power;

To me what is fashion ? - I seek but renown. (Byron)

And what, after all, can it be other than modesty that makes him [Roy Kear] even now write to the reviewers of his books, thanking them for their praise and ask them for luncheon? (Maugham)

Rhetorical questions occur in colloquial English too, as in this fragment of dialogue:

Will you give me a picture of yours? - What for?... I’m not Marilyn Monroe or Jane Mansfield.

Imperative sentences

§ 17. Imperative sentences express commands which convey the desire of the speaker to make someone, generally the listener, perform an action. Besides commands proper, imperative sentences may express prohibition, a request, an invitation, a warning, persuasion, etc., depending on the situation, context, wording, or intonation.

Stand up! Sit down. Open your textbooks. 

Be quick!

Formally commands are marked by the predicate verb in the imperative mood (positive or negative), the reference to the second person, lack of subject, and the use of the auxiliary do in negative or emphatic sentences with the verb to be.

Commands are generally characterized by the falling tone, although the rising tone may be used to make a command less abrupt. In writing commands are marked by a full stop or an exclamation mark.

A negative command usually expresses prohibition, warning or persuasion.

Don’t cross the street before the light turns to green. 

Don’t allow children to play with matches. 

Don’t worry.

Commands can be softened and made into requests with the help of the word please, the rising tone, a tag question or a “yes-no” question beginning with will or would.

Speak louder, please.

Repeat the last word, will you?

Would you do me a favour?

The falling tone and an exclamation mark at the end of a sentence opening with will express irritation and impatience, as in:

Will you stop arguing! 

Will you be quiet!

§ 18. Though in the vast majority of commands the subject is only implied, the subject expressed by the pronoun you occurs when it is necessary (a) to specify the subject, sometimes for the sake of contrast; (b) to convey the speaker’s personal attitude to the event presented in the sentence (for example, irritation, anger, threat, impatience); (c) to soothe somebody. The subject in these cases is heavily stressed.

a) You come first, and I’ll wait a little. 

You come first, and he will have to wait.

b) You say it again, and I’ll turn you out of here! 

Just you wait, Mr Higgins.

c) You be a good girl, and don’t worry.

Note the initial position of the operator in negative commands with a subject.

Don’t you interrupt me.

§ 19. In the case of first person plural and third person singular and plural subjects, the imperative let is followed by a personal pronoun in the objective case.

Let him try again. 

Let them come in. 

Let us have some tea.

A first-person command often implies invitation or suggestion and may be followed by the tag shall we.

Lets do it together, shall we?

There are two negative constructions with let for the first person.

Let’s not quarrel about trifles. 

Don’t let’s quarrel about trifles.

A third-person command admits of only one negative construction:

Don't let him interfere in our affairs.

A third-person command may begin with a noun or a pronoun denoting the person addressed.

Somebody switch off the light. 

Mary and John fetch dictionaries.

Here the corresponding negative is:

Don’t anybody switch off the light!

§ 20. The imperative of some verbs may acquire interjectional force. Thus the forms listen, look (here), see (here) (Am.) - are used to attract attention.

Look here, let’s pull ourselves together, shall we?

Come (often doubled) may express encouragement or blame.

Come, come, don’t be so foolish. There’s nothing to worry about. (Ну, что ты, ну, полно.)

Come, come, you can’t expect me to believe you. (Ну нет уж.)

Hear! hear! expresses approval of somebody’s words at a meeting, etc. (Правильно, правильно.)

Verbless Commands

§ 21. Commands are sometimes expressed without an imperative verb, as in:

	Silence! 

Water, please. 

To the right! 

Off with you!
	Gently, darling. 

Careful, please. 

No smoking! 

Hush!


Exclamatory sentences

§ 22. The main distinctive feature of this communicative type of sentence is a specific intonation; structurally it is variable.

You do look a picture of health! (statement) 

Hurry up! (command)

The most common pattern of an exclamatory sentence opens with one of the pronominal words what and how. What refers to a noun, how to an adjective or an adverb. An exclamatory sentence has a subject-predicate structure; the order of the subject and the predicate verb (or the operator) is not inverted. An exclamation has a falling tone in speaking and an exclamation mark in writing.

What a funny story she told us! 

What valuable advice you’ve given us! 

How beautiful her voice is! 

How beautifully she sings!

Exclamatory sentences can be reduced to the word or phrase immediately following the exclamatory signals what or how.

What a situation!

What a terrible noise!

How kind of you to let me in!

Besides these patterns an exclamation as a communicative sentence type often follows the pattern of other sentence types. Thus it may be formed on the pattern of the following structures:

1. Statements:

You do look a picture of health!

2. Commands:

Hurry up!

3. Questions. These are “yes-no” questions functioning as exclamations owing to the falling tone in speaking and an exclamation mark in writing. The most common pattern has a negative question form with the operator heavily stressed.

Isn’t it funny! (How funny it is!)

Wasn’t it a funny story! (What a funny story it was!)

Doesn’t she sing beautifully! (How beautifully she sings!)

A positive “yes-no” question has not only the falling tone but also stress on both the operator and the subject.

He said he had to talk. Did he surprise me! (How he surprised me!) Am I fired! (I am very tired)

4. Pseudo-subordinate clauses introduced by the conjunctions if and that.

If only I were young again! 

That this should be the result!

5. One-member sentences conveying signals of alarm such as Fire! Bandits! and highly emotional infinitive or nominal one-member sentences followed by a clause.

To think that she should have said so! 

The idea that they should have behaved like this!

NON-SENTENCE UTTERANCES

§ 23. There are utterances which do not constitute sentences (non-sentence utterances). They are:

1. Vocatives.

Charles? 

Mr West!

2. “Yes-no” utterances. These are mostly responses to “yes-no” questions.

Are you coming? - Yes/No.

3. Interjections.

Hi! (Hey!) Oh!

Dear me! - Боже мой!

Look here! - Послушай!

Well, I never! - Вот те на! Вот так так! Ну и ну!

Goodness gracious! - Боже мой! Господи! Вот те на!

4. Different conversational formulas.

Thanks.

Good-bye.

Bye-bye.

NEGATION

§ 24. Both structural and communicative types of sentences fall into affirmative sentences and negative sentences. A sentence is made negative by the particle not which is the most widely used negator. It is put immediately after the auxiliary or modal verb. The negator not has two forms: uncontracted and contracted. The former occurs mainly in formal English; the latter is usual in informal (conversational) English. There are two possible forms of negation contraction: one is when the operator is contracted and the negator uncontracted, and the other is when the negator is contracted but the operator is used in its full form.

	Positive
	Negative

	
	Uncontracted


	Contracted

	They’ve come.


	They have not come.
	They’ve not come. 

They haven’t come.



	Tom is arriving tomorrow.
	Tom is not arriving tomorrow.
	Tom isn’t arriving tomorrow. 

Tom’s not arriving tomorrow. (The 1st form is more common.)



	You ought to have come.
	You ought not to have come at all.
	You oughtn’t to have come at all.


Note that the contracted negative forms of can and will are can’t and won’t and the uncontracted negative of can is cannot. The corresponding forms of shall are shall not and shan’t.

	He will be late. 

I can come early. 

I shall come early.
	He will not be late. 

I cannot come early. 

I shall not come early
	He’ll not be late. 

He won’t be late. 

I can’t come early. 

I shan’t come early.


Only the full negative form is possible for the first person singular of the verb to be in declarative sentences, I'т not late, the form ain’t being used only in dialects and uneducated forms of English. However, the verb contraction I'т is possible.

If the predicate verb is in the present or past indefinite, the auxiliary do is used with not to form the negative.

	I like that idea. 

He understands you well.
	I do not like that idea. 

He does not understand you at all.
	I don’t like that idea. 

He doesn’t understand you at all.


As a rule, a sentence can contain only one negator. Not is usually , attached to the predicate verb, and other negative words are unnecessary in the sentence, unlike similar cases in Russian.

	I don’t know anything about it. (one negator) 

I didn’t say anything to anybody. (one negator)
	Я ничего не знала об этом. (two negators) 

Я никому ничего не сказала. (three negators)


In negative questions the place of the negator not depends on whether it is contracted or uncontracted. The contracted form n’t is not separated from the auxiliary or modal verb, whereas the uncontracted not comes after the subject. The latter is more formal.

	Don’t you see? 

Can’t you come with me? 

Haven’t you finished your letter?
	Do you not see? 

Can you not come with me? 

Have you not finished your letter?


Negative questions are often used as

a) exclamations.

Isn’t it funny! (= It is very funny!) 

Aren’t* I tired! (= I am very tired)

* This is the first-person form of the verb to be in negative questions in British English.

b) invitations.

Won’t you come in and have a cup of tea?

In answer to negative questions yes and no are used according to the facts and not according to the form of the question.

Haven’t you seen the film? - Yes (I have seen it). Or: No (I haven’t seen it).

Isn’t it raining? - Yes (it is raining). Or: No (it isn’t raining).

Compare with the Russian:

	Дождь не идет?
	- Нет, идет. 

- Да, не идет.


In imperative sentences not follows the do-auxiliary.

Do not speak so loudly. 

Don’t worry.

The same is used for the negative imperative with the verb to be.

Don’t be so rude. 

Don’t be lazy.

§ 25. Not can be attached to other parts of the sentence, not only the predicate verb. In this case it comes before the word or phrase it negates.

It’s here, not upstairs.

It’s a tiger, not a cat.

The operation was quick, but not carefully planned.

The question is important and not easy to answer.

Negative infinitives are made by putting not or never before the infinitive (and before the paricle to if there is one). Negative ing-forms are made in the same way.

It was impossible not to invite the Butlers.

He left never to return.

He was desperate at not having seen her.

§ 26. In short answers or orders with the verbs of mental activity think, believe, hope, suppose, be afraid and after the conjunction if the negator not may replace the sentence or clause it negates.

Will it rain today? - I hope not.

Can you come today? – I’m afraid not.

Drop that gun! If not, you’ll be sorry.

§ 27. After the verbs of mental activity think, believe, suppose and imagine the negation which belongs to the object clause is transferred to the principal clause. This is called  transferred negation.

I don’t think you've heard about it (= I think you haven’t heard about it).

I don’t believe he has come (= I believe he hasn’t come).

I don’t suppose any one will learn about it (= I suppose no one will learn about it).

Compare with the Russian:

I don’t think you are right. - Думаю, что вы не правы.

§ 28. Besides not there are other words that can serve as negators and make the sentence negative. They are: no, nobody, nothing, nowhere, none (of) no one, and also neither (of), never and the conjunction neither... nor.

No sensible man would say that.

Nobody knows about it.

None of the applicants were German.

He has nothing to say.

He was nowhere to be found.

He never gets up early.

Neither of the statements is true.

I saw neither you nor your wife.

No is a determiner and is used with a noun when it has no other determiner (neither an article nor a possessive or demonstrative pronoun).

No is the usual negator with a noun subject after there is/are, and with a noun object after the predicate verb have.

There are no letters in the letter-box today. 

I have no relatives in this city.

No can add emphasis to the sentence, implying the opposite of what is expressed by the word that follows.

He is no fool (= He is a clever man).

He showed no great skill (= He showed very little skill).

He had no small part in its success! (= He had a large part...)

This is no unimportant question (== It is really an important question).

She is no teacher (= She is a bad teacher).

In the same way never may add emphasis to the sentence and is often used in colloquial speech.

That will never do.

I should never have believed it.

Why did you sign those documents? - But I never did. (Я ничего не подписывал.)

Surely you never told him about it! (Ты не мог ему это сказать!)

If there is an article or a possessive or demonstrative pronoun before the noun, none of or neither of is used with the same meaning as no (see the above examples).

Neither of the books is of any use to me. 

I want none of these things.

None can be used without a noun as a noun substitute.

You have money, but I have none. 

Bad advice is worse than none at all.

§ 29. Besides negators there are other words that make a sentence negative in meaning. They are:

seldom, rarely... (= not often);

hardly, scarcely, barely... (= almost... not, hardly ever, scarcely ever).

As they also make the whole sentence negative they have the same effect on the sentence as other negators, that is exclude other negators.

a) The pronoun some and its derivatives are changed to any or its derivatives.

The rain continued with scarcely any pause. 

He hardly thinks of anything else.

b) The adverbs sometimes and already are changed to ever and yet respectively.

Mrs. Greene hardly ever plays tennis now.

c) They are generally followed by positive, not negative, tag question. 

She scarcely seems to care, does she?

Little and few have the same effect on sentences.

There’s little point in doing anything about it, is there?

§ 30. Double negatives are sometimes possible in standard English, but only if both negative words have their full meaning and this serves for the sake of emphasis.

You’ve no reason not to trust me.

Do you think Julius will try to see you? - No, he won’t. But he won’t try not to either.

She wouldn’t like to live in a place not so nice.

John hadn’t been a crime reporter for nothing.

Not only would he do nothing to advance them; he impeded them.

It’s not only not important, it’s not a fact.

In standard English double negatives, rare as they are, may neutralize each other and then the ultimate meaning of the sentence is positive.

You’ve no reason not to trust me (= You must trust me). 

I just couldn’t do nothing (= I had to do something).

By removing one of the negators the sentence is made negative in meaning.

I just could do nothing.

PARTS OF THE SENTENCE

§ 31. Almost every sentence can be divided into certain components which are called parts of the sentence. Parts of the sentence are usually classified into main and secondary. The main parts of the sentence are the subject and the prediсate. They constitute the backbone of the sentence. The secondary parts of the sentence are the object, the attribute, the apposition and the adverbial modifier. The secondary parts of the sentence modify the main parts or each other.

Besides these two kinds of sentence components there are so-called independent elements, that is, elements standing outside the structure of the sentence, and therefore of lesser importance. The independent elements are  parenthesis and  direct address.

Ways of expressing parts of the sentence

§ 32. Any part of the sentence may be expressed in four ways, that is, by a single word-form or a word-form preceded by a formal word, by a phrase, by a predicative complex, or by a clause. The only exception is the verbal predicate which can be neither a predicative complex nor a clause.

Word-forms

§ 33. A word-form is any form of the grammatical paradigm of the word. Girl, girls, girl’s, girls'; to write, writes, wrote, is writing, has been written, will have been writing, etc.; pale, paler; brilliant, more brilliant, most brilliant are all word-forms.                       

As seen from the above a word-form may contain either one component or more than one. One-component word-forms are various synthetic forms of the word, while multi-component word-forms are analytical forms of the word which are composed of оne or more auxiliary components and one notional component. The auxiliary components may be verbs (be, have, do, shall, will), adverbs (more, most), particles (to).

Note:

In grammar we usually deal with word-forms, not words, though it is customary to make use of the term    

     “word” in the sense of “word-form” as well. So in the following chapters both these terms will be used in 

     the sense of “word-form”, “word-form” being more exact, “word” having the advantage of being shorter.

Phrases

§ 34. A phrase is a group of two or more notional words functioning as a whole. Besides notional words a phrase may contain one or more formal words. Compare: to see her - to look at her.

Depending on the relation between its components, phrases may be divided into two kinds: phrases which are divisible both syntactically and semantically, and phrases which are indivisible either syntactically or semantically, or both.

Phrases which are divisible both syntactically and semantically

§ 35. Phrases of this kind contain a headword and one or more word-forms dependent on it. Here the following kinds of phrases may be distinguished: nominal, verbal, adjectival, adverbial and statival phrases.

1. In nominal phrases the headword is a noun, a noun-pronoun, or a numeral modified by one or more word-forms. The latter are mostly adjectives, nouns, or pronouns with prepositions, although they may be participles or infinitives. They may have dependent words of their own: a new way, a very good friend, a recently built house, the years to come, etc.; something curious, anything so unexpected, everybody staying here, all of them, nothing to say; tire first of May, the second to enter, etc. Their relation to the headword is attributive. Phrases of this kind function as nouns treated separately.

	The man sat on the sofa. 

(subject and adverbial modifier expressed by nouns)
	The old man was sitting in a big armchair. 

(subject and adverbial modifier expressed by nominal phrases) 


2. In verbal phrases the headword is a verbal which has one or more word-forms dependent on it. The latter are mostly nouns, noun-pronouns, or adverbs, each of which may have its own dependent words: to know him, to see her again, going home in the evening, speaking a foreign language. In all these phrases syntactical relations between the headwords and dependent words are either objective (him, her, a language) or adverbial (again, home, in the evening). Phrases of this kind function according to the nature of their headwords, that is, in the same way as their headwords do when used separately.

	To see is to believe. 

(subject expressed by an infinitive)
	To see you here is a real pleasure. 

(subject expressed by an infinitive phrase)

	Do you like swimming? 

(object expressed by a gerund)
	I hate swimming in cold water. 

(object expressed by a gerundial phrase)


3. In adjective phrases the headword is an adjective which has some words dependent on it. They are usually adverbs or nouns with a preposition, or an infinitive. These may have dependent words of their own: quite true, too big, wonderfully clever, kind enough, absent from classes, true to his word, unable to say a word, etc. Their relation to the headword is either adverbial (where the dependent word is an adverb) or objective (where the dependent word is a noun with a preposition or an infinitive). Such phrases perform the same functions as adjectives used alone.

	She has a kind heart. 

(attribute expressed by an adjective)


	It was a very dark night. 

(attribute expressed by an adjective phrase)

	Are you angry? (predicative expressed by an adjective)
	Are you quite ready?

(predicative expressed by an adjective phrase)


4. In adverbial phrases the headword is an adverb modified by some other adverb or (very seldom) by a noun/pronoun with a preposition: very happily, rather well, heartily enough, fortunately for the boy, etc. Their relation to the headword is either adverbial (in this case the modifying word is an adverb) or objective (in this case it is a noun with a preposition). Such phrases function like separate adverbs.

	She thanked him warmly. 

(adverbial modifier expressed by an adverb)
	He set to work heartily enough. 

(adverbial modifier expressed by an adverbial phrase)


5. Instatival phrases where the headword is a stative modified either by a noun with a preposition, or by an adverb, or by an infinitive, each of which may have dependent words of its own: aware of the danger, afraid of cold water, so deeply asleep, quite alone, afraid to go home, ashamed to tell her about it, etc. Their relation to the headword is either adverbial (the dependent word is an adverb) or objective (in this case it is a noun with a preposition or an infinitive). Such phrases function as the corresponding statives do when used separately.

	The whole land was aflame. 

(predicative expressed by a stative)
	The sky above them seemed afire with stars.

(predicative expressed by a statival phrase)


As is seen from the above, the relations between the headword and dependent words within these phrases (1-5) may be of three kinds: attributive, objective, or adverbial.

Phrases which are indivisible either syntactically or semantically or both

§ 36. Phrases of this kind contain two or more notional word-forms used together to designate a person or a non-person, an action or a quality. Syntactical relations between their components are not always explicit, and so they are not analysed separately.

Here belong:

1.Groups of words that name one thing or one unit.

Will you allow me another half an hour? 

Here is your needle and thread.

2. Groups of words denoting an indefinite number or amount of things.

A lot of unpleasant things have been said.

3. Groups of words denoting arithmetical calculations.

Two plus two is four.

Ten by three equals thirty.

Four from nine leaves five.

4. Groups of words consisting of two or more proper names belonging to one person.

George Gordon Byron was born in 1788.

5. Groups of words which form one geographical name.

New York is the largest city in the United States of America.

6. Groups of words containing a proper name and a noun denoting an occupation, a title, a rank, a relatioship, or naming a species of animal.

How do you do, Doctor Brown?

Mrs. Poppets brought the tray in.

The boy looked up at Colonel Julian.

He always reminds me of my Uncle Podger.

The dog Charlie was full of importance.

Note:

However these groups of words allow of another interpretation: the first word may be treated as a non-  

detached apposition. See § 92.

7. Groups of words containing a verb and a noun denoting an action.

She looked at him and gave a sigh. 

Please, don’t make trouble.

8. Adverbial groups of words.

He came two minutes ago. 

A week later she began to recover.

Phrases of this kind (1-8) function in the sentence in accordance with their nominal, verbal or adverbial nature as one whole. (See the examples above.)

Predicative complexes

§ 37. Predicative complexes differ from phrases in that they have two words with predicative relation between the nominal and the verbal parts of the phrase. These words in their turn may have one or more words dependent on them. Though the predicative relation within a complex is grammatically only implicit, its presence makes it possible to turn any predicative complex into a clause, which cannot be done to a phrase.

I saw him run ——> I saw that he was running. 

He still found life interesting ——> He still found that life was interesting.

Predicative complexes are dealt with in full in § 124-132.

Clauses

§ 38. Clauses, like predicative complexes, contain two words connected predicatively, but unlike predicative complexes the predicative relation in clauses is expressed explicitly in the grammatical forms of the subject and the predicate.

I don’t know what you mean. 

She came when nobody was in.

Levels of syntactical analysis

§ 39. Within the sentence we usually distinguish two syntactical levels of analysis, one belonging to the sentence proper, which is called the sentence level, and one belonging to various phrases treated as a whole and functioning in the sentence with the same force as separate words. This level is called the phrase level.

The subject and the predicate belong to the sentence level only. The object, the adverbial modifier, the attribute, and the apposition may belong either to the sentence level or to the phrase level.

He did not tell me anything about it. (Me, anything, about it are objects to the verb-predicate - the 

sentence level.)

You are unhappy about something, aren’t you? (About something is an object to the predicative unhappy, 

which is part of the predicate - the sentence level.)

He will come tomorrow. (Tomorrow is an adverbial modifier to the verb-predicate - the sentence level.)

You seem very tired. (Very is an adverbial modifier to the adjective tired, which is part of the predicate – 

the sentence level.)

Poor Amy could not answer. (Poor is an attribute to the noun, which is the subject - the sentence level.)

In other cases objects, adverbial modifiers, attributes and appositions are included in various phrases within which they are not usually treated separately, the whole phrase functioning as part of the sentence on the sentence level.

He insisted on going by train. (On going by train is an object to the verb-predicate - the sentence level; 

within the phrase on going by train we distinguish an adverbial modifier by train referring to the word-

form going - the phrase level.)

When analysing a sentence we deal mainly with the sentence level only, unless it is necessary for some reason to state the syntactical relations between the words within a phrase.

The subject                      

§ 40. Every English sentence but the one-member and the imperative one must have a subject. The subject is one of the two main parts of the, sentence. The most important feature of the subject in English is that in declarative sentences it normally comes immediately before the predicate, whereas in questions its position is  immediately after an operator. It means that in English sentences any word or words which occur in these positions are to be treated as the subject of the sentence.                                                 

The subject determines the form of the verbal part of the predicate as regards its number and person.

Ways of expressing the subject

§ 41. The subject is expressed by:

1. A noun in the common case (including substantivized adjectives and participles) or a nominal phrase with a noun.

The fog is thinning.

Science is not omnipotent.

The blue of the sky deepened visibly.

The dying must be left in peace.

From Marlow up to Sonning is even fairer yet.

Four and three is seven.

A great number of frees were felled.

Occasionally a noun in the genitive case is the subject. This may be if a noun denotes someone’s place of business or residence, as in:

The grocer’s was full.

It may be the result of ellipsis as in:

Jim’s was a narrow escape. (= Jim’s escape was a narrow one.)

The latter type of subject is rather emphatic.

2. A personal pronoun in the nominative case.

I shall do the best I can. 

She is very beautiful.

3. Any other noun-pronoun.

Nothing can be done about it. 

This is the last straw. 

Hers was the final judgement. 

One learns by experience. 

Who told you this?

4. A numeral (either cardinal or ordinal) or a nominal phrase with a 

  numeral.            

Seven cannot be divided by two. 

Two of them were left in the camp. 

The third was a young man with a dog.

5. An infinitive or an infinitive phrase.

To understand is to forgive. 

To deny the past is to deny the future.

6. A gerund or a gerundial phrase.

Talking mends no holes. 

Working for someone keeps a woman calm and contented.

7. An infinitive or a gerundial predicative complex.

For her to fall asleep in broad daylight was not at all usual.

His walking out of the room in the very middle of the argument was quite unexpected.

8. Any word or words used as quotations.

“And” is a conjunction.

The “how” and the “why” of things never seems to occur to children.

His “How do you do” never sounds cordial enough.

“The War of the Worlds” was first published in 1898.

9. A clause (then called a subject clause), which makes the whole 

  sentence a complex one.

What girls of her sort want is just a wedding ring. 

This kind of subject is treated in full in § 147-148.

Grammatical classification of the subject

§ 42. From the point of view of its grammatical value the subject may be either notional or formal.                

The  notional subject denotes or (if expressed by a pronoun) points out a person or a non-person.

The  formal subject neither denotes nor points out any person or non-person and is only a structural element of the sentence filling the position of the subject. Thus a formal subject functions only as a position-filler. In English there are two such position-fillers: it and there.

The notional subject

§ 43. The notional subject denotes or points out a person or non-person, that is, various kinds of concrete things, substances, abstract no​tions or happening.

Persons:

The policeman stepped back. 

The audience cheered wildly. 

I know all about it. 

Whoever said that was wrong.

Non-persons, including animals, whose name may be substituted by if or they.

A house was ready there for the new doctor. It stood on a hill.

These beasts are found only on four southern islets.

Building houses becomes more difficult.

To be a friend takes time.

Whatever he said is of no importance.

Look at the cat. It is very small.

The formal subject

The formal subject it

§ 44. The formal subject expressed by it is found in two patterns of sentences: those with  impersonal it and those with  introductory it.

1. The formal subject it is  impersonal when it is used in sentences describing various states of nature, things in general, characteristics of the environment, or denoting time, distance, other measurements.

It’s spring. - Весна.

It’s cold today. - Сегодня холодно. 

It’s freezing. - Морозит.

It’s still too hot to start. - Еще слишком жарко, чтобы отправ​ляться в путь.

It seems that he was frank. - Кажется, он был откровенен. 

It turned out that she was deaf. - Оказалось, что она глухая.

Sentences with impersonal it are usually rendered in Russian by means of impersonal (subjectless) sentences.

2. The formal subject it is  introductory (anticipatory) if it introduces the notional subject expressed by an infinitive, a gerund, an infinitive/gerundial phrase, a predicative complex, or a clause. The sentence thus contains two subjects: the formal (introductory) subject it and the notional subject, which follows the predicate.

It’s impossible to deny this.

It thrilled her to be invited there.

It gave him a pain in the head to walk.

It was no good coming there again.

It would be wonderful for you to stay with us.

It was lucky that she agreed to undertake the job.

It did not occur to her that the idea was his.

Sentences with introductory it can be transformed into sentences with the notional subject in its usual position before the predicate.

It was impossible to deny this ——> To deny this was impossible.

The difference between the two structural types lies in that the pattern with the introductory subject accentuates the idea expressed by the notional subject, whereas the pattern without it accentuates the idea expressed in the predicate.

Sentences with introductory it must be distinguished from certain pat​terns of sentences with impersonal it:

a) sentences with the predicate expressed by the verbs to seem, to appear, to happen, to turn out followed by a clause, as in It seemed that he didn’t know the place.     

In these sentences describing a certain state of affairs it is impersonal, not introductory and the clause is a predicative one. So it cannot fill the position of the subject:

It seemed that he did not know the place —/—> That he did not know the place seemed. (Transformation is impossible)

b) sentences with predicative adjectives preceded by too and followed by an infinitive as in It was too late to start.

Here it is used in sentences describing time, etc. and is therefore impersonal. The infinitive is an adverbial of consequence, not the subject, and so cannot be placed before the predicate:

It was too late to start —/—> To start was too late.

c) sentences with the predicative expressed by the noun time followed by an infinitive, as in It was high time to take their departure.

In such sentences it is also impersonal, the infinitives being attributes to the noun time. These sentences cannot therefore undergo the transforma​tion which is possible in the case of sentences with introductory it:

It was time to take their departure ―/→ To take their departure was time.

Thus, the subject it may be personal, impersonal, and introductory. In the latter two cases it is formal, (see the scheme after § 45).

The formal subject there

§ 45. Sentences with a notional subject introduced by there express the existence or coming into existence of a person or non-person denoted by the subject. Such sentences may be called existential sentences or sentences of presentation. They are employed where the subject presents some new idea or the most important piece of information.

The notional subject introduced by there is expressed:

1. By any noun or by a noun phrase denoting an inseparable unit or an indefinite amount of something.

There, was silence for a moment.

There was a needle and thread in her fingers.

There were a lot of people in the street.

As the notional subject usually introduces a new idea, the noun expressing it is generally used with the indefinite article.

2. By some noun-pronouns:

a) indefinite.

Is there anybody there? 

There was something wrong about the whole situation.

b) negative.

There was nobody in. 

There was nothing to do.

c) universal (only some of them).

There were all of them on the bank. 

There were both of them present.

The pronouns of these three classes are the most frequent in existential sentences. The ones that follow are very seldom used:

d) detaching.

There was the other to be asked.

e) demonstrative.

There is this which is to be settled.

3. By a gerund or a gerundial phrase.

There was no talking that evening. 

There’s no going against bad blood.

4. By a clause.

First, there is what we might call a pattern.

The predicate in such sentences is generally a simple verbal predicate expressed by the verbs to be, to appear, to live, to come, to go, or some other similar verbs.

At last far off there appeared a tiny spot. 

Once upon a time there lived a king. 

Then there came a lightning.

Occasionally the predicate may be a compound verbal modal predicate or a predicate of double orientation. In both cases their second parts are expressed by the verb to be, or one of the others mentioned above.

a) There must be something wrong with him. 

There may come a time when you’ll regret this.

b) There seemed to be only two people in the room.

There did not appear to be anything of importance in what he said. 

There are said to be those who are “unfit for living”.

Negative sentences with introductory there are formed in the usual way for the verbs which are their predicates, that is, by means of appropriate auxiliaries for all the verbs but to be. In the latter case two negative constructions are possible:

a) either with the negative pronoun no, as in:

There was no sign of him in the hall. 

There is no knowing when he will come.

b) or with the negation not, often followed by the indefinite pronoun any, or without it, as in:

There weren’t (were not) any flowers on the balconies. 

There isn’t a cloud in the sky.

The sentence is also negative if the subject itself is a negative pronoun:

There was nobody in. 

There was nothing to say.
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The predicate

§ 46. The predicate is the second main part of the sentence and its organizing centre, as the object and nearly all adverbial modifiers are connected with, and dependent on, it.

The predicate may be considered from the semantic or from the structural point of view. Structurally the predicate in English expressed by a finite verb agrees with the subject in number and person. The only exception to this rule is a compound modal and a simple nominal predicate, the latter having no verb form at all (see § 49).

According to the meaning of its components, the predicate may denote an action, a state, a quality, or an attitude to some action or state ascribed to the subject. These different meanings find their expression in the structure of the predicate and the lexical meaning of its constituents.

Structural classification of the predicate

§ 47. From the structural point of view there are two main types of predicate: the simple predicate and the compound predicate. Both these types may be either nominal or verbal, which gives four sub-groups: simple verbal, simple nominal, compound verbal, compound nominal. Compound verbal predicates may be further classified into phasal, modal and of double orientation Compound nominal predicates may be classified into nominal proper and double nominal.

[image: image2.png]Structural t&pes of predicate

Predfcate

l

Simple Compound
I o |
| | 1
Verbal * Nominal Verbal Nominal

Phasal Modal Of double Proper Double
orientation





The simple predicate 

The simple verbal predicate

§ 48. The simple verbal predicate is expressed by:

1. A verb in a synthetic or analytical form.

John runs quickly.

I was sent in to get my tea.

Perhaps you will even remember that woman.

When did life begin on earth?

I didn’t care about the consequence.

Don’t come too late.

2. A verb phrase (a phraseological equivalent of a verb denoting one action).

Here belong:

a) Phrases denoting single actions:

to have a look, to have a smoke, to have a talk, to give a look, to give a laugh, to give a cry, to take a 

look, to make a move, to make a remark, to pay a visit, etc.

They comprise a transitive verb and a deverbal noun with the indefinite article.

Nurse Sharp gave him a look and walked out.

The man gave a violent start.

Did you have a sleep?

It’s time we were making a move.

b) Phrases denoting various kinds of actions. In most cases they comprise an abstract noun used with no 

    article but often preceded by an attribute:

to change one's mind, to get rid (of), to get hold (of), to lose sight (of), to make fun (of), to make up 

one's mind, to make use (of), to take care (of), to take leave (of), to take part (in), etc.

I have never taken much interest in German songs.

She paid little heed to what was going on in the world outside.

Are you taking part in the concert?

The simple nominal predicate

§ 49. The simple nominal predicate is expressed by a noun, or an adjective, or a verbal, ft does not contain a link verb, as it shows the incompatibility of the idea expressed by the subject and that expressed by the predicate; thus in the meaning of the simple nominal predicate there is an implied negation.

	He a gentleman! 

You a bother! Never. 

Fred, a priest! 

Rondal, jealous! 

Nick, dishonest! 

Such an old lady to come so far!
	Ну какой же он джентльмен! 

Ты - зануда! Ну, что ты! 

Чтобы Фред был священником! 

Рондел - ревнует! (Быть того не может!) 

Ник - нечестный! Не может быть! 

Чтобы такая пожилая дама пришла издалека!


Sentences with the simple nominal predicate are always exclamatory evidently owing to the implication of a negation or of an evaluation.

The predicate is mostly commad off (separated by a comma), but a comma is not regarded as a strict rule.

These predicates are used in colloquial English, although not fre​quently.

The simple nominal predicate can be expressed by:

1. A noun.

My son a clergyman! 

She, a nun! 

Me, a liar!

2. An adjective.

My ideas obsolete! 

Ronnie, good-looking! 

You sad!

3. An infinitive or an infinitive phrase.

Hercule Poirot to sleep while murder is committed! 

My boy insult a gentleman at my table!

4. Participle I or a participial phrase.

She spying! 

Me trying to be funny!

The compound predicate

§ 50. The compound predicate consists of two parts: the notional and the structural. The structural part comes first and is followed by the notional part.

The notional part may be expressed by a noun, an adjective, a stative, an adverb, a verbal, a phrase, a predicative complex, or a clause.

The structural part is expressed by a finite verb - a phasal verb, a modal verb, a verb expressing attitude, intention, planning, etc., or a link verb.                                 

From the point of view of meaning the most important part of the compound predicate is the notional part as it contains the information about the person or non-person expressed by the subject.

From the point of view of structure the most important part of the predicate is the first one, since it is expressed by a finite verb and carries grammatical information about the person, number, tense, voice, modal, attitudinal and aspective (phasal) meaning of the whole predicate.

The compound verbal predicate

The compound verbal phasal predicate

§ 51. The compound verbal phasal predicate denotes the beginning, duration, repetition or cessation of the action expressed by an infinitive or a gerund. It consists of a phasal verb and an infinitive or a gerund, Accordingly its first component may be a phasal verb of:

1.Beginning:

to begin, to start, to commence, to set about, to take to, to fall to, to come.

Andrew and he began to talk about the famous clinic.

Jack started training out at Hogan’s health farm.

So I took to going to the farm.

He fell to poking the fire with all his might.

I come to think that you are right.

2. Duration:

to go on, to keep, to proceed, to continue.

The talk kept running on the possibility of a storm. 

As we continued to laugh his surprise gave way to annoyance.

3. Repetition:

would, used (denoting a repeated action in the past).

Alfredo used to talk to me about it.

During her small leisure hours she would sit by the window or walk in the fields.

4. Cessation:

to stop, to finish, to cease, to give up, to leave off.

The band had ceased playing. 

Give up smoking.

Note the difference in the functions of the gerund and the infinitive after the verb to stop:

She stopped talking to him. (part of a compound verbal phasal predicate) - Она перестала с ним 

говорить.

She stopped to talk to him. (an adverbial modifier of purpose) - Она остановилась, чтобы поговорить с 

ним.)

The compound verbal modal predicate

§ 52. The compound verbal modal predicate consists of a modal part and an infinitive (or a gerund). It shows whether the action expressed by an infinitive is looked upon as possible, impossible, obligatory, necessary, desirable, planned, certain, permissible, etc. In most cases it denotes the attitude to the action of the person expressed by the subject or by the speaker.

The modal part may be expressed by:

1. A modal verb.

You must forget it.

He can’t say a word, he can’t even apologize.

I had to bite my lip to prevent myself from laughing.

Ought he not to treat her generously?

May I ask you a question?

2. A modal expression of nominal nature:

to be able, to be allowed, to be willing, to be going, to be anxious, etc.

You are going to attend the college at Harvard, they tell me. 

Are you able to walk another two miles? 

We were anxious to cooperate.

The modal part may have two modal verbs or a modal verb and a modal expression.

He may have to return. 

She must be willing to come here again.

З. Аn  attitudinal verb such as to like, to hate, to attempt, to expect, to hope, to intend, to mean, to plan, to try, to have a mind, to wish, to want followed by an infinitive denote the attitude of the person expressed by the subject to the action denoted by the infinitive.

The predicate of this type may be called  a compound verbal attitudinal predicate.

He hoped to see them the next day. 

I mean to find out the truth.

The compound verbal predicate 

of double orientation

§ 53. The compound verbal predicate of double orientation consists of two parts. The first part is a finite verb which denotes the attitude to, evaluation of, or comment on, the content of the sentence expressed by the speaker or somebody not mentioned in the sentence. The second part denotes the action which is (was/will be) performed by the person/non-person expressed by the subject.

The Gadfly seemed to have taken a dislike to her ———>It seemed (to the people) that the Gadfly had 

taken a dislike to her.

Philip Bosinney was known to be a young man without fortune ———> They knew that Philip Bosinney 

was a young man without fortune.

He is said to be looking for a new job. (Говорят, что он ищет новую работу)

The plane is reported to have been lost. (Сообщают, что самолет пропал)

In this case we see different orientation of the actions which are regarded from two points of view: that of the speaker and that of the person (or non-person) expressed by the subject. .

In a number of cases semantically this type of predicate has much in common with the compound verbal modal predicate, as in: You can’t have misunderstood me, but formally these predicates are different, because in the compound verbal modal predicate the first component is a modal verb, whereas in the compound predicate of double orientation it is a verb or phrase expressing attitude, evaluation, or comment. They belong to one of the following verb groups:

1. Intransitive verbs of seeming or happening with the general meaning of evaluation in the active voice:

to seem, to appear, to prove, to turn out, to happen, to chance.

He seemed to understand everything I said. 

Money just doesn’t happen to interest me. 

No one appears to have noticed his escape.

2. Some verbs in the passive voice:

a) Verbs of saying:

to say, to declare, to state, to report, to rumour.

This country is said to be rich in oil. 

The rocket is reported to have started its night at 6.30.

b) Verbs of mental activity:

to believe, to consider, to expect, to find, to know, to mean, to presume, to regard, to suppose, to think, 

to understand.

Mr. Sharp was always expected to say he preferred cold meat. 

He has never been known to lose his temper before.

c) Verbs of perception:

to feel, to hear, to see, to watch.

My dog was heard to bark in the yard. 

The lady was seen to leave the house.

3. Phrases with some modal meaning:

to be (un) likely, to be sure, to be certain.

The adjectives likely, unlikely, sure and certain indicate the speaker's attitude to the future:

The weather is not likely to change.

This event is certain to produce a sensation.

If you don’t post the letter at once, it is unlikely to arrive in time.

George is sure to see Mary. (Sure indicates the attitude of the speaker, it is the speaker rather than George 

who is sure)

The compound nominal predicate

The compound nominal predicate proper

§ 54. The compound nominal predicate consists of a link verb and a predicative (nominal part). The link verb is the structural element of the predicate, as it joins the subject and the predicative. It expresses the grammatical categories of person, number, tense, aspect and mood.

The predicative is the notional part of the compound nominal predicate. It characterizes the person or non-person expressed by the subject. The characterization may concern the following:

1. The properties of the person or non-person (the state or quality or quantity of it).

The girl looked tired but pretty. 

I felt sore for a minute. 

But he is not always alone. 

The visibility seemed very good. 

He was forty and in his prime. 

We are seven.

2. The identity of the person or non-person, that is, what class of persons or things they belong to.

This man is my father.

Old Mr Clare was a clergyman.

Miss Sedley’s papa was a man of some wealth.

My wish is to learn many languages.

§ 55. Among the class of link verbs we may distinguish:

1. Those which have lost their original lexical meaning (to be, to get).

He is just the kind of man I want. 

Elisabeth got very restless.

2. Those which have only partly lost their lexical meaning (to remain, to become, to grow, to turn, to look, to seem).

That request seemed superfluous. 

The room looked snug and cheerful. 

Ellen’s eyes grew moist.

In both cases (1,2) the link verbs proper are used.

3. Those which have fully preserved their lexical meaning but still serve as link verbs followed by a predicative. They are used in the passive voice: to elect, to call, to leave, to keep, to make.

The boy was called John.

She was left alone.

He was elected president.

According to their semantic characteristics link verbs fall into three groups: link verbs of being, of becoming, of remaining.

l. Link verbs of being:

to be, to feel, to sound, to smell, to taste, to look, to appear, to seem, etc.

Of these only the verb to be is a pure link verb of being, as the others may have some additional meaning (see examples below).

When he was seven, starting school had been a nightmare and a torture to him.

His face looked awful all the time.

I felt better pleased than ever.

His voice sounded cold and hostile.

He seemed bewildered.

Everything appeared very grand and imposing to me.

Note how the link verbs to taste and to feel are translated into Russian:

Lemons taste sour. - Лимоны кислые на вкус. 

The fur feels soft. - Мех мягкий на ощупь.

2. Link verbs of becoming:

to become, to grow, to turn, to get, to make.

The noise of the rattling dishes becomes intolerable. 

The Elephant’s Child’s nose grew longer and longer. 

The girl’s face suddenly turned red. 

The girl will make a good teacher.

3. Link verbs of remaining:

to remain, to continue, to keep, to stay.

She remained vexed with him. 

The children kept suspiciously silent.

Ways of expressing the predicative

§ 56. The predicative can be expressed by:

1. A noun in the common case or in the genitive case.

Miss Sedly’s father was a merchant. 

The face was Victoria's.

2. An adjective or an adjective phrase.

Ellen’s eyes grew angry.

She was full of enthusiasm.

The man was difficult to convince,

Note:

It should be remembered that in some cases a predicative adjective in English corresponds to an adverbial modifier expressed by an adverb in Russian.

The apples smell good. 

Яблоки хорошо пахнут.

The music sounded beautiful. 

Музыка звучала прекрасно.

She     looks     bad   - Она плохо         выглядит
           feels                                             чувствует себя
In English the verbs to smell, to sound, to look, to feel are link verbs and are the first part of the compound nominal predicate. The predicatives (which form the second part of these predicates) qualify the subject and can therefore be expressed only by adjectives. In Russian the corresponding verbs form simple verbal predicates and are therefore modified by adverbials expressed by an adverb.

3. A pronoun.

It was he.

It’s me. (There is a growing tendency to use personal pronouns as predicatives in the objective case.)

She is somebody.

The hat is mine. (In this function only the absolute form of the possessive pronoun is used.)

Who are you?

She was not herself yet.

4. A numeral.

He was sixty last year. 

I’m the first.

5. An infinitive (or an infinitive phrase or construction).

His first thought was to run away.

My idea is to go there myself.

The only thing to do is for you to whip him.

6. A gerund (or a gerundial phrase or construction).

My hobby is dancing and his is collecting stamps. 

The main problem was his being away at the moment.

7. A participle or a participial phrase. 

The subject seemed strangely chosen.

Participle I seldom occurs in this function unless it has become an adjective.

That sounded quite distressing.

8. A prepositional phrase. 

She is on our side,

9. A stative.

I was wide awake by this time. .

10. An indivisible group of words. 

It is nine o’clock already.

11. A clause.

That’s what has happened.

Semantic characteristics of the predicative

§ 57. The three most typical semantic characteristics of a predicative are: identification, classification and characterisation.

1. An identifying predicative expresses equality between the notion expressed by the predicative and by the subject, or means that they are of the same rank or value. In this case the predicative and the subject are positionally interchangeable. Such predicatives are expressed by a noun with the definite article.                                  

London is the capital of Britain. = The capital of Britain is London. 

Mount Everest is the highest mountain in the world. = The highest mountain in the world is Mount 

Everest.

2. A classifying predicative names a class of persons or non-persons to which that denoted by the subject belongs. The predicative in this case is expressed by a noun with the indefinite article.

John is a student.

My father is a teacher.

This is a book.

3. A characterizing predicative denotes a state or quality of a person or non-person and is expressed by an adjective or a stative.

The room is dark. 

The sky was blue. 

The patient fell asleep. 

The house was aflame.

A characterizing predicative may also be a noun which in this case has no article.

He turned traitor. 

He was elected president.

The compound nominal double predicate

§ 58. The compound nominal double predicate combines, as its name suggests, the features of two different types of predicate. It has the features of the simple verbal predicate and those of the compound nominal predicate. It consists of two parts, both of which are notional. The first one is verbal and is expressed by a notional verb denoting an action or process performed by the person/non-person expressed by the subject. From this point of view it resembles the simple verbal predicate. But at the same time the verbal part of this predicate performs a linking function, as it links its second part (which is a predicative) to the subject.

The second part of the compound nominal double predicate is expressed by a noun or an adjective which denotes the properties of the subject in the same way as the predicative of the compound nominal predicate proper does. 

The moon was shining cold and bright. 

The predicate here denotes two separate notions:

1) The moon was shining, and at the same time

2) The moon was cold and bright.

There are a number of verbs that often occur in this type of predicate, performing the double function of denoting a process and serving as link verbs at the same time. They are: to die, to leave, to lie, to marry, to return, to rise, to sit, to stand, to shine, etc. As in Modern English there is a growing tendency to use this type of predicate, the verbs occurring in it are not limited by any particular lexical class.

My daughter sat silent.

He died a hero.

She married young.

The light came gray and pale.

The men stood silent and motionless,

They met friends and parted enemies.

The moon rose round and yellow.

Mixed types of compound predicate

§ 59. Compound predicates can combine elements of different types. Thus we have:

1. The compound modal verbal nominal predicate.

Jane must feel better pleased than ever. 

She couldn’t be happy. 

He may have been ill then.

2. Тhe compound modal nominal verbal predicate.

Are you able to walk another two miles? 

We were anxious to cooperate.

3. The compound phasal nominal predicate.

He was beginning to look desperate. 

George began to be rather ashamed.

4. The compound modal phasal predicate.

You ought to stop doing that. 

He can’t continue training.

5. The compound nominal predicate of double orientation.

Mrs Bacon is said to be very ill. 

Walter seems to be unhappy.

Agreement of the predicate with the subject

§ 60. The most important type of agreement (concord) in English is that of the subject and the predicate in number and person. Thus a singular noun-subject requires a singular verb-predicate, a plural noun-subject requires a plural verb-predicate.                          

This rule of purely grammatical agreement concerns all present tenses (except modal verbs) and also the past indefinite of the verb to be.

World literature knows many great humorists. 

Great humorists know how to make people laugh.

This rule remains true for:

a) All link verbs irrespective of the number of the predicative noun, as in:                          

Our only guide was the Polar star. 

Our only guide was the stars.

b) The predicate of emphatic constructions with the formal subject it.

It was my friends who suddenly arrived. 

It’s they who are responsible for the delay.

§ 61. The verb-predicate is in the singular if the subject is expressed by:

1. An infinitive phrase or phrases.

To know everything is to know nothing. 

To be loved and to be wanted is always good.

2. A prepositional phrase.

After the meeting is the time to speak.

3. A clause introduced by a conjunction or conjunctive adverb.

Where you found him does not concern me. 

How you got there is beyond my understanding. 

Whether you find him or not does not concern me.

Note:

Subject clauses introduced by conjunctive pronouns what, who may be followed by either a singular or plural verb.

What I want to do is to save us.

What were once precious manuscripts were scattered all over the floor.

What I say and what I think are my own affair.

4. A numerical expression, such as arithmetical addition, subtraction, division.

Four and four is eight. 

Four minus two is two. 

Ten divided by five is two.

Note:

However multiplication admits of two variants. 

    Twice two is/are four.

5. The group many a + noun.

Many a man has done it. 

Ни один человек проделал такое. (Многие...)

6. With there - constructions followed by subjects of different number, the predicate agrees with the subject that stands first. The same holds true for sentences with here.

There was a textbook and many notebooks on the table. 

There were many notebooks and textbook on the table. 

Here was Tom and Peter. 

Here was a man, was experience and culture.

In informal style, however, the singular verb is often used before the subject in the plural if the form of the verb is contracted.

Is there any place in town that might have them? – There’s  two.

Both closed.

There’s too many of them living up there.

There’s two kinds of men here, you’ll find.

7. Plural nouns or phrases when they are used as names, titles, quotations.

“Fathers and Sons” is the most popular of Turgenev’s novels.

Note:

However, the titles of some works which are collections of stories, etc., may have either a singular or a plural verb.

The “Canterbury Tales” consist of about seventeen thousand lines of verse.

Turgenev’s "Hunter’s Tales" was/were published in 1852.

Pronouns as subject

§ 62.

1. Indefinite pronouns (somebody, someone, anybody),

universal pronouns (everybody, everyone, everything, each, either), 

negative pronouns (nobody, no one, neither, etc.) 

take a singular predicate.

Somebody is asking for you.

Nobody has come except me.

Everyone of us is present.

Neither of the students has made a mistake.

Each has answered well.

However, none has a plural verb-predicate.

None were here.

None of us understand it.

None of them have come.

All in the sense of «всё» has a singular verb, while all in the sense of «все» takes a plural verb.

All is well that ends well. 

All that glitters is not gold. 

All were in favour of the plan.

2. Interrogative pronouns who, what take a singular verb-predicate. 

Who has come? What is there?

But if the pronoun denotes more than one person or thing a plural verb-predicate is used.

Who are walking in the garden? 

Who have agreed to act?

3. With relative pronouns the form of the verb depends on the noun or pronoun which is its antecedent.

Do you know the girl who lives next door?

(The girl lives...)

Do you know the girls who live next door?

(The girls live...)

Mary is one of those girls who never know what they will do next.

Even I, who have seen it all, can hardly believe it.

It is you who are right. It is I who am wrong.

But: It’s me who is wrong.

4. The universal pronoun both has a plural verb-predicate. 

Which of the letters are yours? Both are mine.

Conjunctions connecting two or more homogeneous subjects

§ 63. A plural verb-predicate is used in the following cases:

1. With homogeneous subjects connected by and.

Sun and air are necessary for life.

Tom and Mary are my friends.

The ebb and the flow of the tide are regular.

Note:

However, with structures where coordinated nouns refer to one thing or person a singular verb-predicate is used.

     Bread and butter is not enough for breakfast. (one object is meant)

     Bacon and eggs makes a traditional English breakfast. (one dish is meant)

     The painter and decorator is here. (one person is meant)

If the article is repeated, the reference is to two persons or objects, and a plural verb-predicate is used.

     The bread and the butter are on the table. (two separate object are meant)

     The painter and the decorator are here. (two persons are meant)

Likewise, when a singular noun-subject has two attributes characterizing the same person or non-person connected by and it has a singular verb and the article is not repeated.

     A tall and beautiful girl was waiting in the office. 

     A black and white kitten was playing on the hearth rug.

But if the attributes characterize different persons or non-persons the verb is in the plural and the article is repeated.

     A black and a white kitten were playing on the hearth rug. (A black kitten was playing and a white kitten was playing.) 

     The yellow and the red car were badly damaged.

However, the article is repeated before each attribute only with countable nouns. Uncountables have no article.

In modern hotels hot and cold water are supplied in every room.

      American and Dutch beer are both much lighter than British.

     Good and bad taste are shown by examples.

With plural nouns only one article is used.

     The Black and Mediterranean Seas never freeze.

2. With homogeneous subjects connected by both... and.

Both the bread and the butter are fresh. 

Both the teacher and the students have come.

§ 64. With homogeneous subjects connected by the conjunctions not only... hut also, either... or, or, neither... nor the verb-predicate agrees with the nearest noun-subject. (This is the so-called “proximity rule”.)

Either my sister or my parents are at home.

Either my parents or my sister is at home.

Neither you nor I am right.

Neither I nor you are right.

Not only my parents but also my brother knows about it.

Not only my brother but also my parents know about it.

Is Tom or Mary eager to meet you at the station?

§ 65. With homogeneous subjects connected by the conjunctions as well as, rather than, as much as, more than the verb-predicate agrees with the first one.

My parents as well as my sister are teachers.

My sister as well as my parents is a teacher.

The manager as well as/rather than/more than/as much as the members of the board is responsible for the 

present situation.

Notional agreement

§ 66. Notional agreement is to be found in the following cases:

1. In modern English agreement there may be a conflict between form and meaning. It refers first of all to subjects expressed by nouns of multitude (see § 176, II), which may denote plurality being singular in form. In such cases the principle of grammatical agreement is not observed and there appears the so-called notional agreement, when the choice of the number is based on the fact whether the group of beings is considered as one whole or, as a collection of individuals taken separately (as discrete ones).

Thus the nouns of multitude (band, board, crew, committee, crowd, company, clergy, cattle, family, gang, group, guard, gentry, infantry, jury, militia, police, poultry, team) may have both a plural verb-predicate and a singular one depending on what is meant - a single undivided body or a group of separate individuals.

A new government has been formed.

The government have asked me to go, so I am leaving now.

It was now nearly eleven о'clock and the congregation were arriving...

The congregation was small.

How are your family?

Our family has always been a very happy one.

The commanding officer does not know where his cavalry is and his cavalry are not completely sure of 

their situation.

The crowd was enormous.

The crowd were silent.

The police is already informed.

I don’t know what the police are doing.

The cattle is in the mountains.

The cattle have stopped grazing. They know before you hear any sound that planes are approaching.

The jury decides whether the accused is guilty or not.

While the jury were out, some of the public went out for a breath of fresh air.

2. Subjects expressed by nouns denoting measure, weight, time, etc., have a singular verb-predicate when the statement is made about the whole amount, not about the discrete units.

Ten years is a long time. 

Another five minutes goes by. 

A million francs is a lot of money.

3. Notional agreement is also observed with subjects expressed by word-groups including nouns of quantity: a/the number of..., a/the majority of..., (a) part of..., the bulk of..., a variety of... . These admit of either a singular or a plural verb-predicate.

	The number (количество) of pages in this book isn’t large.
	It was Sunday and a number (многие) of people were walking about.

In Elisabeth’s reign the bulk of English vegetable supplies were imported from Holland.


4. Subjects expressed by such invariable plural nouns as goods (товар, товары), contents (содержание, содержимое), riches (богатство, богатства), clothes (одежда), wages (зарплата), eaves (карниз крыши) have a plural verb.

His wages were only 15 shillings a week. 

I asked her what the contents were about. 

His clothes were shabby. 

The goods were delivered on time.

5. Subjects expressed by such invariable singular nouns as hair, money, gate, information (сведения), funeral (похороны), progress (успехи), advice have a singular verb-predicate. These are called “singularia tantum” “всегда единственное число», as they have no plural.

Her hair is beautiful.

The money is mine.

The gate is open.

The information was unusually interesting.

If the funeral is so detestable to you, you don’t have to go to it.

The corresponding Russian nouns used as subjects are either plural invariables (деньги, ворота, похороны) or have both the singular and the plural forms (совет - советы, новость - новости).

6. Subjects expressed by invariable nouns ending in -s (“pluralia tantum” «всегда множественное число») and denoting an indivisible notion or thing have a singular verb-predicate : measles (корь), mumps (свинка), billiards, dominoes, linguistics, economics, news, headquarters (штаб), works (завод).

No news is good news. 

The new works that has been built in our district is very large.

Though nouns in -ics which are names of sciences and other abstract notions have a singular agreement when used in their abstract sense; they may have a plural verb-predicate when denoting qualities, practical applications, different activities, etc. (ethics – “moral rules”, gymnastics – “physical exercises”). Thus these nouns may be followed by either a singular or a plural verb.

	statistics
	a branch of science 

collected numbers, figures representing facts


Statistics is a rather modern branch of mathematics. 

These statistics show deaths per 1,000 of population. 

Statistics on this subject are available,

	tactics
	the art of arranging military forces for battle 

methods


Tactics is one of the subjects studied in military academies. 

Your tactics are obvious. Please, don’t insult my intelligence.

	politics
	a profession 

political affairs, political ideas


Politics is a risky profession. 

Politics have always interested me. 

What are your politics?

	ceramics
	the art of making bricks, pots, etc. 

articles produced in this way


Ceramics is my hobby.

Where he lives isn’t the provinces as far as ceramics are concerned, it’s the metropolis.

7. Subjects expressed by substantivized adjectives denoting groups of people (the blind, the dumb and deaf, the eminent, the mute, the old, the poor, the rich, etc.) always take the plural verb-predicate.

He did not look an important personage, but the emminent rarely do.

The object

§ 67. The object is a secondary part of the sentence referring to some other part of the sentence and expressed by a verb, an adjective, a stative or, very seldom, an adverb completing, specifying, or restricting its meaning.

She has bought a car.

I’m glad to see you.

She was afraid of the dog.

He did it unexpectedly to himself.

Ways of expressing the object

§ 68. The object can be expressed by:

1. A noun in the common case or a nominal phrase, a substantivized adjective or participle.

I saw the boys two hours ago.

The nurses were clad in grey.

First of all she attended to the wounded.

Greedily he snatched the bread and butter from the plate.

2. A noun-pronoun. Personal pronouns are in the objective case, other pronouns are in the common case, or in the only form they have.

I don’t know anybody here.

I could not find my own car, but I saw hers round the corner.

He says he did not know that.

3. A numeral or a phrase with a numeral.

At last he found three of them high up in the hills.

4. A gerund or a gerundial phrase.

He insists on coming. 

A man hates being run after.

5. An infinitive or an infinitive phrase.

She was glad to be walking with him. 

Every day I had to learn how to spell pages of words.

6. Various predicative complexes. 

She felt the child trembling all over. 

I want it done at once. 

Everything depends on your coming in time.

7. A clause (then called an object clause) which makes the whole sentence a complex one.

I don’t know what it was. 

He thought of what he was to say to all of them.

Thus from the point of view of their structure, objects may be simple, phrasal, complex or clausal.*

* Complex objects with verbal and non-verbal second elements (objective predicatives) are treated in detail in § 124-129.

Types of object

§ 69. From the point of view of their value and grammatical peculiarities, four types of objects can be distinguished in English:

the direct object, the indirect object, and the cognate object.

1. The direct object is a non-prepositional one that follows transitive verbs, adjectives, or statives and completes their meaning. Semantically it is usually a non-person which is affected by the action of the verb, though it may also be a person or a situation. The situation is expressed by a verbal, a verbal phrase, a complex, or by a clause.

I wrote a poem.

You like arguing, don’t you?

Who saw him leave?

I don’t know what it all means.

She was ready to sing.

When the direct object is expressed by an infinitive (or an infinitive phrase or a clause) it may be preceded by the formal introductory object it (see § 78).

I find it exciting to watch tennis. 

He found it hard to believe the girl.

2. The indirect object also follows verbs, adjectives and statives. Unlike the direct object, however, it may be attached to intransitive verbs as well as to transitive ones. Besides, it may also be attached to adverbs, although this is very rare.

From the point of view of their semantics and certain grammatical characteristics indirect objects fall into two types:

a) The indirect object of the first type is attached only to ditransitive verbs. It is expressed by a noun or pronoun which as a rule denotes (or, in the case of pronouns, points out) a person who is the addressee or recipient of the action of the verb. So it is convenient to call an object of this type the indirect recipient object. It is joined to the headword either without a preposition or by the preposition to (occasionally for). The indirect recipient object is generally used with transitive verbs.

He gave the kid two dollars.

She did not tell anything to anyone.

Will you bring a cup of coffee for me?

b) The indirect object of the second type is attached to verbs, adjectives, statives and sometimes adverbs. It is usually a noun (less often a pronoun) denoting an inanimate object, although it may be a gerund, a gerundial phrase or complex, an infinitive complex or a clause. Its semantics varies, but it never denotes the addressee (recipient) of the action of the governing verb. So it may be called the indirect non-recipient object. The indirect non-recipient object can only be joined to its headword by means of a preposition.

One must always hope for the best. 

She’s not happy about her new friend.

The indirect non-recipient object is used mainly with intransitive verbs. It is usually the only object in a sentence, at least other objects are not obligatory.

3. The cognate object is a non-prepositional object which is attached to otherwise intransitive verbs and is always expressed by nouns derived from, or semantically related to, the root of the governing verb.

The child smiled the smile and laughed the laugh of contentment. 

They struck him a heavy blow.

4. The retained object. This term is to be applied in case an active construction is transformed into a passive one and the indirect object of the active construction becomes the subject of the passive construction. The second object, the direct one, may be retained in the transformation, though the action of the predicate-verb is no more directed upon it. Therefore it is called a retained object.

	They gave Mary the first prize ——>

(direct object)
	Mary was given the first prize 

(retained object).
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§ 70. The direct object is used irrespective of the absence or presence of other objects attached to the same verb.

He wrote the article two weeks ago. 

Tommie did not know anything about it. 

Ned ordered him to start.

Some English verbs which take a direct object correspond to Russian verbs followed by an indirect non-recipient object with a preposition. These verbs are:

	to address smb 

to affect smb, smth 

to answer smth 

to approach smb, smth 

to attend smth 

to enjoy smth 

to enter smth 

to follow smb, smth 

to join smb, smth 

to mount smth 

to need smth, smb 

to play smth

to reach smth 

to watch smb, smth
	- обращаться к кому-либо

- влиять на кого-либо, что-либо

- отвечать на что-либо

- подойти, приблизиться к кому-либо, чему-либо

- присутствовать на чем-либо

- получать удовольствие от чего-либо

- входить во что-либо

- следовать за кем-либо, чем-либо

- присоединяться к кому-либо, чему-либо

- сесть верхом, взобраться на что-либо

- нуждаться в чем-либо, ком-либо

- играть на чем-либо, во что-либо

- дойти, достать до чего-либо

- следить за кем-либо, чем-либо


The position of the direct object

§ 71. The most usual position of the direct object is that immediately after the predicate verb it refers to.

Then he found her in the hall.

The direct object is separated from the predicate verb in the following cases:

1. If there is a non-prepositional indirect recipient object to the same verb in the sentence. In this case the direct object follows the indirect one.

I never told him anything.

Note:

The direct object may come before the non-preposi​tional indirect object if it is the pronoun it, and the indirect object is any other personal pronoun.

     I never told it him.

     Give it me, will you?

2. If the direct object is modified by a phrase or a clause. In this case it may be separated from the verb by a prepositional indirect non-recipient object or an adverbial.

Ged had kept for his winter journey the cloak lined with fur. 

He took into his hands a small beast.

3. If the direct object is expressed by a noun or a pronoun (except a personal pronoun) referring to a phrasal predicate verb consisting of a verbal part and a postposition such as about, back, down, in, off, on, out, over, through, up.

He laid down his stick. 

Ged took off his cloak that was heavy with water.

With most of those verbs, however, the direct object may also precede the adverb.

He laid down his stick. = He laid his stick down.

If expressed by a personal pronoun, the direct object always precedes the postposition.

He laid down his stick. = He laid it down.

§ 72. The direct object comes before the predicate verb it refers to in the following cases:

1. In pronominal questions referring to the direct object or to its attribute.

What did they give you? 

Whose car was he driving? 

Which piece shall I take?

2. In certain exclamatory sentences. 

What a wonderful boat he has built!

3. In case it is necessary to connect the idea expressed in this sentence with the preceding one. This makes the object more emphatic.

The people of the village gathered in silence to watch his quick hands. 

This job too he did well and patiently.

4. For the sake of emphasis or contrast.

I enjoyed arithmetic, as always. Grammar I could not understand in the least.

The indirect object

The indirect recipient object

§ 73. As has been mentioned above, the indirect recipient object is used mainly with transitive verbs, which thus take two objects, and are accordingly called ditransitive. Verbs governing the indirect recipient object fall into two classes, which in accordance with their general semantics are called verbs of benefaction and verbs of inducement.

Verbs of benefaction denote an action that is addressed to a person or is done for that person's sake or benefit.

First she gave him his supper. 

I’ve bought a pair of beautiful earrings for you, dear.

Verbs of  inducеment denote an action which causes a person to do some other action.

Ann told him to leave her alone. 

I beg you to forgive me.

§ 74. The indirect recipient object is generally used together with the direct object and precedes it (see the examples above).

If the indirect object is attached to a verb of benefaction, the direct object is usually a noun, a pronoun, or a clause.

Bring the man his things.

I told her everything.

They did not show him what it was.

Some verbs of benefaction can take an infinitive or a gerund as their direct object.

Help me (to) do it.

She promised me to be punctual.

Miss Craggs taught them singing.

If the indirect recipient object is attached to a verb of inducement, the direct object can only be an infinitive or an infinitive phrase.

She asked him to come to dinner.

When attached to verbs of benefaction, the indirect recipient object may sometimes be used alone, that is, without a following direct object. This occurs:

a) Where it is attached to the predicate verb in the passive. 

At last the check was given her and she left.

b) After the verbs to answer, to ask, to envy, to forgive, to help, to teach.

She used to teach me once. 

I’ve helped you all my life.

Note:

The indirect recipient object may also be used alone after the verbs to read, to explain, to dictate, to spell, to sing, to write, but in the case of the first five it always takes the preposition to, whereas with to write both forms are possible.

    Why do you never read to me now? 

    Will she sing to us tonight? 

    At first she wrote to him twice a week. 

    Write me back as soon as you get the cable.

When attached to verbs of inducement, the indirect recipient object can never be used alone.

Form and position of the indirect recipient objects

§ 75. As to their form and position the following cases must be distinguished:

1. If the indirect recipient object is attached to a verb of inducement, it is always non-prepositional and has a fixed position in the sentence just before the direct object.

Mother ordered me to get down. 

He urged her to write a story about it.

2. If it is attached to the verbs of benefaction to announce, to ascribe, to attribute, to communicate, to contribute, to dedicate, to dictate, to disclose, to explain, to interpret, to introduce, to open, to point out, to repeat, to submit, to suggest, it is always prepositional and has two possible positions in the sentence, either before the direct object or after it. In both cases it is governed by the preposition to. It usually precedes the direct object if the latter is modified by an attribute.

He dictated the letter to his secretary.

Up to her death in 1935 she did not open to me her secret.

Then she explained to me the cause of her refusal.

3. If the indirect recipient object is attached to a verb of benefaction other than those listed above, its form and position vary according to certain rules:

a) The indirect recipient object is non-prepositional when it precedes the direct object.

She offered him a sandwich. 

Jane sang me a song.

b) The indirect recipient object is prepositional when it follows the direct object. In this case the most frequent preposition is to.

She has given some kind of task to each girl. 

I’m going to offer something to you.

If the indirect recipient object denotes a person for whose benefit the action is done, it has the preposition for.

I’ll buy this for you.

с) The position of the indirect recipient object after the direct object is sometimes obligatory. This is the case either when both objects are personal pronouns, as in:

Give him to me. 

Send me to them.

or when the direct object is a personal pronoun, while the indirect object is a noun, as in

Give them to Nanny. 

Show it to John.

If the direct object is the pronoun it and the indirect recipient object is any other personal pronoun, the indirect recipient object may take the preposition or not.

Give it to him = Give it him. 

The latter is more colloquial.

§ 76. Sometimes the indirect recipient object may be placed before the predicate verb. This occurs in the following cases:

1. In pronominal questions referring to the indirect recipient object or its attribute.

Whom did you show the brooch to? 

To whom did you send the parcel? 

Which boy has she given the money to? 

To which porter did you give your suitcase?

As seen from the examples, the preposition to can either retain its position after the direct object or come before the question word. Questions of the first type are characteristic of colloquial style, while those of the second type are formal.

Note:

In colloquial speech the nominative case form who often replaces the objective form whom. In this case the preposition can only be placed at the end of the sentence.

    Who did you give the money to?

2. In attributive clauses.

This friend of his whom she had shown the letter to did not appear to know anything.

The man to whom she had given two loaves of bread never came back.

3. If the object is to be made more emphatic for the sake of contrast. 

To you he’s telling his tales, not to me.

The indirect non-recipient object

§ 77. The indirect non-recipient object is a prepositional object that follows both transitive and intransitive verbs and completes their meaning, The indirect non-recipient object may be preceded by various prepositions.

I thought about it a good deal. 

Invention arises from idleness. 

How would you deal with the problem? 

I could hardly stand on my skates then.

The formal object it

§ 78. Some verbs cannot take an infinitive object or a clausal object. In this case the formal object it precedes the notional object. It is called introductory (or anticipatory) it. The sentence thus has two objects, the formal object it and a notional object, which is an infinitive or a clause. The formal object it may be either a direct object, or an indirect non-recipient object.

1. As a direct object it occurs after the verbs to take, to like, to find, to understand, to learn and some others.

Is she to take it that everything is О.К.?

I understand it that you are my wife’s brother.

We found it difficult to talk to him.

2. As an indirect non-recipient object it occurs after certain verbs which take objects with obligatory prepositions: to count (on), to depend (on), to hear (of), to insist (on), to object (to) and some others.

He objected to it that they should be taken to the island too.

§ 79. There is another use of it as о formal object: it can be attached to transitive or intransitive verbs to convey a very vague idea of some kind of an object.

I was angry. I made him take the present away. An hour later he returned and we made it up.                          

We therefore decided that we would sleep out on fine nights, and hotel it, and inn it, and pub it, when it 

was wet.

 The cognate object

§ 80. The verbs that most frequently take a cognate object are:

to live (a life), to smile (a smile), to laugh (a laugh), to die (a death), to sigh (a sigh), to sleep (a sleep), to 

dream (a dream), to run (a race), to fight (a, fight,, a battle).

He died the death of a hero.

Here she stopped and sighed a heavy sigh.

One must live one's own life, you know.

The cognate object is always used with words modifying it, never alone:

the death of a hero, a heavy sigh, one’s own life, etc.

to die the death of a hero = to die like a hero;

to sigh a heavy sigh = to sigh heavily, etc.

Semantically cognate objects characterize the action expressed by the predicate-verb. Nevertheless they are considered to be objects, not adverbial modifiers, because:                                    

a) they are expressed by nouns without prepositions, which is not characteristic of adverbials;

b) they may occur in the position of the subject of a passive construction. 

He never doubted that life should be lived as he lived.

Objects to adjectives

§ 81. There are quite a number of adjectives that can take an object, although not quite in the same way as verbs do. In the sentence these adjectives are mainly used as predicatives. The objects they take are of two kinds:

1. Direct objects expressed only by infinitives or infinitive phrases. No noun or pronoun is ever possible in this position.

Mack was very glad to get home. 

Mary was happy to have met us.

II. Indirect non-recipient objects governed by various prepositions. These objects are usually expressed by a noun or pronoun, sometimes by a gerund, a gerundial phrase or complex, or by a clause, depending on the combinability of the adjective.

Now she was ready for anything.

I was surprised at her being so shy.

She was only half conscious of what was going on.

As can be seen from the above examples, structurally objects to adjectives may be of the same types as objects to verbs, that is, simple, phrasal, complex, or clausal.

Objects to statives

§ 82. The statives that can take objects are few in number. The most frequent of them are: afraid, aware, alive, ashamed, ahead, akin. Their objects may be direct infinitive or clausal objects, or an indirect non-recipient object. The latter may be expressed by a noun (pronoun), a gerund, a gerundial phrase or predicative complex, or a clause.

She had never been afraid to experiment.

I think he was afraid I shouldn’t remember him.

I was afraid of you, my pretty.

I was not aware of your being a scoundrel.

He was fully aware of what he was doing.

Objects to adverbs

§ 83. There are some adverbs which can take objects, but these can only be indirect non-recipient objects.

Fortunately for himself, he could not be present. 

The attribute

§ 84. The attribute is a secondary part of the sentence which characterizes person or non-person expressed by the headword either qualitatively, quantitatively, or from the point of view of situation. Attributes may refer to nouns and other words of nominal nature, such as pronouns gerunds and substitute words, as in:

It was a letter from his devoted friend.

I mentioned it to him when he was his usual self.

One day I put the picture up again, the lifesize one.

An attribute forms a nominal phrase with its headword.

Ways of expressing attributes

§ 85. An attribute may be expressed by different parts of speech:

1. By (a) adjectives or (b) adjectival phrases, which characterize the person or non-person qualitatively or express the speaker’s attitude.

a) The sand glittered like fine white sugar in the sun.

I’ve never seen a better place. 

There is nothing unusual about the letter.

Some composite adjectives may be derived from other parts of speech by means of the participle-forming suffix -ed, as in:

It was a low-ceilinged L-shaped room. 

They sat on the pine-needled sand.

Some adjectives have developed from former participles II, as in;

Martin lived with his widowed mother. 

He looked for his long-lost friend everywhere.

b) In any case it gave no clue to the thought then uppermost in Hercule Poirot’s mind.

He stood and raged within himself with sour despair, unable to move or say a word.

2. By  pronouns or pronominal phrases, which help to identify or define persons or non-persons.

The woman by no change of face showed that his words meant anything to her.                               

Here’s some money for you.

Can you see those children of mine anywhere?

3. By  numerals, ordinal or cardinal, which state the number or order, or serve to identify persons or non-persons, as in:

He arrived just three weeks ago.

Robert has always been the first boy in his class.

Is it part two of the book?

4. By (a) nouns in the common case singular or (b) prepositional nominal phrases, which characterize the person or non-person either qualitatively or from the point of view of its locative, temporal, or other features.

The nouns are always premodifying attributes, the prepositional nominal phrases are post modifying:

a) It happened on a December evening (декабрьский вечер). 

The boy started to eat a ham roll (булочка с ветчиной). 

The garden wall was almost ruined (садовая стена). 

There was a honeymoon couple among the passengers (пара, проводящая медовый месяц).

b) The new secretary, on promotion from the general office, was a widow of fifty.

He was a man of very regular habits. 

Anything of interest this morning, Miss Lemon?

In some cases the attribute and its headword form a closely connected unit, such as the continent of Europe (Европейский континент), the name of Brighton Kurby (имя Брайтон Кёрби), the village of Crowie (деревня Кроул). Although the prepositional group is a subordinate and characterizing element, modifying the first word, its informative value is much greater than that of the first element.                               

In structures of this type the semantic roles of the elements may be reversed: the first (subordinating) element becomes a modifying word, the second (subordinated) - the modified one, as in:

his carrot of a nose (нос морковкой; не нос, а морковка),

an angel of a girl (не девушка, а ангел),

a hell of a noise (адский шум, шум как в аду),

a jewel of a nature (золотой характер; не характер, а золото).

Though logically his carrot of a nose means that the nose is characterized as resembling a carrot, syntactically it is the word carrot that is modified by the of-phrase of a nose, the indefinite article performing its usual classify​ing function. The modified word is not always semantically acceptable as part of the sentence without the of-phrase, which shows the semantic dependence of the modified element on the modifying one. This, together with the fact that logical and syntactic relations are reversed, accounts for the marked stylistic effect of these structures.

His left hand was holding a skyscraper of a silver cup. 

High above the bank is another eagle’s nest of a castle.

Russian phrases of a similar kind - не девка, а огонь; не ребенок, а сущий дьяволенок, unlike the parallel English phrases, are rarely included in extended sentences.

Note:

Phrases like sort of tired (I feel sort of tired), kind of tiresome (The situation becomes kind of tiresome), etc., form one syntactic whole and cannot be treated as free syntactic phrases consisting of a headword modified by a prepositional attribute. The first element expresses approximation - a moderate degree of the quality denoted.

5. By nouns or pronouns in the genitive case.

He caught the sound of the children’s voices.

The ocean’s vastness was so great that it held him spellbound.

Nelson had asked Mary’s father’s consent before proposing.

If the headword is omitted (when the sentence is elliptical) the modifying word should still be considered as an attribute.

Suppose those postcards are a lunatic’s? 

She heard the voice of another man, perhaps it was the water-carrier’s and then a woman’s, shrill and 

hysterical.

6. By statives, although these are rarely used as attributes. They usually postmodify the headword, though may occur as premodifying.

No man alive would ever think of such cruelty. 

She gazed at us with an aloof air.

7. By (a) participles I and II and (b) participial phrases, characterizing the person or non-person through an action, process, or reaction.

a) He made his way down the creaking stairs.

The mild day died in a darkening flush of twilight.

They stood contemplating the suited dummies in the lighted windows of the shop.

They stood at the car being refuelled and watched the meter.

b) Captain Nichols dragged Strickland, bleeding from a wound in his arm, into the street.

There was a tiny smile playing about the corners of his mouth. 

Vincent glanced over at Christine knitting by the fire. 

Beside her stood a straw basket stuffed with many towels and a pair of beach shoes.

8. By (a) gerunds, (b) gerundial phrases, or (c) gerundial complexes. Gerunds generally characterize non-persons from the point of view of their function or purpose.

a) Back at the hotel he slipped on a white rowing blazer (the blazer which the members of the boat-club 

    wore). 

Her walking shoes were elegant (shoes which she wore when walking).

(Compare these with attributes expressed by participle I, in the sentences given above (7), which denote an action, process or reaction sometimes figuratively.)

b) He would not run the risk of being too late. 

She showed no sign of having ever known me. 

The young man had the most irritating habit of joking at the wrong moment.

c) The silence was interrupted by the sound of a door being banged. 

There is no chance of our seeing him again.

9. By (a) infinitives, (b) infinitivel phrases, or (c) complexes, which characterize a person or non-person through some real or hypothetical action in which this person or non-person is or may be involved. Owing to the hypothetical nature of the action, an infinitive as attribute often imparts a modal shade of meaning to the action.

a) You are the one to blame (who is to blame). 

I haven’t any time to spare (which I could spare).

b) He looked around for a weapon to strike his insulter with. 

He was not a man to experiment with acquaintance. 

There was nothing in the look of him to show the courage of the man (nothing which could show 

courage). 

He was the last to tell of this extraordinary raid from the deeper sea (who could tell).

c) This is a problem for you to solve. (which you could/must solve).

10. By (a) adverbs or (b) adverbial phrases, which characterize a person or non-person through spatial or temporal characteris​tics, or through circumstances or facts concerning this person or non-person.

a) No sounds came from the quarters above.

The then Government did not respond to this just claim. 

Somebody appeared on the upstairs balcony. 

“I see that woman downstairs has a couple of sailors sitting there.” 

An immense effort of imagination was needed to link himself now with himself then.

The most usual position of such attributes is to follow the headword.

b) Most people living in out of the way places expect the latest news from home with impatience.

11. By sentences used as a whole (the so-called “quotation nouns”). These are used mainly as hyphenated chains before the headword.

She looked at me with a kind of don’t-touch-me-or-I’ll-slap-you air. 

It was a ‘You-must-take-us-as-you-find-its’ attitude to things, and it saved me a lot of trouble... In this ‘a-

place-for-everything-and-everything-in-its-place’  kitchen he felt ill at ease.

12. By a clause (then called an attributive clause) which makes the whole sentence a complex one.

Some called me by the name which no one here knew.

The position of attributes

§ 86. The position of an attribute depends on the following:

1. The morphological nature of the attribute. Adjectives, participles, gerunds, nouns in the common and the possessive cases, pronouns, ordinal numerals, and quotation nouns generally premodify the headword.

He was a little man, with a thin voice.

Val had just changed out of riding clothes and was on his way to the party.

The apple trees were in blossom.

It’s not always easy to understand a child’s language.

The third attempt gave no result.

His eyes travelled over the landscape at their feet.

Adverbs, statives, cardinal numerals and infinitives are generally postmodifying attributes.

Participles II, statives, and adjectives of verbal origin used as attrib​utes also tend to occupy the position after the headword.

The people involved were reported to the police. 

When we build cities we think about generations unborn.

Adjectives ending in -able, -ible are mostly postpositive as attributes. They often follow a headword preceded by only or a similar word with a limiting meaning.

The only person visible was the policeman (who could be seen). 

The only way of escaping imaginable was through the window (which could be imagined).

2. Тhe extension of the attribute. Non-detached attributes are postmodifying when expressed by extended phrases or complexes.

The influence of extension can be illustrated by the following pairs of examples:

	It is a sensible suggestion. 

He found himself in a difficult situation.
	It is a suggestion sensible in many ways. 

He found himself in a situation difficult from his point of view.


Here are some more examples:

They passed the bodies of British soldiers killed that night.

It was a little log house with whitewashed walls.

He held a letter in his hands, a letter from his mother.

He appeared to be a small man of about fifty.

They chose a way longer than the other.

3. The morphological nature of the headword. Such words as demonstrative or indefinite pronouns and numerals cannot have an attribute in preposition.

Those coming first occupied the best seats.

Most of their time animals spend in search of something eatable.

There is nothing interesting in this book.

All present were disgusted by his behaviour.

Note 1:                
Non-detached postmodifying attributes are found in traditional phrases borrowed from French or Latin, such as blood royal, time immemorial, the second person plural, heir apparent (heir presumptive). Lords spiritual, Lords temporal.

Note 2:

There are cases when the headword is embedded between parts of the attribute, as in:

     I was told that you were the best man available (the best available man).

Types of connection between an attribute and its headword

§ 87. From the point of view of their connection with the headword and other parts of the sentence, attributes may be divided into nondetached (close) and detached (loose) ones.

Non-detached attributes

§ 88. Non-detached attributes form one sense group with their head​word and are not separated from it by commas.

They generally adjoin the headword, either premodifying, postmodify​ing, or embedding it, and are connected with other parts of the sentence only through the headword.

Non-detached premodifying attributes may be unextended, consisting of one word only, or form chains of homogeneous attributes with identical reference, as in: a nice girl, a pretty house; crimson, white, and yellow flowers.

Attributes with identical reference (crimson flowers, white flowers, and yellow flowers - crimson, white, and yellow flowers) are usually inter​changeable (yellow, white, and crimson flowers) and are set off by commas (crimson, white, yellow flowers) or joined by a conjunction as they are in the example given above.

Attributes may form a string with different reference, that is, those of them which are closer to the noun form one whole with subsequent words:

her usual (good temper);

a clever (young man) (compare with crimson, white, yellow flowers);

a large black and white (hunting dog).

In the word-group a large black and white hunting dog the adjective large refers to black and white hunting dog, black and white, refers to hunting dog, and hunting refers to dog. This relation of attributes embedded inside a string of them requires a fixed order and no comma is used to separate them. The phrase an old lady’s hat allows of two possible interpretations: (An old lady)’s hat and an old (lady’s hat).

If there are relations other than attributive within the string of premo​difying words, the whole string functions as one attribute. In this case they are usually hyphenated, as in:

most deeply-felt emotions; too-new shoes, a word-for-word translation, a brass-coffee-pot-like thing (a 

thing looking like a brass coffee-pot);

a dirty-collar, unbrushed-coat man (a man with a dirty collar and in an unbrushed coat).

One of the characteristic features of English, especially in academic and newspaper style is a marked tendency to form long strings of phrasal attributes (usually called compositional phrases), which express in a com​pressed form the content of a clause or sentence and which can be easily turned into one, if necessary form words are added (prepositions, link verbs, etc.) and the morphological changes are introduced, as in:

Fish-breeding plants. (Plants that breed fish.)

Efficient salt-producing mines. (Mines that produce salt efficiently.)

The uranium-supply industry. (Industry that supplies uranium to...)

The last decade’s scarcity of hands in the country. (In the last decade hands were scarce in the country.)

The long-looked-for hours. (The hours which were looked for long.)

Detached attributes

§ 89. A detached attribute is only loosely connected with its headword and is often optional from the point of view of structure, although very important semantically. It forms a separate sense group in speech and is accordingly separated by commas in writing.

A detached attribute may be placed in preposition, post-position, or often at some distance from the headword.

Carrie looked about her, very much disturbed and quite sure that she did not want to work here.

Unlike non-detached attributes, a detached attribute may modify personal and relative pronouns.

Big and strong, he impressed us greatly.

Very often a detached attribute refers not only to the headword, but also to another part of the sentence, thus forming a double connection. For example, a detached attribute referring both to the subject of the sentence and to the predicate may have in addition to its attributive meaning some adverbial shade of meaning, such as conditional, causal, or concessive.

And for a moment I hesitated, unable to start talking (as I was unable to start talking).

Familiar with these details, Michael paid them little attention (because he was familiar with these 

details).

The apposition

§ 90. An apposition is a part of the sentence expressed by a noun or nominal phrase and referring to another noun or nominal phrase (the headword), or sometimes to a clause.

The apposition may give another designation to, or description of, the person or non-person, or else put it in a certain class of persons or non-persons. In the latter case it is similar to an attribute, as it characterizes the person or non-person denoted by the headword.

Beyond the villa, a strange-looking building, began the forest.

He had remembered her at once, for he always admired her, a very pretty creature.

He knows about everything - a man of the world.

The whole thing was indescribable - a terrific spectacle, a stupendous symphony of sound.

Like the attribute, the apposition may be in preposition or postposition. However, unlike the attribute, which is always subordinated to its headword and is usually connected with other parts in the sentence only through it, words in apposition are, at least syntactically, coordinated parts, that is, both the headword and the apposition are constituents of the same level in the sentence. This may be illustrated by two possible types of transformation of sentences with words in apposition.

	Mr Smith, the local doctor, 

was known to everybody.
	The local doctor, Mr Smith, 

was known to everybody.


However, an apposition can rarely replace the headword in the sentence. Substitution is possible only if the apposition meets the following conditions:

1. It denotes the same person or non-person as the headword.

Winterbourne was back on the Somme, that incredible desert, pursuing the retreating enemy.

If it puts the person or non-person in a certain class of persons or nonpersons, no substitution is possible. Thus the sentence Mr Smith, a local doctor, was known to everybody cannot be transformed into the sentence *A local doctor was known to everybody.

2. It is expressed by words of the same morphological class as its headword. Otherwise the apposition may be unacceptable in the structure of the sentence because of its grammatical or lexical meaning. This can be illustrated by the sentence: She was seized by a gust of curiosity to see that wife of his, which does not allow the substitution of the apposition for the headword - She was seized by a gust of to see that wife of his.

3. It follows the headword immediately and has no dependent words which may hinder substitution. Otherwise, the dependent words may block the connection and make the apposition unacceptable in the structure of the sentence. Thus, the sentence John, at that time a student, wrote several articles on architecture cannot be transformed into At that lime a student wrote several articles on architecture, for it changes the meaning of the sentence altogether.

The sentences discussed above show the peculiarity of the appositive relation: although it resembles coordination syntactically (in that the headword and the apposition are constituents of the same level within the sentence), communicatively they are not of the same rank.

Appositions may be joined by a coordinating conjunction, or follow one another asyndetically. In both cases appositions refer directly to the headword.

Dr and Mrs Macphail were left alone.

A man of action and a born leader, now forced into a state of thought, he was unhappy.

A daughter of poor but honest parents, I have no reason to be ashamed of my origins.

Types of connection between an apposition and its headword

§ 91. From the point of view of their relation to the headword, appositions, like attributes, are subdivided into non-detached (close) and detached (loose) ones.

Non-detached appositions

§ 92. Non-detached appositions form one sense group with their headword and very often enter into such close relation with it that the two words form one whole. This is especially true in the case of titles, military ranks, professions, kinship terms, geographical denotations, etc., used as apposition.

Sir Peter, Mr Brown, Doctor Watson, Colonel Davidson, Uncle Podger, Mount Everest, the River Thames.

Being very closely connected with each other such appositions and their headwords may be treated as indivisible word-groups.*
* See also § 36 item 6.

Detached appositions

§ 93. Detached, or loose appositions form separate sense groups and are wider in their meaning than close appositions: they may give identification, explanation, etc., especially when referring to pronouns. They may follow the headword immediately or be separated from it.

He actually envied Jolyon the reputation of succeeding where he, Soames, had failed.

Cooper was three inches taller than Mr Warburton, a strong, muscular young man.

An apposition may also refer to a clause or a sentence, usually as an explanatory remark.

The night was muggy, a bit drizzly, windless, and very dark - the ideal conditions for a gas bombardment.

The adverbial modifier

§ 94. The adverbial modifier (or the adverbial) is a secondary part of the sentence which modifies another part of the sentence expressed either by a verb (in a finite or non-finite form), or an adjective, or a stative, or an adverb.

In case it modifies a verb the adverbial characterizes the action or process expressed by tlie verb and denotes its quality, quantity, or the whole situation.

The adverbial modifier may refer to:

a) The predicate-verb or to a verbal phrase.

John spoke   in a whisper.


Bowen  read the telegram    aloud . 


b) The whole of the sentence, especially if placed at the beginning of the sentence.

In the evening  they gathered together again. 



If an adverbial modifies a non-finite form, it becomes part of a gerundial, participial, or infinitive phrase or construction.

Felicity fell to the ground and after lying still for a moment began to crawl forward.

Scobie watched the bearers go slowly up the hill, their bare feet very gently flapping the ground.

Adverbials modifying adjectives, statives and adverbs usually denote degree or quantity. These adverbials modify:

a) Adjectives in their attributive or predicative function.

It was a   very   long story.


The story was   extremely long.


He is  six feet tall.


b) Statives in their predicative function. 

I am quite  aware of the situation.


c) Adverbs in their main function as an adverbial. 

You speak English  rather  fluently.


Obligatory and non-obligatory adverbial modifiers

§ 95. Adverbials are structurally more independent of the verb than objects. Their use is often optional. However, when introduced into the sentence, adverbials are of great communicative value. Thus in the sentence Professor Brown is leaving for London to-morrow, both adverbials for London and to-morrow give important pieces of information, although grammatically the sentence Professor Brown is leaving is complete.

Adverbials are obligatory when the sentence structure demands one or when their absence changes the meaning of the verb. This is the case:

a) After the verbs to behave, to act, to treat.

He behaved bravely. *He behaved has no sense.

The Murdstones treated David cruelly. - Мердстоны жестоко обращались с Давидом.

The doctor treated David - доктор лечил Давида.

b) After statal and durative verbs, such as to live, to dwell, to wait, to last, to weigh.

John lives in London. (John lives has a different meaning: ‘he exists’, ‘he is alive’.) 

The lecture lasted two hours.

c) After transitive verbs implying direction, such as  to put, to take, to send.

Put the book on the shelf. 

Take these letters to the post-office.

d) After intransitive verbs of motion and position in space, such as 

    to come, to go, to arrive, to return, to step, to sit, to lie, to stand.

Brett went to the dressing-room. 

Robert was standing at the window.

The absolute use of the above verbs, that is without adverbials, is possible if the speaker is interested in the process itself or if the use of an adverbial is unnecessary because of the situation.

He was too weak to stand. 

Everybody has come.

e) When an adverbial influences the meaning of a verb form .

I am going to the library to-morrow, (‘am going’ denotes intention, not an action).

f) When its absence changes the measing of the rest of the sentence.

Can you speak English without making mistakes? 

I’ve never been there since my childhood.

Non-obligatory adverbials are those which are not necessary for the structure of the sentence. They neither influence the meaning of the verb form, nor change the structure or the meaning of the rest of the sentence, no matter how important they are from the communicative viewpoint.

She left the room without saying a word. 

Before speaking he pressed the bell at his side.

Detached adverbial modifiers

§ 96. Detached adverbials being more loosely related to the modified parts of the sentence than non-detached adverbials are never obligatory. They are separated from the rest of the sentence by intonation in speaking and by commas in writing. Detachment of adverbials may be caused by various factors, the most important of which are their meaning, the form of expression, their extension, their position in the sentence, or the speaker’s desire for emphasis. Owing to their structure and meaning, absolute constructions are nearly always detached:

Wesley saw the boat, its decks deserted.

Participial phrases as adverbials also tend to be detached.

She then returned to her place, not having spoken another word.

Adverbials are detached when they are placed m an unusual position, as in the following examples:

Like him, she saw danger in it.

Randall, for all his tiresomeness and badness, had always been her Randall.

Any adverbial may be detached if the speaker wishes to emphasize its meaning.

“He was her father,” said Frances Wilmot, gravely.

Ways of expressing adverbial modifiers

§ 97. Adverbials are grouped according to their structure (ways of expression) and their meaning. There is no one-to-one correspondence between these two groupings, though we may observe certain tendencies in the ways of expressing this or that kind of adverbial modifier.

An adverbial modifier may be expressed by:

1. An adverb (sometimes preceded by a preposition).

Jane sings beautifully. 

George is always busy. 

The ship sailed east.

2. An adverbial phrase, with an adverb as headword.

We met ten years ago and parted two years later. 

They worked till late at night.

3. A noun, pronoun or numeral preceded by a preposition or prepositional nominal phrase.

A dim light was burning in the archway under the inner gate.

Beyond it Mr Watson could see the outer gate.

Behind him he could hear Kirstie sobbing.

We met in 1975.

Classes begin on the first of September.

4. A noun without a preposition or a non-preposi​tional noun phrase, the latter usually containing such words as this, that, every, last, next.

Wait a minute!

Come this way, please.

We meet every day.

5. A non-finite verb form:

a) a gerund or a gerundial phrase.

Remember to open the window before doing your morning exercises.

One day, on returning to his hotel, he found a note in his room.

b) an infinitive or an infinitive phrase.

The problem is too difficult to solve. 

We’ve come here to ask you a favour.

c) a participle or a participial phrase.

Sighing, Betty returned to the kitchen. 

Pounding the house, they entered a quiet, walled garden.

6. A predicative complex:

a) a gerundial construction. 

Are you angry because of my being late?

b) a for-to-infinitive construction. 

The problem is too difficult for a child to solve.

c) a non-prepositional or prepositional absolute construction.

The meal over, they went to the fuel store. 

There having been no rain, the earth was dry. 

Earphones on, Fred sat alone in Ivor’s room. 

I don’t want to quarrel with the children listening.

7. An adjective, an adverb, a participle, a noun, a prepositional phrase, an infinitive, an infinitive or participial phrase introduced by a conjunction.

I’ll come earlier if necessary.

Her conduct when there was most unaccountable.

When argued with, Ida had one answer.

As a little girl she used to make daisy-chains.

I began to wonder whether he'd manage to give an interview while still in his right mind.

He quickly did this, and while doing it dropped his umbrella.

As if to bring matters to a focus, Tess’s father was heard approaching at that moment.

8. A Clause (as part of a complex sentence).

Won’t you stay till the rain stops? 

We stayed at home because it rained.

Structural classification of the adverbial modifier

§ 98. From the point of view of its structure the adverbial modifier, may be simple, phrasal, complex, clausal.

We started early.

We started at five in the morning.

John sat with his elbows on the table and his hands clasped.

When the cat is away, the mice will play.

Semantic characteristics of the adverbial modifier

§ 99. Semantically adverbials denote place, time, manner, cause, purpose, result, condition, concession, attendant circumstances, comparison, degree, measure, exception, thus forming semantic classes, such as adverbials of place, time, etc.

The semantic class of an adverbial may be identified directly (absolutely) or indirectly (relatively). It is identified directly by lexical meaning of the word or phrase used as an adverbial, as in:

I saw him yesterday. (time) 

She spoke in a loud voice. (manner)

In other cases the semantic type is identified relatively, that is, only through the relationship of the adverbial to the modified part of the sentence, as is often the case with participles, infinitives, and some preposi​tional phrases. Thus the phrase with fear functions as an adverbial of manner in the sentence She spoke with fear and as an adverbial of reason in the sentence She shook with fear. The phrase Walking along the track to Buckmaster’s denotes motion in some direction, but in the sentence Walk​ing along the track towards Buckmaster’s Bowen burst into song it acquires temporal meaning and serves as an adverbial of time.

In the majority of cases, an identifying question may help to distinguish between adverbial modifiers from the semantic point of view. When? suggests time, where? - place, in what case? - condition, etc. However, it is not always possible to find an identifying question for every adverbial. Sometimes one and the same question word may correspond to different kinds of adverbials. Thus how? may suggest manner, comparison and degree. On the other hand such adverbials as those of result and attendant circumstances have no corresponding question words.

Semantic classes of adverbial modifiers

The adverbial of place

§ 100. This adverbial expresses:

a) Place proper.

John was born in Australia, but lives in England.

b) Direction or destination. 

He moved to Australia in 1975.

c) Distance.

He lives far from his parents.

The identifying questions are where? for place proper, where to? where from? - for direction, where? how far? - for distance.

The adverbial of time

§ 101. The adverbial of time has four variations:

a) The adverbial of time proper denotes the time of some event. It may be expressed in almost all the ways enumerated in § 97.

We shall meet tomorrow. 

Ten days later she returned. 

When angry count a hundred.

b) The adverbial of frequency indicates how often the event denoted by the predicate takes place. It is mostly placed before the notional part of the predicate (if it is expressed by an adverb).

I am always careful.

We often see each other.

Does he ever visit museums? - Once in a blue moon.

He calls me from time to time.

We have a get-together every year.

Adverbials of frequency are expressed by adverbs and adverbial phrases.

c) The adverbial of duration indicates the period of time during which some event takes place. They are often expressed by preposi​tional phrases with prepositions for, during, since, till, until. The preposition since denotes the starting point and the preposition till/until - the final point of some period.

Have you been there long? - A couple of hours. 

They want to rest (for) a day or two. 

The sun gives us light during the day. 

We are to wait till the end of the exam. 

This has been going on since our arrival. 

He lived to be ninety. 

Note:

The preposition for is optional after the verbs of duration.

d) The adverbial of time relationship presents the idea of time as related to some other event in time. This adverbial is expressed by such adverbs as still, yet, already, at last, before, after, by a noun, a gerund, or a prepositional phrase with the prepo​sitions by, before, after.

Thus the sentence It was still raining implies that it had been raining for some time before.

He hasn’t given his consent yet means that up to now we do not know anything about his consent.

The train has left already means that it has left by this time.

He graduated at last suggests after a long time or delay.

Here are some other examples of adverbial of time relationship:

Promise to come back by the end of the week.

We’ll see about it after classes.

Before answering the Boss stepped back to the chair and sank into it.

The same relationship can be seen in sentences with participial phrases, as in:

Arthur, having read the letter twice, put it in an envelope. (After he had read the letter twice...)

The adverbial of manner

§ 102. The adverbial of manner characterizes the action of the verb by indicating the way it is performed or by what means it is achieved. The identifying questions are how? in what way? by what means?

Adverbials of manner are mainly expressed by adverbs or prepositional phrases (including gerundial phrases) introduced by the prepositions with, without, by, by means of, or with the help of, the latter three suggesting means.

Hooper danced badly, but energetically.

She walked with short quick steps.

You begin learning a language by listening to the new sounds.

Thoughts are expressed by means of (with the help of) words.

Adverbials of manner may also be expressed by participial phrases and absolute constructions.

I looked up again and saw that coming from the door behind Palmer, she had entered the room.

She said the last words with a voice lowered.

Some adverbials of manner border on the instrumental object in cases like the following:

He opened the tin with a knife.

The identifying questions are either How did he open the tin? or What did he open the tin with?

The adverbial of cause (reason)

§ 103. The identifying questions, of this adverbial are why? for what reason? because of what? due to what? Adverbials of reason are expressed by prepositional nominal phrases, participial and infinitive phrases, sometimes by absolute constructions.

Most prepositions of reason are composite and the causal meaning of the phrase, and thus of the adverbial modifier, is due to the meaning of the preposition, for example, because of, due to, owing to, on account of, for the reason of, thanks to and some others.

You mean you’ve failed because of me? 

The accident happened owing to bad driving. 

Thanks to my parents I got a decent education.

A number of polysemantic prepositions acquire causal meaning when combined with nouns denoting a psychological or physical state.

She couldn’t speak for happiness (anger, fear, joy).

She cried out of fear (anger).

She did it out of pity (spite).

Many people have come here from curiosity.

He was trembling with hatred.                           

Participial phrases and nominative absolute constructions are freely used as adverbials of reason, most often with the verb to be and verbs of feeling, wish, or mental perception.

I was happy just being with him. 

Wanting a cigarette, I took out my case. 

There being nothing else to do, we went home.

The adverbial of purpose

§ 104. This adverbial answers the identifying questions what for? for what purpose? It is most frequently expressed by an infinitive, an infinitive phrase or complex.

Jane has come to help us. 

I’ve repeated my words for you to remember them.

The meaning of purpose may be emphasized by the composite prepositions in order or so as, which are never used before an infinitive complex.

We must go early in order not to be late. 

We hurried so as not to be late.

The adverbial of purpose may also be expressed by a noun, a preposi​tional phrase, nominal or gerundial, introduced by the preposition for.

We reserved this table for lunch. 

We use the thermometer for measuring temperature.

After the imperative of the verbs to go and to come another imperative is preferable to the infinitive, as in:

Go and help him. (Not Go to help him.) 

Come and wash up. (Not Come to wash up.)

The use is optional for the verb to see.

Come to see me, or Come and see me. 

Go to see him, or Go and see him.

The adverbial of result (consequence)

§ 105. The adverbial of result has no identifying questions. It refers to an adjective, a noun with qualitative meaning, or an adverb accompanied by an adverb of degree, such as too, enough, sufficiently, so... (as). The adverbial of result is expressed by an infinitive, an infinitive phrase, or complex.

It is too cold to go out.

The lecturer spoke slowly enough for us to take down everything he said.

He was fool enough to believe it.

John was so fortunate as to get the first prize.

He felt he was enough of a citizen of the world not to mind it.

The adverbial of degree too signals a negative result, enough suggests the necessary amount of quality to perform the action. The correlative phrase so... as implies a realized action, unlike the phrase so as before adverbials of purpose suggesting a hypothetical event. Compare these sentences:

John was so fortunate as to get the first prize (and he got it) - result. 

John trained hours so as to get the first prize for boating (we do not know whether he has got it or not) – 

purpose.

The adverbial of condition

§ 106. The identifying questions are in what case? or on what condition? The adverbial of condition is generally expressed by a noun or a pronoun, or by a prepositional phrase (nominal or sometimes gerundial) with the prepositions but for, except for, without.

But for you I wouldn’t be here at all.

Except for the sound of his breathing I wouldn’t have known he was there.

Without faith there can be no cure.

This adverbial is sometimes expressed by a participle or an adjective with the conjunctions if or unless.

Jane won’t sing unless asked to. 

We’ll come earlier if necessary.

Less frequently it is an infinitive or a participle.

I would have done better to have followed my first thought. 

Skilfully managed, conversation with him might prove amusing.

The adverbial of concession

§ 107. This adverbial expresses some idea that contradicts what is stated in the modified part of the sentence. Thus in its meaning it is opposite to the adverbial of reason. The identifying question is in spite of what?

The adverbial of concession is expressed by a prepositional phrase introduced by in spite of, despite, for all, with all and phrases introduced by the conjunction though.

In spite of his anger John listened to me attentively. 

Cleary, for all his reputation, was already out of date. 

With all his faults, I like him. 

Though a bad painter, he had a delicate feeling for art.

Note:

The conjunction if introduces concessive adverbials in cases like the following:

     Your remark is witty, if rather cruel (...хотя и несколько жестокое).

Adverbials of attendant circumstances and subsequent events

§ 108. These adverbials have no identifying questions. The adverbial of attendant circumstances expresses some fact that accompanies the event presented by the modified part of the sentence. This adverbial may be expressed by a gerundial phrase, a participial phrase, any kind of absolute construction, and rather rarely by an infinitive phrase.

We walked three miles without meeting anyone (and did not meet anyone)

“No,” said Gabriel, turning to his wife (and turned to his wife)

I dropped my fists and walked away, “Scout’s a coward” ringing in my ears.

In the study with the door closed, he stood before the window, smoking his pipe.

The adverbial of subsequent events points out an event following the event presented in the modified part of the sentence. This adverbial is most frequently expressed by an infinitive, or sometimes by a participle.

He woke up to see that it was daylight. 

They said something to her, receiving no answer.

The adverbial of comparison

§ 109. This adverbial is introduced by the conjunctions than, as, as if, as though or the preposition like. The adverbial with than is preceded by the comparative of the adverb or the adjective it modifies, the adverbial with as - by the correlative adverbs as or so:

A mountain is higher than a hill.

The boy is now as tall as his father.

Tom is not so tall as his brother.

Tom speaks French as fluently as a born Frenchman.

Tom speaks French like a Frenchman.

The difference between the use of like and as is important. 

Ann talked to us like a teacher means that Ann is not a teacher, whereas the sentence Ann talked to us as a teacher implies that she is a teacher and in talking to us her professional manner was apparent.

The conjunctions as if and as though give the comparison a modal shade of meaning: They precede a participle, an infinitive, or a prepositional phrase, as in:

As if obeying him, I turned and stared into his face. 

He prospered greatly, almost as though against his will.

The adverbial of degree

§ 110. This adverbial modifies various parts of the sentence expressed by verbs, adjectives, adverbs and statives, characterizing actions, states and quality from the viewpoint of their intensity. The identifying questions being how much? to what extent?

Adverbials of degree are expressed mainly by adverbs and by preposi​tional phrases with the preposition to.

The story is extremely long.

All was planned to the split second.

Now you may read to your hearts content.

Sometimes nouns can be modified by an adverbial of degree, as in:

You are quite a man, my boy.

The adverbial of measure

§ 111. This adverbial is expressed by a noun denoting a unit of measure (length, time, weight, money, temperature).

It is used after statal verbs denoting processes, states, or characteristics allowing measurement, such as to measure, to last, to wait, to sleep, to walk, to run, to weigh, to cost. Nouns as adverbials of measure are preceded by numerals or the indefinite article in its, numerical function.

The room measures 30 feet across.

We walked (for) five miles.

The box weighs a ton.

The temperature went down ten degrees below zero.

The adverbial of exception

§ 112. This adverbial is expressed by nouns or prepositional phrases introduced by the prepositions but, except, save, but for, except for, save for, apart from, aside from, with the exclusion of.

I looked everywhere except in the bedroom. 

Your English is decent apart from spelling. 

The road was empty except for a few cars.

The prepositions save and save for are more formal and occur in writing, as in:

These men were in fact quite civil save during certain weeks of autumn and winter.

Independent elements of the sentence

§ 113. Independent elements of the sentence, as the term implies, generally are not grammatically dependent on any particular part of the sentence, but as a rule refer to the sentence as a whole. Only occasionally they may refer to a separate part of the sentence. The independent element may consist of a word or a phrase. Its position is more free than that of any other parts of the sentence and accordingly it may occur in different positions in the sentence.

There are two groups of independent elements:

I. Direct address. A direct address is the name of a person (or occasionally a non-person) to whom the rest of the sentence is addressed. It may be emotionally charged or neutral, but semantically it does not influence the sentence.

I’m sorry, Major, we had an arrangement. 

Jenny, darling, don’t say such things. 

How’s the world, good friend?

II. Parenthesis. As to its meaning the parenthesis may be of several types:

a) It may express the speaker’s attitude to the relation between what is expressed in the sentence and reality (perhaps, maybe, certainly, of course, evidently, oh, Goodness Gracious, etc.).

Undoubtedly you are both excellent engineers. 

Surely he had too wide a mouth. 

The cottages were, in fact, boxlike and rather towny. 

Oh, we can’t go.

b) It may connect the sentence it belongs to with the preceding or the following one expressing different relations (first, firstly, secondly, finally, after all, moreover, besides, by the way, on the contrary, that is (i.e.), for example (eg), etc.).

I was listening and thinking. Besides, I wanted to tell you something. 

After all, he'd only been doing his duty. 

Finally the whole party started walking.

c) It may specify that which is said in the sentence or express a comment (according to my taste, in my opinion, to tell the truth, in other words, as is known, by the way, etc.).

According to your theory, we’re in a mighty soulful era. 

To tell you the truth, the total was more than a thousand francs.

As a rule a parenthesis refers to the sentence (or clause) as a whole.

Frankly speaking, he had been amazed at his failure. 

This streak of light was, in all likelihood, a gleam from a lantern.

Sometimes, however, a parenthesis refers only to, a secondary part of the sentence.

Miss Barlett might reveal unknown depths of strangeness, though not, perhaps, of meaning.

As to its morphological nature, a parenthesis can be expressed by:

1. A modal word:

perhaps, no doubt, indeed, certainty, in fact, evidently, maybe, etc.

Perhaps they would go soon.

2. An interjection:

oh, ah, eh, dear me, by God, Good heavens, etc.

You like the outfit, eh? 

Dear me, I had no idea you were such a determined character.

3. A conjunct (that is, an adverb combining the function of a parenthesis with that of a connector):

finally, anyway, consequently, besides, moreover, otherwise, etc.

But there’s no chance here. Besides, he couldn’t make two ends meet on the job.

4. A prepositional phrase:

in my opinion, in short, by the way, on the other hand, on the contrary, at least, to one's surprise, etc.

In my opinion you are wrong. 

You can’t make me! In short, I won’t do it.

5. An infinitive phrase:

to tell the truth, to be sure, to begin with, to do smb justice, etc.

That was, so to speak, another gift for you. 

To do that lady justice, Miss Spencer bore the ordeal very well.

6. A participial phrase:
frankly speaking, strictly speaking, generally speaking, etc.

Generally speaking I think you’re right.

7. A clause (see the item on parenthetical clauses). 

As it was, Nell departed with surprising docility.

WORD ORDER

§ 114. The words in an English sentence are arranged in a certain order, which is fixed for every type of the sentence, and is therefore meaningful. We find several principles determining word order in a sentence, so that word order fulfils several functions - grammatical, emphatic, or communicative, and linking. These functions are manifested in different arrangements of the parts of the sentence.

The grammatical function of word order

§ 115. The main function of word order is to express grammati​cal relations and determine the grammatical status of a word by fixing its position in the sentence. There exist two ways of arranging words - direct word order and inverted word order.

Direct word order

§ 116. The most common pattern for the arrangement of the main parts in a declarative sentence is Subject - Predicate - (Object), which is called direct word order. Direct word order is also employed in pronominal questions to the subject or to its attribute.

Direct word order allows of only few variations in the fixed pattern, and then only for the secondary parts. Thus if there are two objects, the indirect one precedes the direct one, or the prepositional follows the direct one. Thus the pattern has the following form:

	Subject - Predicate -
	Indirect object - Direct object 

Direct object - Prepositional object


The birds have come. 

Ann has seen this film. 

The boy gave me no answer. 

The boy gave no answer to me.

As to other secondary parts of the sentence, such as attributes and adverbial modifiers, their position is less fixed. Usually those words that are closely connected tend to be placed together. Accordingly secondary parts referring to their headwords are placed close to them, or are incorporated into, or else frame them up. Thus attributes either premodify or postmodify or frame up their headwords: a bright morning, the problems involved, the scene familiar to us, the happiest man alive, the best skier in the world.

Adverbials and different form words seem to be the most movable parts in the sentence. Their mobility is partly accounted for by their varied reference to different parts of the sentence.

The place of adverbials

§ 117. When referring to a verb adverbials may be placed in:

1.Front position. 

Again he was late.

2. Contact preposition.
He often said it.  He occasionally sees them.

3. Interposition between the elements of a composite verbal part.

He has never seen her.

The latter position is occupied mainly by adverbs of indefinite time and degree: already, always, sometimes, often, hardly, still, just.

In case the predicate includes more than one auxiliary or a modal verb and an auxiliary, the adverbial is usually placed after the first one, although it may also occur after the second one.

This principle must constantly be borne in mind. 

It must be constantly borne in mind.

Adverbials may sometimes separate the particle to from the infinitive. This construction is called the split infinitive.

I don’t expect you to thoroughly understand it.

4. Contact post-position.

They are never on time. 

He demanded angrily to see the manager.

5. End position.

Are you married yet? 

Tom works carefully, but slowly.

Positions 1, 4 and 5 are usually occupied by adverbials of place, time (definite time adverbs) and attendant circumstances.

He left the stage amid thunderous applause. 

In the evening we came to the place again. 

He returned from London.

When adverbials refer to adjectives, adverbs, nouns, numerals, or pronouns they are usually placed close to these words, generally preceding them.

He is quite a hero. 

Mother was much upset about it.

Note:

The adverbial expressed by enough always follows the adjective it refers to.

     Are you warm enough? 

     He is a decent enough fellow.

For adverbials allowing of different reference (to a verb, to an adjective, etc.) any change of position may result in a change of meaning. Compare the following sentences:

Nearly all died. (They died with few exceptions.) 

All nearly died. (Everybody was on the verge of dying.)

The place of prepositions

§ 118. The usual place of a preposition is between the words the relation of which it denotes. However, in some cases it may be placed at the end of the sentence. These cases are:

1. When the prepositional object (a word or a clause) is in front 

  position.

This I can dispense with. 

What he says you can rely on.

2. When the prepositional object is made the subject of a passive 

  construction.
He was much laughed at. 

The bed has not been slept in.

3. In questions and exclamations, when the object is placed in front 

  position.

Who are you speaking to? 

What a nice girl she has grown into!

4. In contact attributive clauses in which the object to the predicate 

  belongs to the main clause or is only implied.

It is the very thing I've always dreamed of. 

It appeared better than we dared to hope for.

Inverted word order

§ 119. Another common pattern of word order is the inverted one (or inversion). We distinguish full inversion (when the predicate precedes the subject, as in Here comes the lady of the house) and partial inversion (when only part of the predicate precedes the subject, as in Happy may you be!). Some grammarians also distinguish double inversion (when parts of the predicate are placed separately before the subject, as in Hanging on the wall was a picture).

§ 120. In some cases inversion may be taken as a normal order of words in constructions with special communicative value, and is thus devoid of any special colouring. In other cases inversion is a sort of reordering for stylistic effect or for emphasis. First we enumerate those cases where inversion is a normal word order.

1. Inversion is used to distinguish between the communicative types of sentences. With this function it is employed in:

a) General questions, polite requests and in tag questions.

Is it really true?

Won’t you have a cup of tea?

You are glad to see me, aren’t you?

b) Pronominal questions, except questions to the subject and its 

  attribute, where direct word order is used.
What are the police after?

c) There-sentences with the introductory non-​local there, followed 

  by one of the verbs denoting existence, movement, or change of 

  the situation .

There has been an accident.

There is nothing in it.

There appeared an ugly face over the fence.

There occurred a sudden revolution in public taste.

There comes our chief.

d) Exclamatory sentences expressing wish, despair, indignation, or other strong 

    emotions.

Long live the king! 

Come what may!

e) Exclamatory sentences which are negative in form but positive 

  in meaning.

Have I not watched them! (= I have watched them.) 

Wouldn’t that be fun! (= It would be fun.)

f) Negative imperative sentences. 

Don’t you do it.

2. Inversion is used as a grammatical means of subordination in some complex sentences joined without connectors:

a) In conditional clauses.

Were you sure of it, you wouldn’t hesitate. 

Had she known it before, she wouldn’t have made this mistake.

b) In concessive clauses.

Proud as he was, he had to consent to our proposal.

c) In the second part of a sentence of proportional agreement 

    (although inversion is not obligatory in this case).

The more he thought of it, the less clear was the matter.

3. Inversion is used in sentences beginning with adverbs denoting place. This usage is traditional, going back to OE norms.

Here is another example.

There goes another bus (туда идет еще один автобус, еще автобус идет).                                                

4. Inversion is used in stage directions, although this use is limited to certain verbs.

Enter the King, the Queen. 

Enter Beatie Bryant, an ample blond.

5. Inversion may be used in sentences indicating whose words or thoughts are given as direct or indirect speech. These sentences may intro​duce, interrupt, or follow the words in direct or indirect speech, or may be given in parenthesis.

“That’s him,” said Tom (Tom said). 

How did he know, thought Jack, miserably.

Direct word order can also be used here.

6. Inversion is used in statements showing that the remark applies equally to someone or something else.

I am tired. - So am I. 

He isn’t ready. - Neither is she.

Note:

If the sentence is a corroboration of a remark just made, direct word order is used.

     You promised to come and see me. - So I did. 

     We may meet him later. - So we may.

The emphatic and communicative functions of word order

§ 121. The second function of word order is  to make prominent or emphatic that part of the sentence which is more important or informative in the speaker’s opinion. These two functions (to express prominence or information focus, and emphasis) are different in their purpose, but in many cases they go together or overlap, and are difficult to differentiate.

Prominence and emphasis are achieved by placing the word in an unusual position: words normally placed at the beginning of the sentence (such as the subject) are placed towards the end, whereas words usually occupying positions closer to the end of the sentence (such as objects and predicatives) are shifted to the beginning.

End position is always emphatic for the subject. Very often this reor​dering results in the detachment of the subject.

Must have cost a pretty penny, this dress of yours!

Fronting of an object or a predicative is also often accompanied by detachment.

Horrible these women are, ugly, dirty.

Many and long were the conversations they held through the prison wall.

For debt, drink, dancers he had a certain sympathy; but the pearls - no!

If the object is prepositional, the preposition may be put after the verb or verb-group, or else after the whole sentence.

This nowadays one hears not of.

However, front position of an object does not always mean that this part is emphasized. In some cases this sort of reordering is employed to get the predicate (or what is left of it) emphasized. Talent Mr. Macowber has, capital Mr. Macowber has not.

Front position is emphatic for adverbials (of time, manner, degree) usually attached to the predicate. It is often accompanied by inversion.

Well do I remember the day. 

Many a time has he given me good advice.

With words functioning now as adverbs, now as postpositions, front position reveals their adverbial nature most distinctly, as postpositions are never placed here. With this reordering the emphasis is thrown upon the predicate.

Off he went. 

Up they rushed.

For attributes emphasis may be achieved by putting them after their headword. In this way the modifier becomes the focus and has the principal stress of the word-group.

The day following was to decide our fate.

Note:

In assessing the emphatic effect of a postmodifying attribute we should bear in mind that for certain attributes this position is normal (see § 86).

However, the fixed patterns in English limit the opportunities to shift prominence or emphasis from one part of the sentence to another, especially for main parts. Therefore prominence and emphasis are generally achieved not by reordering, but by using special constructions. One such construction used for emphasizing the subject is the introductory non-local there + verb + noun, followed by an attributive clause.

There was a girl whom he loved. 

There comes a time when one should make up one’s mind.

Another device for shifting emphasis is the construction with the introductory it, the main information being supplied by the subordinate clause. By means of this construction emphasis may be thrown upon any part of the sentence, except the predicate. Such sentences are called cleft sentences. This can be illustrated by the following:

It was she who opened the door. 

It is not easy to find a position. 

It was to Moscow that she went.

Special emphasis on words functioning as direct or indirect object may be achieved by the use of the passive construction, in which the words to be emphasized are moved either to front position or closer to the end.

Compare the sentences:

The teacher gave the children an easy task.

The children were given an easy task by the teacher.

An easy task was given to the children by the teacher.

The linking function of word order

§ 122. The third function of word order is  to express continuity of thought in sentences (or clauses) following one another. This continuity is often supported by demonstrative pronouns and adverbs.

Some people looked down on him. Those people he despised.

They must sow their wild oats. Such was his theory.

And, oh, that look! On that look Euphemia had spent much anxious thought.

Women are terribly vain. So are men - more so, if possible.

Similarly, for purposes of enumeration, a word (or words) marking continuity is sometimes placed at the beginning of the sentence, with the verb immediately following.

Next comes the most amusing scene.

THE PREDICATIVE COMPLEXES

Predicative complexes (or constructions) are structures intermediate between a phrase and a clause. Unlike phrases they contain two words I which semantically are in subject-predicate relations to one another, as one (the nominal part) denotes the doer of the action or the bearer of the state or quality, while the other (the predicated part) may be either verbal (an infinitive, a participle, a gerund) or non-verbal (an adjective, a stative, an adverb, a noun). But unlike clauses the subject-predicate relations in complexes are not grammatically explicit, that is there is no finite verb-form in them, functioning as the verbal predicate or as a link-verb of a nominal predicate. Therefore complexes have neither real subject, nor real predicate.                          

Still as they have two parts with subject-predicate relations between them the complexes may be transformed into a clause, as in:

I heard him cry ——> I heard that he cried.

Other peculirities result from their structural features:

The fact that they are devoid of the finite verb form renders them dependent on the embedding sentence, and the very absence of the finite verb form is sufficient to show their dependent status as will be shown in the case of different constructions:

It raining cats and dogs, we stayed at home (adverbial). 

It is for you to decide it (predicative). 

I saw him cross the streat. (object)

But in most cases the dependent status of the construction is manifested by special structural devices of linking:

1. It may be overlapping (наложение) when the embedding sentence and the complex share a common element, as in the case of objective predicative complexes:


I saw  him enter this door.


where him has a double role, referring formally to the predicate of the embedding sentence (I saw him) and referring semantically to the complex, as it denotes the doer of the action ( he entered this door); in such cases the construction functions as one part of the sentence (a complex object).

In some cases overlapping is possible with verbs taking a preposition, then the latter is retained between the verb and predicative comples: 


We listened to him talking to his neighbour.


2. It may be blending (слияние), when elements of two structures blend into one syntactical part, usually into а соmpound predicate of double orientation when two elements refer to different doers of the action, as in the subjective predicative construction:


He is supposed    to have arrived   already —> It is supposed (they suppose) that he has arrived already.


The first part of the predicate refers to an implied doer not expressed in the sentence, though formally it agrees with the subject he. The second part to have arrived refers to the doer expressed by the subject, though grammatically the reference is not expressed. The elements of the complex structurally make two parts of the sentence - the subject and part of the predicate of double orientation.

Predicative complexes comprise the following structures: subjective predicative construction, objective predicative construction, nominative absolute predicative constructions, for-to-infinitive constructions, gerundial complexes.

The first two constructions have permanent functions in the sentence, the functions of the last three may vary.

Due to the nature of the second part of the constructions (verbal or non-verbal) all the constructions (complexes) fall into two large classes:

1. verbal constructions and 2. non-verbal constructions.

I. Verbal constructions can be transformed into clauses with a verbal predicate:

We saw the storm approaching ———> We saw that the storm was approaching.                                  

It raining cats and dogs, we stayed at home. ——> As it was raining cats and dogs, we stayed at home.

The train is reported to have landed. ———> lt is reported (They report) that the plane has landed.

II. Non-verbal constructions can be transformed into clauses too, but with a compound nominal predicate.

The door was painted green.——> The door was painted and it became green.

They elected him president.——> They elected him and he became president (and he is president now).

He stood there trembling with his face ablaze. ——> He stood and his face was ablaze.

Verbal constructions fall into two groups:

1. those containing an infinitive and 2. those containing a participle.

The infinitive constructions are:

the objective infinitive construction, the subjective infinitive construction, the for-to-infinitive construction   

and the absolute nominative infinitive construction.

The participial constructions are:

the objective participial construction, the subjective participial construc​tion, the nominative absolute  

participial construction and the prepositional absolute participial construction.

The subjective predicative constructions * 

* It is traditionally called the Complex Subject. The other term often used the Nominative with the infinitive construction does not embrace all variants, as the second element may be not an infinitive.

The subjective construction with an infinitive

§ 123. The construction consists of a noun (or a noun-pronoun) in the common case or a personal pronoun in the nominative case and an infinitive. The peculiarity of the construction is that the first element is separated from the second one by a finite verb-form which together with the infinitive forms a compound verbal predicate of double orientation, whereas the nominal part of the construction forms the subject of the sentence. Thus the construction does not function as one part of the sentence but falls into two parts each functioning separately.

Semantically of these two parts of the predicate only the second one refers to the subject, as only this part denotes either the action or the state of the person or non-person expressed by the subject. Thus in the sentence: He is said to know five languages it is the relation. He knows five languages that is important.

In between the subject and the infinitive there is a part of the predicate expressed by a finite verb which grammatically indicates subject-predicate relations. However, Semantically this finite verb cannot serve as the predicate of the subject, as it denotes some comment, or estimate, or judgement, or conclusion, or attitude to the action or state expressed by the infinitive. The comment or attitude comes from somebody not mentioned in the sentence, therefore such sentences can be transformed into complex ones with the indefinite-personal subject in the principal clause:

He is reported to have left. ————> They report (or somebody reports) that he has left.

The car was heard to turn round the corner. ——> They heard (somebody heard) that the car turned round  

the comer.

The subjective infinitive construction is used with a limited number of finite verbs either in the passive or in the active voice:

I. Verbs used in the passive voice fall into four groups:

1) verbs of sense perception (hear, see, observe, watch, etc.). When used in the passive voice they are followed by a to-infinitive. They express the idea of evidence. The same idea is also rendered by some other verbs in the passive voice (such as find, discover).

He was seen to enter the building. (Somebody was a witness of this fact)

They were heard to quarrel. (Somebody heard them and therefore was a witness of their quarrel)

The boy was found to be sleeping at home. (Somebody found the boy and he was sleeping)

2) verbs of mental perception (think, know, mean, believe, expect, consider, assume, presume, suppose) With this construction these verbs denote different shades of expectation, opinion, judgement:

Pat was supposed to come with me tonight.

The Paliament is expected to introduce some changes into the laws.

Programmed instruction is considered to have many advantages.

3) verbs of saying and reporting (say, report, declare, predict, etc). These verbs also express some judgement or opinion:

Blackberries are said to have a lot of vitamins. 

A new star was reported to have appeared in the East.

4) Causative verbs (cause, make, order, allow, etc.) The verb to make when used in the passive voice is followed by a to-infinitive.

Jule was made to repeat her words.

The doctor was ordered to change his shift.

No dam was allowed to be built in this part of the country.

II. The following verbs ace used in the active voice:

1. Verbs expressing subjective or personal attitude to facts and their evaluation (to seem, to appear, to happen, to chance, to turn out, etc.).

The structure seemed to have been properly designed.

Your friend turned out to be stronger than we expected.

Everybody appeared to be enjoying themselves.

He chanced to be in the park when I was there.

I was to tell you the news if I happened to run into you.

2. Modal phrases expressing different shades of probability or certainty (to be (un)likely, to be sure, to be certain, to be bound); also adjectives or nouns with the link-verb to be expressing estimate of different kind (pleasant, hard, easy, difficult, terrible, apt, etc.). As probability mostly implies a future action the non-perfect infinitive is generally used after to be likely. With modal phrases expressing certainty both non-perfect and perfect infinitives are possible. The modal phrases to be apt, to be bound generally refer to habitual actions or states and are accordingly followed by the non-perfect infinitive:

We are certain to come to an agreement.

You are not likely to believe my story.

A strawberry, unless fresh-picked, is bound to exude juice.

These objects are sure to be wanted as evidence.

He is always liable to do idiotic things.

A girl is apt to be a little nervous on her wedding day.

Chrisis is apt to strike suddenly like influenza.

Subjective predicative constructions with non-verbal (nominal) second parts

These constructions structurally belong to the same type of subjective predicative constructions, but semantically they are different from those with verbal parts, because the second part of the predicate being a noun or an adjective denotes a new quality or state acquired as a result of the action or denote judgement, opinion of the quality. Because of its meaning the nominal part is sometimes called a subjective predicative.

The door was painted green. 

Suddenly the door was flung open.

Some verbs require the second part of the predicate with the preposition as. 

The plan was declared as ridiculous and absurd.

The list of verbs used in these constructions partly coincides with verbs mentioned above as preceding the infinitive. Their number is limited. 

The following verbs are used in the passive voice:

1. Verbs of mental perception (to accept, to believe, to think, to consider, to expect, to presume, to estimate, to regard, to suppose, etc.); also verbs of saying and reporting (to declare, to describe, to call, to say, to report).

He is believed as honest as anyone here.

The girl was thought clever.

The plan is considered impractical.

He was called ‘rising’, ‘promising’ before.

2. Verbs implying that the result of the action will be a new quality, state, or reaction. These verbs are rather numerous and fall into several subclasses:

A. Verbs with causative meaning (to make, to render)

The room was made comfortable for the child.

He was made a knight.

The audience were rendered speechless by these words.

B. Verbs denoting an action resulting in the change of colour

(to paint, to tinge, to dye, to stain, to dust, etc.).

The walls were painted light pink.

Her hair was dyed red.

After staying on the beach an hour his skin was tinged pink.

His car had been dusted grey by the journey over bad roads.

С. Verbs denoting actions resulting in the change of social rank, status, function of, or giving identification to, a person (to appoint, to call, to christen, to elect, to raise, to select) to mark, etc.); also to train, to bring up, which acquire the meaning of “the change of social status” only in this construction.

He was appointed secretary of the state. 

The child was christened Fernando. 

The road to the estate was marked private. 

The boy had been brought up as a Catholic.

D. Verbs implying movement to a different position or state (to bring, to fling, to set, to tear, etc.).

All the windows were flung open. 

The little bird was set free. 

The envelope was torn open.

The objective predicative constructions*

* This construction is often called the complex object.

§ 124. The objective predicative construction functions as a complex object. It consists of a nominal part and a part which stands in subject-predicate relations to the first part. The nominal part is a noun or a noun-pronoun in the common case or a personal pronoun in the objective case. The second element of the construction is a verbal (an infinitive, participle I, participle II) or non-verbal (an adjective or a noun). Accordingly the following objective construction can be distinguished:

I. The objective with the infinitive construction:

I saw Nick take your book. 

We hate him to go away.

II. The objective with participle I (or participle II) construction:

They heard somebody knocking at the door. 

We found him murdered in his own house.

III. The objective with a non-verbal part construction:

I never thought her clever.

The objective with the infinitive construction

§ 125. This construction is the most recurrent as it may be used after a wider range of verbs, both taking a direct (I didn’t want him to see me here) and an indirect non-recipient object (We were relying on him to put things right); in the latter case the objective construction is introduced by the preposition generally used with this particular verb.

The objective predicative construction of this type is used after the following verbs:

1. Verbs of wish and intention (to wish, to want, to desire, to choose, to prefer, should/would like, to intend, to mean). Owing to the meaning of these verbs, the infinitive in the construction can be only non-perfect, as it denotes an unfulfilled action.

He would like you to see him in his office. 

I did not mean it to be told to her.

2. Verbs of emotion and attitude (to like, to dislike, to love, to hate, cannot/could not bear). Those too can be followed only by non-perfect forms of the infinitive.

I can’t bear people to be unhappy or upset. 

I hate you to go away.

3. Verbs of mental activity (to think, to suppose, to consider, to believe, to know, to find, to expect, to imagine, to understand, to assume, to acknowledge, to feel, to trust, etc.). After these verbs the infinitive may be used in any form, depending on the time relation between the two actions:

He believed Jennie to be playing in the garden. 

I supposed him to have been married to her years ago.

If the action of the infinitive refers to the person denoted by the subject, the corresponding reflexive pronoun is used.

I know myself to be rather slow.

4. Verbs of declaring (to declare, to report, to pronounce). With these all forms of the infinitive are possible.

They reported the plane to have been lost.

5. Causative verbs (to make, to have) take a complex object with a bare infinitive, usually it is a non-perfect infinitive, as the action is the result of inducement. The verb to gel takes a complex object with a to-infinitive.

With other verbs of inducement (to order, to command, to ask, to allow, etc.) the objective with the infinitive construction can have only the passive infinitive.

She would not allow the life of the child to be risked.

Note:

If the infinitive attached to such verbs is active, it does not form a complex with the preceding nominal part; both the elements should be treated as different parts of the sentence, the first as an indirect recipient object, the second as a direct object:

     He ordered him to come. (Whom did he order come? What did he order him?)

6. Verbs of perception (to see, to watch, to hear, to feel, to observe, to notice). After these verbs a bare non-perfect active infinitive is used.

We saw planes zoom into the air. 

They felt the earth shake under their feet.

After these verbs structures with the link verb to be are not used. Where the need arises, a subordinate clause is used.

I saw that she was pretty. (---/---> I saw her to be pretty.)

§ 126. As was mentioned in § 125 the objective with the infinitive construction may be used with a few verbs as their indirect non-recipient object. These verbs are to wait (for), to rely (on), to listen (to), to look (for), to count (upon). All of them except the verb to listen take the infinitive with the particle to. With the verb to listen a bare infinitive is used.

Can I really count upon him to undertake the job? 

I was relying on him to put things right. 

I listened to them talk about me.

The objective with participle I construction

This construction comprises a noun in the common case or a pronoun in the objective case and participle I, which is in subject-predicate relation to the nominal part. In comparison with the infinitive in this position participle I shows more clearly the durative character of the action. The construction functions as a complex object.

§ 127. The objective with participle I construction can be used with verbs of three semantic groups, although with two of them it occurs very seldom. In all cases only non-perfect forms of participle I can be used. These groups are as follows:

1. Verbs of sense perception (see, hear, feel).

There we saw the crocodiles swimming about. 

Over his shoulder he could hear them snuffing. 

I felt tears running down my chieks.

2. Verbs of wish. These verbs combine with the construction only occasionally.

Nobody wanted him going there alone.

3. The causative verbs to have and to get.

He got them running his errands every day. 

We’ll have them trembling with fear.

The objective with participle II construction

§ 128. This construction shows that the action expressed by participle II is (or was) performed not by the person denoted by the nominal part due to the passive meaning of participle II for most verbs. However after the verbs to have, to get, to want participle II may denote an action performed at the request of the person denoted by the nominal part.

The objective with participle II construction can be attached to verbs of four semantic groups.

1. Verbs of sense perception (to see, to hear, to feel, to watch):

We heard the door shut.

They watched him examined by the doctor.

I heard my name echoed in the distance.

2. A few verbs of mental activity (to think, to believe, to consider, to remember).

At first she thought Johnny killed.

3. Verbs of wish.

Nobody wanted it done in such a way.

4. The causative verbs to have and to get. With these verbs the construc​tion means that the action of  

     participle II is done for the benefit of the person expressed by the nominal part of the construction.

How do you think the men would have their wounds dressed, get themselves washed, have their beds  

made if nobody worked on a Sunday?

The objective with participle construction attached to the verbs of this group cannot be transformed into object clauses because these verbs do not take object that- clauses.

Objective constructions with non-verbals

§ 129. Adjectives and nouns which form the second part of these objective constructions are in subject-predicate relations to the first part and show what the person or non-person expressed by it is or becomes, or what quality it acquired. Because of its meaning the nominal part is often called an objective predicative.

These constructions may be used after the following verbs:

I. Verbs of mental activity and sense perception, which acquire in this construction the meaning of judgement, opinion or conclusion (to appreciate, to believe, to claim, to class, to consider, to condemn, to count, to deem, to esteem, to fancy, to feel, to figure, to imagine, to impart, to interpret, to judge, to look (at, on, upon), to perceive, to picture, to place, to pronounce, to recognize, to regard, to see, to sum up, to take, to think, to view, to visualize, etc.); also after some other verbs (to find, to discover, to welcome, etc.) expressing the same meaning. Occasionally a non-verbal element is introduced by the prepositions as or for.

He judged her young and pleasing. 

The girl condemned herself as stupid. 

They saw him as the greatest man in Europe. 

The town esteemed him as a successful man. 

I figured you for a good guy.

These constructions may be transformed into object clauses:

I thought it a wonderful opportunity ——> I thought that it was a wonderful opportunity.

He found his life dull ——> He found that his life was dull.

Several verbs of this group (to consider, to deem, to feel, to find, to regard, to suppose, to think, and some others) may take a complex object with the nominal part expressed by a verbal (an infinitive, a gerund) or by a clause. In this case the formal introductory object it is used:

Не thought it useless going to Paris .——> He thought that going to Paris was useless.

I consider it possible to talk to him now.

They will think it strange that you should be frightened.

II. Verbs implying that the result of the action will be a new quality, state, social standing, or attitude to the action. These verbs are rather numerous and form several semantic subclasses.

A. Verbs with causative meaning (to make, to render, to hit, to have, to worry, to scare, etc.) implying  

     change of state or impression, as in:

This blow made him crazy.

The sight of the animal scared the boy stiff.

His sudden appearance rendered us speechless.

B. Verbs denoting the action resulting in the change of colour (to paint, to dye, to stain, to tinge, to  

     dust)

They painted the door green. 

She has dyed her hair blonde. 

The storm dusted everything grey.

C. Verb denoting actions resulting in the change of social rank, status, function of, or giving  

     identification to, a person (to appoint, to call, to christen, to elect, to raise, to select, etc.) as in:

They elected him President.

They appointed him chief in the office.

I’ll raise my kid a Catholic.

The parents christened the boy Paul.

They deliberately selected Elizabeth as an ideal mother-substitute.

D. Verbs denoting motion, movement to a different position or state (to bring, to carry, to deliver, to  

     fing, to kick, to march, to pick, to put, to send, to tear, to toss, etc.).

She pulled the drawer open. 

I tore the letter open. 

Christin kicked the door open. 

The girl clicked her bag shut.

Most of the verbs in group II have a very general vague meaning, they are often incomplete without the adjective or noun denoting the result of the action. Therefore they are very closely connected with it, forming a set expression:

	
to make
	somebody 

something
	crazy (mad, happy, important, famous, an eager listener, restless, stunned)

invisible (concrete, interesting, handy, certain, clear) 


to make oneself agreable (comfortable, cosy)

	to set    

	somebody 

something
	free

straight


to drive mad (crazy, desperate) 

to leave somebody stunned (doubtful, weak, indifferent, blind, crippled)


	to keep
	somebody 

something
	busy

clean (handy)



	to consider
	somebody 

something
	responsible (famous, big, great, unique, a master, charming, pleasing, awful)

as possible (extreme, ridiculous, dreadful, a nuisance)


	to render
	somebody 

something
	spellbound (speechless, motionless, blind, dumb.) 

useless (hopeless, unimportant)


	to have
	somebody 

something
	as a teacher 

clear (right, definite)



	to count
	somebody 

something
	an enemy (a friend, as the greatest man) 

as useless (as ugly, as most attractive)


The absolute nominative constructions

§ 130. These constructions are called ‘absolute’ because they are not dependent on any other part of the including sentence, though they cannot be used without it, as they lack a finite verb form and thus have no predicate.

From the point of view of their transformational possibility, absolute constructions fall into two types, verbal and non-verbal ones.

I. Constructions with verbals as their second part. When transformed into clauses they retain their predicate part, which takes a proper tense-aspect form.

She sat on the porch, Mary playing with her doll ————> She sat on the porch, and (while) Mary was 

playing with her doll.

The clauses resulting from such transformations usually have a simple verbal predicate. If the second part includes a form of the verb to be, the predicate of the clause is, of course, a compound nominal one:

It being late, he went home ——> As it was late, he went home.

II. Constructions with non-verbals with an adjective, a stative, an adverb or a noun (with a preposition) as their second part. When transformed into clauses, a proper form of the link verb to be must be introduced, as these constructions lack a verbal component of their own.

He marched out of the room, his head high up ——> He marched out of the room, and his head was high  

up.

Thus clauses resulting from the transformation of constructions of this type always have a compound nominal predicate.

§ 131. Absolute constructions may have two forms: non-prepositional and prepositional. The latter is introduced by the preposition with (in the case of the infinitive construction it may be without).

Dinner over, everybody rose. 

He was slowly coming to us, with his hands up.

Non-prepositional absolute constructions

§ 132. Non-prepositional absolute constructions are: the absolute nominative with participle I construction, the absolute nominative with participle II construction, the absolute nominative with the infinitive construction, the absolute nominative with the adjective construction, the absolute nominative with the adverb construction, the absolute nominative with a prepositional noun construction.

The absolute nominative with participle I construction is the most frequently used. It consists of a noun in the common case or a personal pronoun in the objective case and participle I. Within it all forms of participle I are possible.

It being late, he bolted the windows. 

Everything remained as she left it, the fire still burning.

As can be seen from the above examples, the position of the construction varies: it may either open the sentence or close it.

The absolute nominative with participle I construction is generally used as an adverbial of reason or of attendant circumstances, although sometimes it is an adverbial of time. Occasionally, especially with the verbs to permit or to fail, it is an adverbial of condition.

The construction should be translated into Russian by means of different corresponding adverbial clauses:

1. Of reason.

The weather being unusually mild at that time for the season of the year, there was no sleighing ——>As  

the weather was... 

(Поскольку (так как) погода была...)

2. Of attendant circumstances. In this case the construction usually comes at the end of the sentence.

With a yell, he sprang back, a sweat coming on his skin ———> ... and a sweat came... (и кожа его  

покрылась потом.)

3. Of time.

The car having stopped, the boys jumped out onto the grass ——> When the car stopped... (Когда  

машина остановилась...)

4. Of condition.

Circumstances permitting, they will be through with it by the end of May ——> If circumstances 

permit... (Если обстоятельства позво​лят...)

The absolute nominative with participle II construction is usually an adverbial modifier of attendant circumstances or time:

1. Of attendant circumstances.

“Bye,” he said, and walked away, his farewell unanswered ——> ...but   his farewell was unanswered,  

(...но его прощание оста​лось без ответа.)

2. Of time.

Dinner served, Mrs Marlow rang the bell  ——> When dinner was served... (Когда обед был подан...)

The absolute nominative with the infinitive construction functions as an adverbial modifier of attendant circumstances.

There they remained, some of them to be entirely forgotten ——> ...and some of them were to be entirely  

Forgotten. (...причем некоторым суждено было быть полностью забытыми.)

The absolute nominative constructions with non-verbals differ from those described above in that their predicate part is verbless, being expressed only by an adjective, stative, adverb or a noun with a preposition. They are semantically in predicate relations to the nominal part of the construction. Therefore in case of transformation an appropriate form of the link verb to be must be supplied.

He stepped forward, his face red with anger ——> ...and his face was red with anger.

I. The absolute nominative with the adjective construction may be an adverbial of attendant circumstances or of reason:

1. Of attendant circumstances.

She stood under the tree, her head full of strange ideas ——> ...and her head was full... (...и голова ее 

была полна...)

2. Of reason.                                     .

Her heart full of despair, she could not say a word ——> As her heart was full... (Так как сердце ее 

было переполнено отчая​нием...)

II. The absolute nominative with the stative construction is usually an adverbial of reason or manner:

1. Of reason.

The gallery door slightly ajar, I could hear the steps of the soldiers ———> As the gallery door was 

slightly ajar... (Так как дверь была слегка приоткрыта...)

2. Of  manner.

This time the fish attacked from below. It hurtled up under the woman, jaws agape ——> ...and its jaws 

were agape. (...с открытой пастью.)

III. The absolute nominative with the adverb construction is usually an adverbial of time.

Tea over, she again summoned us to the fire ——> When tea was over... (После чая...)

IV. The absolute nominative with a prepositional noun construction is usually either an adverbial of attendant circumstances or time:

1. Of attendant circumstances.

I waited, every nerve upon the stretch ———>...and every nerve was upon the stretch. (...и каждый нерв 

у меня был напряжен.)

2. Of time.

All in the room, she called in Molly ———> When all were in the room... (Когда все собрались в 

комнате...)

Prepositional absolute constructions

§ 133. There are prepositional absolute constructions with participle I or II, with an infinitive, with an adjective, with a stative, with an adverb, or with a prepositional noun. All function mainly as adverbials of attendant circumstances, although sometimes they may be other adverbials. All of them can be transformed into clauses.

I. The prepositional absolute construction with participle I.

With his head aching from the slap of the bullet and the blood dripping over the ear, he went over to the 

Frenchman ———> He went over to the Frenchman, his head was aching... and the blood was dripping... 

(...голова у него болела... кровь сочилась.)

II. The prepositional absolute construction with participle II.

A Negro boy lay on the pavement, with his throat cut ——> ...and his throat was cut. (...с перерезанным горлом.)

III. The prepositional absolute construction with the infinitive.

You’ll lose the last minutes, without someone to take care of you ———>...if nobody takes care of you. (...если никто о тебе не позаботится.)

This construction is very seldom used.

IV. Prepositional absolute constructions with non-verbals.

1. The prepositional absolute construction with the adjective. 

    She hurriedly left the room with her eyes red ———> ...and her eyes were red. (...и глаза у нее были   

     красные.)

2. The prepositional absolute construction with the stative.

He stood there trembling, with his face ablaze ——> ...and his face was ablaze. (...и лицо его 

пылало.)

3. The prepositional absolute construction with the adverb.

He turned away, with his hand still up ——>...and his hand was still up. (... все еще не опуская руки.)

4. The prepositional absolute construction with a noun.

They marched towards the square, with little flags in their hands ———> ...and there were little flags 

in their hands. (...с флаж​ками в руках.)

The for-to-infinitive constructions

§ 134. The for-to-infinitive construction is expressed by a noun in the common case or a personal pronoun in the objective case and an infinitive with the particle to. It is introduced by the preposition for. The construction may function as different parts of the sentence:

1. Subject. In this function it usually follows introductory it and is very seldom placed before the predicate.

It was practically impossible for them to meet anybody. 

For one to spend a summer with them was a wonderful experience.

2. Predicative. The usual link verb is to be, although other link verbs are also possible.

That is not for me to decide. 

What it all means remains for an expert to say.

3. Object. The construction can be used as an indirect non-recipient object of certain verbs (to ask, to watch) and adjectives (anxious, eager, impatient, sorry, willing, etc.).

I watched for him to appear through the bushes. 

Everybody was impatient for the experiment to begin.

4. Attribute. In this function it modifies nouns or indefinite, negative, and universal pronouns.

She gave orders for everyone to stop packing. 

There was nothing for him to say.

5. Adverbial modifier:

a) of purpose.

I rang for you to show the lady out.

Unlike the infinitive, the for-to-construction in this function can be placed only after the predicate.

b) of consequence.

The chance was too good for Jack to miss it.

The real cause of the explosion was evident enough for everyone to discuss it.

The gerundial predicative constructions

§ 135. The gerundial predicative construction is a predicative com​plex in which the nominal part is generally a noun/noun-pronoun in the possessive case or a possessive pronoun. Sometimes, however, it may be a noun/noun-pronoun in the common case or a personal pronoun in the objective case. The construction may function as different parts of the sentence:

1. Subject. It is used either with or without the introductory it.

Your doing nothing won’t help anybody. 

Is it worth while your quarrelling all the time?

2. Predicative.

The only way out will be his taking the job.

3. Object. The construction may be either a direct object to a verb or an indirect non-recipient object to a verb or adjective.

She liked his worrying about his wife. 

He insisted on my claims being acknowledged.

4. Attribute. The construction is generally used with the preposition of, althougt other prepositions are also possible.

The prospect of someone else getting a job moved them to strong moral indignation.

5. Adverbial modifier:

a) of time.

After his being away for some time the crisis came.

b) of attendant circumstances.

The car slid away without my having to say anything.

c) of concession.

In spite of it being cold the bushes swarmed with insects.

In this function the construction is always introduced by a preposition.

THE COMPOSITE SENTENCE

§ 136. The composite sentence is a sentence consisting of two or more clauses. In its structure a clause is similar to a simple sentence, but unlike a simple sentence it forms part of a bigger syntactical unit.

Within a composite sentence clauses may be joined by means of coordination or subordination, thus forming a compound or a complex sentence respectively.

Coordination is a way of linking grammatical elements to make them equal in rank.

Subordination is a way of linking grammatical elements that makes one of them dependent upon the other (or they are mutually dependent).

1. The door of Henry’s lunch-room opened, and two men came in.

2. I have come to you, because I know from reading your accounts that you are Mr Sherlock Holme’s most  

    intimate acquaintance.

These sentences may be graphically presented in the following way:

	1.
	The door... opened
	————and————
	two men came in

	
	
	
	

	2.
	I have come to
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	you because I know...
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	that you are...
	
	


A compound sentence may contain coordinate clauses extended by subordinate clauses, and the resulting structure is a compound-complex sentence.

Pooh was very proud when he heard this, and he felt that Heffalump was as good as caught already, but    

there was just one other thing which had to be thought about.
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A complex sentence may contain subordinate clauses joined by means of coordination, the resulting structure being a complex sentence with homogeneous subordinate clauses.

I must impress upon you again that you are in a very great danger, and that the utmost frankness is 

necessary.
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THE COMPOUND SENTENCE

§ 137. A compound sentence consists of two or more clauses of equal rank which form one syntactical whole in meaning and intonation. Clauses that are parts of a compound sentence are called coordinate, as they are joined by coordination.

Coordinate clauses may be linked together with or without a connector; in the first case they are joined syndetically.

Yesterday I bought a penny fiddle

And put it to my chin to play,

But I found its strings painted,                     

So I threw my fiddle away.

in the second case - asyndeticaily:

Humpty Dumpty sat on a wall, 

Humpty Dumpty had a great fall;

All the king’s horses, and all the king’s men 

Cannot put Humpty Dumpty together again.

Syndetic coordination is realized with a number of connectors - conjunctions, such as and, but, or, nor, for, etc., or with conjunctive adverbs, such as moreover, besides, however, yet, still, otherwise, therefore, etc.

In writing coordinate clauses may be marked off by a comma, a semicolon, a colon or occasionally a dash. Sometimes they are not separated graphically at all. In speaking they are separated by pauses.

§ 138. The main semantic feature of the compound sentence is that it follows the flow of thought; thus the content of each successive clause is related to the previous one. Hence come two syntactical features of the compound sentence which distinguish it from the complex sentence.

The first is as follows. The opening clause mostly plays the leading role, and each successive clause is joined to the previous clause.

Note :

A sentence may begin with a coordinating connector, but in this case the whole sentence is joined to the previous sentence in the text.

     The first time Mrs. Moffat invited him to watch television with her, Simon declined. He would rather  

      read, he said. So she gave him books, she gave him classics. But the books he craved were garden books.

The second feature is that the clauses are sequentially fixed. Thus a coordinate clause cannot change place with the previous one without changing or distorting the meaning of the whole sentence, as in:

It was pitch dark, for the fog had come down from London in the night, and all Surbiton was wrapped in 

its embraces.

However the change is possible if the clauses contain description. The third feature is that coordinate clauses, either opening or subsequent, may belong to different communicative types.

You may go, but don’t be late for dinner! (declarative and imperative clauses)

I had to leave at once, for whatever else could I have done? (declarative and interrogative clauses)

§ 139. From the point of view of the relationship between coordinate clauses, we distinguish four kinds of coordinate connection: copulative, adversative, disjunctive and causative-consecutive. The type of connection is expressed not only by means of coordinating connectives, but also by the general meaning of clauses conveyed by their lexical and grammatical content. This accounts for asyndetic coordination and for various uses of the conjunction and, when it expresses other relations - that of contrast or consequence.

§ 140. Copulative coordination implies that the information conveyed by coordinate clauses is in some way similar.

The copulative connectors are: the conjunctions and, nor, neither... nor, not only... but (also), as well as, and the conjunctive adverbs then, moreover, besides.                         

And is the conjunction most frequently used to realize copulative coordination. It may suggest mere addition.

Then she went home and wrote Brody a thank-you note for being so nice, and she also wrote a note to the 

chief of police commending young Martin Brody.

The events described in copulative coordinate clauses may be simultaneous or successive.

The black Cadillac made its hunting sound through the night, and the tyres sang on the slab, and the black 

fields stretched with mist swept by. (simultaneity)

The front door to the house opened, and a man and a woman stepped out on the wooden porch. 

(succession)

Occasionally the second clause may contain some commentary on the previous clause.

She was familiar with the petty social problems, and they bored her.

Owing to its vague copulative meaning the conjunction and may also link clauses with adversative or causative-consecutive connections. The meaning of the second clause is either contrasted to the first or contains its consequence.

Why were her own relations so rich, and Phil never knew where the money was coming from for to-

morrow’s tobacco?

In sentences beginning with a verb in the imperative mood, the first clause implies a condition for the fulfilment of the action in the second clause.

Take these pills, and you will feel better. (If you take...)

The conjunction nor joins two negative clauses.

I didn’t recognize the girl, nor did I remember her name.

The correlative pairs neither... nor, not only... but (also) express mere addition, sometimes with accentuation on the second clause.

I not only remembered the girl’s name, but I also knew everything about her family.

The conjunctive adverb then joins clauses describing successive events. 

We went along the street, then we turned to the left.

Copulative connection may also be expressed asyndetically, the clauses so joined may describe simultaneous or successive events.

Our Elsie was looking at her with big imploring eyes; she was frowning; she wanted to go. (simultaneity)

§ 141. Adversative coordination joins clauses containing opposition, contradiction or contrast. Adversative connectors are: the conjunctions but, while, whereas, the conjunctive adverbs however, yet, still, nevertheless, and the conjunctive particle only. Adversative coordination may also be realized asyndetically. The main adversative conjunction is but, which expresses adversative connection in a very general way. The clause introduced by but conveys some event that is opposite to what is expected from the contents of the first clause.

The story was amusing, but nobody laughed.

But may join clauses contrasted in meaning.

The English system of noun forms is very simple, but the system of verb forms is most intricate.

The conjunctions while and whereas specialize in expressing contrastive relations.

Peter is an engineer, while his brother is a musician.

Some people prefer going to the theatre, whereas others will stay at home watching TV programmes.

Contrastive relation may be conveyed by asyndetic coordination.

Two or three scenes stood out vividly in his mind - all the rest became a blur.

Among coordinative connectives the particle only is frequently used to join clauses with adversative connection, mainly in colloquial English.

There was an electric light, only Arthur had not switched it on.

§142. Disjunctive coordination implies a choice between two mutually exclusive alternatives. The disjunctive conjunctions are or, either... or, the conjunctive adverbs are else (or else), otherwise.

You can join us at the station, or we can wait for you at home.

The correlative either emphasizes the exclusion of one of the alternatives. 

Either listen to me, or I shall stop reading to you.

The clause introduced by or may express a restatement or correction of what is said in the first clause.

We were talking about a lot of things, or rather he was talking and I was listening.

Coordinate clauses joined by disjunctive connectors may contain an implied condition, real or unreal.

Hurry up, or you will be late. (real condition implied) (If you don’t hurry, you will be late.)

If the first part is negative, the implied condition is positive.

Don’t be late, otherwise you may not be let in. (If you are late, you may not be let in.)

John is busy, otherwise he would be here. (unreal condition implied) (If John weren’t busy, he would be 

here.)

John is busy, or he would have come. (If John were not busy, he would have come.)

John was busy last night, otherwise he would have come. (If he hadn’t been busy, he would have come.)

§ 143. Causative-consecutive coordination joins clauses connected in such a way that one of them contains a reason and the other - a consequence. The second clause may contain either the reason or the result of the event conveyed by the previous clause. The only causative coordinating conjunction is for.

The days became longer, for it was now springtime.

A causative clause may be also joined asyndetically.

At first I thought that they were brother and sister, they were so much alike.

The conjunction for is intermediate between subordination and coordination. It is most often treated as a coordinating conjunction, because its semantic application is to introduce clauses containing an explanation or justification of the idea expressed by the previous clause.

The land seemed almost as dark as the water, for there was no moon.

Sometimes the consequence may serve as a justification of the previous statement.

John must have gone, for nobody answers the call.

A for-clause differs from a subordinate clause of reason in that it never precedes the clause it is joined to. If a sentence begins with for, it means that the sentence is linked with the previous one.

When I saw her in the river I was frightened. For at that point the current was strong.

Consecutive connectives are conjunctions so, so that, and conjunctive adverbs therefore, hence, then, thus.

The weather was fine, so there were many people on the beach.

So that is a conjunction intermediate between subordination and coordination. When used after a comma in writing or a pause in speaking its connection with the previous clause is looser and it performs the function of a coordinating conjunction.

John is unlikely to come soon, so that we’d better go home.

THE COMPLEX SENTENCE

§ 144. While coordination is a connection of two or more clauses of equal rank and function, subordination is usually defined as a non-symmetrical relation, that is, in a complex sentence with a minimal composition of two clauses, one is the basic element, whereas the other is a constituent or part of the first. The first one is called the main (or principal) clause, the second the subordinate clause.

Formal indicators of subordination (connectors)

§ 145. Subordination is marked by some formal signals contained either in the subordinate clause (This is the news which he didn’t know; You should pardon John, as he didn’t know the rules; He was turning round the corner when we saw him), or in both — the main and the subordinate clause (He was as ignorant as any uneducated person is. The more he looked at the picture, the more he liked it).

These formal signals may be conjunctions or connectives.

Conjunctions are specialized formal devices (connectors) the only function of which is to link clauses and express the relation between them. They usually stand at the beginning of a subordinate clause. The only exception to this rule is the complex sentence with a concessive clause, where owing to partial inversion the conjunction may come second, after the word which is the focus of concessive meaning (tired though he was..., hard as we tried...).

Conjunctions may be one word-form (that, because, though, etc.), phrasal (in order that, providing that, for all that, so far as, etc.), or paired (or correlative, that is, correlated with some element(s) in the principal clause: as... as, such... as, etc.). Some conjunctions may be used in combination with particles (even if, even though, even when, just as, if only).

Connectives combine two functions - that of linking clauses and that of a part in the subordinate clause: He doesn’t care what happens to us; This is where we live, etc. (what has a linking function and at the same time is the subject of the subordinate clause; likewise, where has a linking function and is an adverbial of place).

Connectives are subdivided into conjunctive words (conjunctive subordinating pronouns and adverbs), which are used to join nominal clauses and relative words (pronouns and adverbs), used to join attributive clauses. Some conjunctive and relative words coincide in form, and it is therefore necessary to give some criterion according to which the two types can be distinguished.

The difference between conjunctive words and relative words lies in their role within the sentence or clause. In the case of conjunctive words the choice is determined by the structure and meaning of the subordinate clause itself:

I don’t know who he is. (who is a predicative: he is who) 

I don’t know where he is. (where is an adverbial: he is where) 

I don’t know when he will come next time. (when is an adverbial: he will come next time when)

In the case of relative words the choice depends on the antecedent: in the main clause:

This is the man whom we spoke about yesterday.

This is the book which I promised you.

This is the place where we live.

This is the time when we usually have dinner.
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When clauses are joined by connectors they are said to be joined syndetically. If no special linking element is used they are said to be joined asyndetically. In some cases inversion is employed as a signal to indicate the subordination of one clause to another.

Some subordinating conjunctions are homonymous with prepositions (like, fill), some with both prepositions and adverbs (after, since, before). Some are homonymous with participles (supposing, provided), some resemble nouns and nominal phrases denoting time (the very moment, the next time, the instant, the second) or adverbs (immediately, directly, once).

§ 146. Although the relationship of subordination requires only two members, a complex sentence may consist of more than two clauses. It may form a hierarchy of clauses. This is called consecutive or successive subordination.

I see [that you have lost the key (which I gave you)]

Accordingly the structure of the sentence is:

Main clauses ← Subordinate clause ← Subordinate clause

The main clause may have several subordinate clauses of equal rank, that is coordinated with one another. This kind of relationship is called parallel subordination or   co-subordination, and the subordinate clauses are homogeneous.

I know that you are afraid of me and that you suspect me of something.

In this case the structure of the sentence is:

	
Main clause
	Subordinate clause

|

and

|

Subordinate clause


The main clause may have several subordinate clauses with different functions.

All she saw was that she might go to prison for a robbery she had committed years ago.

	Main clause 

All... was...
	<——————————————
	Predicative clause

... that she might go to prison for a robbery...

	↑
	
	↑

	Attributive clause.. ...she saw...
	
	Attributive clause

.. .she had committed years ago.


Occasionally the two ways of joining clauses may result in a sentence of great complexity, when two or more main clauses are coordinated, each of them being the “main” in relation to their subordinate clauses.

The walls were panelled, because this was the office of the department chairman, and because this 

department was physics, the panels held small engraved portraits of Newton, Leibnitz, Faraday, and other 

scientists.

	Main clause 

The walls were panelled
	—————and————————
	main clause 

the panels held small engraved portraits of... scientists

	↑
	
	↑

	Subordinate clause of cause...because this was the office of the department chairman
	
	Subordinate clause of cause

...because this department was physics...


§ 147. Subordination is used to join clauses with a different degree of interdependence or fusion, in the same way as parts of the sentence are joined to one another with a different intensity of connection. Therefore some clauses - subject, predicative, most object clauses - are obligatory for the completeness of main parts, which are otherwise deficient. For instance, in the sentence I think you are right it is impossible to drop the object clause, as the part I think makes no sense. In the same way if we drop the predicative clause in the sentence My opinion was that there was something behind, the part left *My opinion was is ungrammatical.

As can be seen from the examples given above, the role of a subordinate clause for the completeness of the main clause is closely connected with the function of the former.

Most adverbial clauses are optional, not essential for the completeness of the main clause. Thus if we drop the subordinate part in the following sentence, the part left will be identical with a simple sentence.

We’ll have dinner at 8 o’clock, when you come. 

We’ll have dinner at 8 o'clock.

According to its syntactic function and the word it refers to, the subordinate clause may be placed before, after, or in the middle of the main clause. Punctuation also depends on these factors: if closely connected, a clause may be joined without any punctuation mark.

I know he is here. 

This is the man I told you about.

If the connection is rather loose the clause may be commad off. 

Should you see him, give him my regards.

In some cases, especially in the case of asyndetic connection, a subordinate clause may be separated by a dash to mark the borderline be​tween the clauses.

The evil simply was - he had missed his vocation: he should have been a soldier, and circumstances had 

made him a priest.

Semantically the main clause generally dominates the subordinate clause, as it contains the main information of the utterance. However, there are cases when one part is as important as the other, and even cases when the subordinate clause is the central informative part of the sentence and the main clause is less important, introductory, maintaining only the immediate communicative connection with the listener:

I asked him if he knew the man.

There are cases when the main clause is relegated to a link-verb only:

What he says is not what he thinks.

Complex sentences are classified according to the function of the subordinate clauses (that is, according to their meaning and position in relation to the main clause).

Functional classification of subordinate clauses

§ 148. Subordinate clauses function as different parts of the sentence (subject, predicative, object, apposition, attribute, adverbial modifier). Traditionally these numerous types of clauses are arranged in three groups: nominal clauses (that is, clauses functioning as nouns in various syntactical positions), attributive clauses, and adverbial clauses.

The complex sentence with nominal clauses

§ 149. All nominal clauses have a function approximating to that of a noun or a nominal phrase. They may fulfil the function of a basic part of the main clause: a subject clause functions as subject of the main clause which has no subject of its own, a predicative clause functions as predicative to the link verb within the main clause; an object clause refers to verbs in different forms and functions, to adjectives, statives and occasionally to nouns, and may be obligatory or optional. Another type of the nominal clause - an appositive clause, refers to a noun either with a very general meaning or requiring additional information and is therefore essential to the meaning of the sentence.

Owing to their essential structural and semantic role in the sentence, all nominal clauses are very closely connected with the main clause, and if such a clause is removed, both the structure and meaning of the sentence are changed or become ungrammatical. Because of the close relationship between the clauses the complex sentence is pronounced as one whole, and the subordinate clause is not commad off, unless it is much extended and contains constructions or detached parts.

Since nominal clauses function as essential structural parts of the sentence, their relations to the main clause are confined to such purely grammatical sentential relations as subjective, predicative, objective and appositive.

The complex sentence with a subject clause

§ 150. A subject clause may be introduced by conjunctions (that, if, whether, whether... or, because, the way) or connectives. The latter may be either conjunctive pronouns (who, whoever, what, whatever, which) or conjunctive adverbs (where, wherever, when, whenever, how, why).

Types of subject clauses

§ 151. Complex sentences with subject clauses may be of two patterns:

I. When a subject clause precedes the predicate of the main clause:

What I need is a piece of good advice.

Whether I talked or not made little difference.

Because I ask too many questions does not mean I am curious.

How the book will sell depends on its plot and the author.

That he is a madman in an advanced stage of mania goes without saying.

Whoever moved in next would need it more than I.

Subject clauses of this type cannot be joined asyndetically, as the opening words signal the subordinate status of the clause. The main clause having no subject is deficient in its structure and meaning unless joined with the subordinate clause. Thus the combination of words *is a good piece of advice is neither complete in its structure nor in its meaning without the subject:

What you say is a good piece of advice.

II. When a subject clause is in final position, the usual place of the subject being occupied by formal it:

It seemed unfair to him that he should suffer more than his wife. 

It is understood that modern science allows such experiments.

In exclamatory sentences the formal it may be only implied.

How wonderful that they should meet at last! (How wonderful it is...)

In this pattern of the complex sentence the subject clause may be joined asyndetically.

The complex sentence with a predicative clause

§ 152. A predicative clause may be introduced by conjunctions (that, whether, whether... or, as, as if, as though, because, lest, the way), or connectives. The latter may be conjunctive pronouns (who, whoever, what, whatever, which) or conjunctive adverbs (where, wherever, when, whenever, how, why).

The fact was that he had forgotten about it.

The only reason for my coining is because I hoped to see you again.

Our fear was lest we should miss him in the crowd.

That’s what he wants you to think.

The choice of conjunction is closely connected with the meaning of the word functioning as the subject of the main clause. Thus the conjunction because is used when the word functioning as subject expresses reason, the conjunction whether — when it expresses doubt or implies choice. The connective when is used when the noun functioning as subject expresses a temporal notion (time, day, evening, moment) and the connective where is used when it denotes a place. Thus in the sentence given above The only reason for my coming is because I hoped to see you again the meaning of the subject reason predetermines the use of the conjunction because. In the same way in the sentence The question is whether we can manage without him the meaning of the subject question predetermines the conjunction whether.

This, however, does not mean that a certain conjunction is the only possible one, and that no other can be used after a certain word functioning as subject.

If the subject denotes order, proposal, request, suggestion, arrangement, desire, etc., the conjunction that is generally used, followed by a clause with the predicate in the subjunctive mood (should + infinitive).

The regulation was that the first examination should be done in writing.

Our proposal is that you should join in.

Their suggestion was that no one should interfere.

Predicative clauses with comparative meaning are introduced by the comparative conjunctions as, as if, as though.

It was as though our last meeting was forgotten. 

Everything remained as it used to be in this room. 

She looks as if she were ill.

Note:

Predicative clauses introduced by the conjunctions as, as if, as though should not be confused with adverbial clauses of comparison introduced by the same conjunctions. A predicative clause immediately follows the link verb, which does not express complete predication without the clause. In the case of an adverbial clause, the preceding verb is that of complete predication and the clause may be distant from the verb it modifies, for instance:

     Mrs Abinger hated to be talked to as if she were a child.

     The Frenchman nodded vigorously, as though it were the most reasonable statement in the world.

Predicative clauses may be joined asyndetically. In this case they are usually separated by a comma or a dash.

The result was, his master raised his wages a hundred a month.

As can be seen from the above examples, a predicative clause has a fixed position in the sentence - it always follows a link verb, with which it forms a compound nominal predicate. The link verbs used with predicative clauses are far less numerous than those used with the nonclausal predicatives. The most common are to be, to feel, to look, to seem. Less frequent are to appear, to remain, to become, to sound, to taste.

Types of predicative clauses

§ 153. Predicative clauses may occur as parts of two structurally different kinds of sentences:

I. They may follow the main clause in which the subject is a notional word, although it usually has a very general meaning (thing, question, problem, news, sensation, evil, rule, trouble, etc.). In this case the predicative clause discloses the meaning of the subject.

The rule was that they walked down to the cliff path and travelled up in the lift.

The trouble was whether we could manage it ourselves or not. 

The problem is not who will go, but who will stay.

II. The predicative clause may follow the main clause in which the subject is expressed by the impersonal pronoun it. In this case the predicative clause describes the situation, either directly or by means of comparison.

It appears he hasn’t been there. 

It sounded as if even the spring began by act of Parliament.

Note:

Care should be taken not to confuse this last type of sentence with complex sentences with a subject clause, which also begins with it. In the latter case the predicate of the main clause is complete, whereas in the case of a predicative clause it consists only of the link verb. Compare the following sentences:

     It seems that there is no cure. (a predicative clause) 

     It seems evident that there is no cure. (a subject clause, the predicate ‘seem evident’ is complete)

The complex sentence with an object clause

§ 154. An object clause may be introduced by conjunctions (that, if, whether, whether... or, lest), or connectives. The latter may be conjunctive pronouns (who, whoever, what, whatever, which), or conjunctive adverbs (where, wherever, when, whenever, why, how).

An object clause may refer to any verbal form, either finite or nonfinite

Jon followed, wondering if he had offended her.

I don’t know why I like you so much.

I left her to do whatever she thought  fit.

She often reproached herself for what she had said.

He was terrified that she would forget about it soon.

An object clause may either follow or precede the main clause; it may be joined asyndetically and in this case it always follows the main clause.

Swithin said he would go back to lunch at Timothy’s. 

What she thinks it would be impossible to say.

Object clauses may refer to some adjectives expressing perception, desire, feeling, assurance (certain, sure, sorry, pleased, desirous, jealous, anxious, etc.), and to statives (aware, afraid, etc.).

Certain that Hugh was really following the girl, he had but to keep him in sight and remain unseen.

I’m very sorry I disturbed you.

He was anxious lest somebody should guess his secret.

He was glad that no one was at home.

After some adjectives denoting a state (glad, sorry, happy, etc.) the object clause may imply semantically the cause of that state. This similarity to an adverbial clause of cause may present some difficulty in analysing such sentences as:

I am very sorry I disturbed you ——→ I am very sorry because I disturbed you.

After adjectives and participles denoting wish or intention (anxious, determined, interested, etc.) the object clause may imply purpose: I am anxious that you should succeed.

Occasionally an object clause may refer to a verbal noun.

She had green eyes and a spattering of what Joseph called American freckles across the bridge of her 

nose.

Types of object clauses

§ 155. Like objects in a simple sentence, object clauses may vary in their relation to the principal clause and in the way they are attached to the word they refer to or depend on.

1. An object clause may directly follow the word it refers to (a non-prepositional object clause). In this case it is  parallel in function to a direct object.

Jon wondered if he had offended her. 

I know when I am wasting time.

A typical most recurrent type of object clauses is indirect speech following verbs of saying.

He said he had never heard of it. 

He asked me if I wanted to stay.

Object clauses of this subtype are more informative than their main clauses, the role of the latter being relegated to that of introducing the source of information.

Like subject clauses, object clauses may be preceded by the formal it, usually after the verbs to feel, to believe, to consider, to find, to take, to like, to insist on, etc.

You may take it that it is a genuine check.

I like it when people are nice to me.

I insist upon it that you tell me all the details.

You are to see to it that there should be no quarrel.

An object clause may refer to formal it followed by the objective predicative after the verbs to think, to find, to make, to consider, etc.

I found it strange that she could speak so calmly. 

I think it necessary that you should go there at once. 

He made it clear that his intentions were honest.

2. Object clauses parallel in function to indirect objects are very rare. However, they are possible, the necessary condition for it being that the object clause should be followed by a direct object.

You may give whoever you like any presents.

3. There are also cases when an object clause functions like a  cognate object to a verb.

He and his mamma knew very few people and lived what might have been thought very lonely lives.

4. An object clause may be joined to the main clause by the preposi​tions after, about, before, beyond, for, near, of, as to, except, etc. (a prepositional object clause). In this case it is parallel in function to a prepositional non-recipient object. If a preposition is very closely attached to the preceding verb or adjective (to agree upon, to call for, to comment upon, to depend on, to hear of, to insist on, to be certain of, to be sorry for, etc.) it generally precedes the object clause.

I am not certain of what he did. 

I want to be paid for what I do.

Some prepositions which would be indispensable before nouns or gerunds used as objects are not always necessary before object clauses.

We insisted that he should stay with us. 

(We insisted on his staying with us.)

We agreed that the experiment should be stopped. 

(We agreed upon stopping the experiment.)

The preposition is retained when there is a formal object it foilowed by an object clause.                

We insisted on it that he should stay with us. 

We agreed upon it that the experiment should be stopped.

The complex sentence with an appositive (content) clause

§ 156. An appositive clause may be introduced by conjunctions (that, if, whether, as if, as though), conjunctive pronouns and adverbs (why, how). They are not separated by a comma and cannot be joined asyndetically.

Unlike an apposition in a simple sentence, which usually gives another name to the person or thing designated by the antecedent, an appositive clause discloses the meaning of a noun (which is also called the antecedent) with a very general meaning, such as:, thing, reason, point, moral, comment, remark, probability, idea, fact, consequence, feature, etc. The following sentences can be given as examples:

The question whether it was he or his enemy was hotly discussed. 

She had a strange sensation as if something had happened. 

Andrew had a warm desire that the conversation might continue. 

The question how and why those people got the information still worried him.

Appositive clauses may refer to a whole clause.

Cecilia at once noted what Stephen in his preoccupation had not  that Hilary had come to tell them 

something. 

She said it had only convinced her of what she had known from the first, that the creature had low taste.

The complex sentence with an attributive clause

§ 157. Attributive clauses function as modifiers to a word of nominal character, which is generally called the antecedent. Usually an attributive clause immediately follows its antecedent, although some types may occasionally be distant.

An attributive clause may be introduced by connectives - relative pronouns (who, whose, whom, what, which, that, as), or relative adverbs (when, where, whence, wherein). The choice of relative word depends on the categorical meaning of the antecedent.

a) If the antecedent denotes a living being, the relative pronoun who, whom, whose, or that is used.

A man whose voice seemed familiar to me gave commands. 

Those of Big Lanny’s friends who saw him for the first time had to be told that he couldn’t see.

b) If the antecedent denotes a thing or notion, the relative word which, whose, or that is used; of these that is less formal.

At this remark, to which he did not reply, Gerald's ears grew hot.

He went to the next house, which stood in a small garden.

Clyde bowed and then took the cool hand that Myra extended to him.

Note:

Which may be used with reference to animals, although they are living beings.

     He called back his dog, which returned obediently to its master.

c) If the antecedent is expressed by all denoting a living being the pronoun who or that is used; if it denotes a thing or notion only the pronoun that is generally used.

All that remained was to enter his name and send off the high entrance fees for the examination.

d) If the antecedent is expressed by everything, something, anything or nothing the relative pronoun that is generally used, or else the clause is joined asyndetically.

There was nothing in his face that spoke of his character.

Everything that you may want is in the wardrobe.

There was something in his low, languid voice that was absolutely fascinating.

e) If the antecedent is modified by the adjective only, the pronoun any, or by an adjective in the superlative degree, the attributive clause is introduced by the pronoun that or is joined asyndetically.

The only object that gave her satisfaction during those days was the white monkey.

This is the best chance that we have.

She could jump at any opportunity that she might have.

f) If the antecedent is modified by the demonstrative pronoun such, the relative pronoun as is used.

She was playing the piano with such feeling as couldn't he expected from a girl of her age.

g) After the antecedent modified by same, several relative expressions may be used:

the same children as..., the same person who..., the same island that..., 

the same time when..., the same place where..., etc.

h) Attributive clauses joined by the relative adverbs when, where, whence, whereon (rather obsolete) refer to antecedents designating spatial or temporal notions.

It is the hour when we sleep.

He turned to that huge globe whereon were marked all discoveries of the moment concerning the origin 

of modern Man...

i) The relative adverb why refers to antecedents denoting cause or reason.

They see no reason why they should not do so.

Note:

As the word-forms coincide, care should be taken not to confuse relative pronouns and adverbs with conjunctive pronouns and adverbs, which are used to introduce nominal clauses. The difference between the two functions lies in that the relative words al​ways refer to an antecedent, whereas in the case of conjunctive words there is no such reference. Compare the following three sentences:               

     That is the place where we always meet. (a relative adverb)

     That is where we always meet. (a conjunctive adverb)

     I know where you always meet. (a conjunctive adverb)

Types of attributive clauses

§ 158. Attributive clauses fall into two types, depending on the degree of connection and the relation they bear to the antecedent:

attributive limiting (restrictive) clauses and attributive descriptive (non-restrictive) clauses.

§ 159. Attributive limiting clauses are very closely connected with the antecedent and cannot be removed from the sentence, because the information contained in the attributive clause singles out, determines, or particularizes the person, thing, idea, etc., expressed by the antecedent. Therefore the meaning of the main clause is not complete or is altogether changed without the subordinate clause. The lack of completeness is manifested by some deictic elements (determinants) before the antecedent (mainly articles, demonstrative pronouns, or words with a demonstrative or particularizing meaning, such as the same, the only, the best). The presence of such elements is justified only if the attributive clause is following. For example:

A library is a place where they keep books. 

She had become aware of the fact that she was talking loudly.

In these sentences the main part taken separately is not clear because of the article which has a classifying (the first sentence) or a demonstrative force (the second sentence) and therefore requires some explanation in the form of an attributive clause or some context to make explicit what kind of place the library was, what fact was meant.

In some cases the dropping of the attributive clause does not make the main clause incomplete, but its meaning becomes altogether different from the meaning it has in the complex sentence. For example, compare the sentences:

a) Aren’t you the young man who married Fleur Forsyte? (that particular man, Fleur Forsyte’s husband)

b) Aren’t you the young man? (that particular man known to the speaker and the listener, with no further  

     information for the reader)

Limiting clauses may be joined by a connective with a preposition. These are analogous to prepositional attributes.

This is the man about whom we spoke yesterday.

She inclined more and more to that peace and quietness of which Montague Dartie had deprived her in 

her youth.

§ 160. Attributive clauses may be joined to the main clause without a relative word, that is, asyndetically. They are called contact clauses.

Contact clauses are always limiting, for both the main and the subordinate clause complete each other. Thus in the sentence The hum I had heard was the combined result of their whispered repetitions the clause I had heard makes no sense unless the antecedent hum in the main clause makes the meaning of the predicate had heard (and thus the clause itself) complete, though formally the word hum cannot be considered as the direct object of the predicate. Some more examples of the same kind:

He was a man one always forgot.

I know where she kept that packet she had.

I used to learn by heart the things they’d written.

This is the kind of job I’d like.

As can be seen from the above examples, contact clauses are possible only in cases where the antecedent is semantically acceptable in the position of a direct object, prepositional object, or of a predicative in the subordinate clause.

He was a man one always forgot - One always forgot such a man. 

I used to learn by heart the things they’d written – They’d written things.

Sentences in which the main and the subordinate clauses have a common part which functions as the subject in the subordinate clause are used nowadays only in dialects and in fiction to give the narration local colour. These are called apokoinu sentences:

Perhaps it was his scars suggested it (his scars suggested it). 

John’s was the last name would have occurred to me (the last name would have occurred to me). 

The next morning there was a boy came to see me (a boy came to see me).

§161. An attributive descriptive clause is characterized by a looser connection with the main clause. Usually it contains additional information about the antecedent and may be left out without any serious change in the meaning of the main clause. Attributive descriptive clauses are generally commad off. They are joined by the same connectives as limiting clauses, except the relative pronoun that, and asyndetic connection hardly ever occurs.

The additional descriptive character of the attributive clause is determined by the fact that the antecedent denotes a definite person, place, thing, notion, etc. It is either specified by a limiting attribute, or is expressed by a proper name, or else denotes a unique notion (or one specified by the situation).

At this age, which I judged to be near fifty, he looked extremely young.

I returned to London, where I remained for a week.

I consulted my father, who promised to help me.

She was thinking how little the opening of this war - which had started that morning at five-eleven with 

the German army’s marching into Poland - was like the opening of the last.

The supplementary status of the attributive clauses can be illustrated by the following transformation of the first sentence given above.

At this age (and I judged him to be neat-fifty) he looked extremely young.

In formal English relative pronouns and adverbs introducing descriptive clauses may also occur in prepositional phrases opening the subordinate clause, for example: according to which, instead of which, in spite of which, on which, of which, to whom, since when, etc.; also within nominal phrases of the type: the largest part of which, each of which, many examples of which, during which time, which fact, etc. The relative pronoun approaches in its function the anaphoric demonstrative pronoun this, and the clause can be paraphrased by a coordinate or parenthetical clause. For example:

Then a breakfast was given in his honour, on which occasion many speeches were pronounced (and on 

this occasion many speeches were pronounced).

The medicine was overdosed, which fact caused the immediate death of the patient (and this fact caused 

the immediate death of the patient).

Note:

Compounds of where and a preposition, such as whereby, wherefore, whereto, etc., are now confined to extremely formal English only and are replaced in less formal style by for which, by which, to which, etc.

§ 162. An attributive descriptive clause referring to a whole clause, sentence, series of sentences, or even a whole story is called a continuative (or sentential) attributive clause. It is generally introduced by the connective which, occasionally by that.

When the attributive continuative clause refers to a sentence, it may be separated by a semicolon, a dash, or even by a full stop.

She lived in two rooms over a teashop, which was convenient, since she could send down for cakes and 

scones if she had visitors. (...Что было удобно... поскольку...).

Several times he caught her looking at him with a hurt, puzzled expression, which pleased his evil mood 

(...что тешило его злобу).

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause

§ 163. Adverbial clauses are usually classified according to their meaning, that is, according to the relation they bear to the main clause. They differ from nominal and attributive clauses in that they are introduced by conjunctions with a more distinct meaning. Some types of adverbial clauses may be introduced by at least a dozen different conjunctions (as for instance adverbial clauses of time). On the other hand, many of the conjunctions are used to introduce more than one kind of clause (as, since, that, when, now that). In some cases the meanings and functions of the conjunction are so numerous that it is really difficult to say what the basic meaning of the conjunction is, as its function depends on the meaning of the clauses and their relationship.

Conditional clauses may be joined asyndetically, though they have link-inversion in this case. Here the meaning and function of the clause can be inferred only from the meaning of the subordinate and the main clause.

An adverbial clause may qualify the whole main clause, the verbal predicate or any verbal part, and also parts expressed by an adjective or adverb. Its position therefore varies: it may be initial, medial, or final -depending on the position of the part of the sentence it refers to and on the general structure of the main clause.



Women are very shy  when they are expressing their emotions.

One day, because the days were so short, he  decided to give up algebra and geometry. 



Types of adverbial clauses

§ 164. According to their semantics we distinguish adverbial clauses of place, time, manner, comparison, condition, concession, purpose, cause, result.

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of place

§ 165. An adverbial clause of place defines the place or the direction of the action expressed in the principal clause. It may be introduced by one of the following conjunctions: where, whence, wherever, everywhere (that) and conjunctive adverbs with prepositions. A clause introduced by wherever can express direction as well as position.

He was standing where he always had stood, on the rug before the living-room fire.

From where he stood he could see nothing.

Wherever they came people greeted them enthusiastically.

Why can’t we go where it’s warm?

He took a chair whence he could see the street.

	Note:

Adverbial clauses of place introduced by the conjunction where should not be confused with predicative or object clauses introduced by the conjunctive adverb where or its derivatives, or with attributive clauses introduced, by the relative adverb where. The descrimination is determined by the meaning and nature of the word the clause refers to.

     The young people went off at once to wherever they were going. (adverbial clause)

     I wonder where you are hurrying. (object clause)

     This must be where my sister lives. (predicative clause)

          Here is the house where we stayed last year. (attributive clause)




The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of time

§ 166. An adverbial clause of time characterizes the action expressed in the main clause from the temporal point of view. The action may be expressed by a finite or non-finite form of the verb.

An adverbial clause of time may be introduced by conjunctions: as, as soon as, as long as, when, whenever, while, now that, till, until, after, before, since; recently formed conjunctions and phrasal conjunctions: the time (that), the day (that), the moment, the instant, next time, every (each) time, directly, immediately, instantly, once.

Every conjunction in the above list imparts a particular shade of meaning to the temporal relation - priority, simultaneity, succession of actions, the beginning or the end of the action, repetition, coincidence of two actions, gradual development of a process, etc. These temporal rela​tions can be illustrated by the following examples:

When a Forsyte was engaged, married, or born, the Forsytes were present. Whenever there was a pause, he gently asked again. (The conjunctions when and whenever introduce clauses expressing repetition.)

As they stood up Ivory clapped him on the shoulder. (The subordinate clause denotes the moment when the action of the principal clause takes place.)

While he walked around Christine sat and knitted at a distance. (The predicate in the subordinate clause expresses a durative action, which coincides in time with the action expressed by the predicate in the main clause.)

And now that Cecily had married, she might be having children too. Our hostess, once everyone had arrived, was full of good humour. (In both these cases the predicate in the subordinate clause expresses a completed prior action which fixes the moment from which the action or state expressed in the main clause becomes possible; therefore the subordinate clause of time has a shade of causal meaning.)

As they approached the house, they became quieter and quieter. (Both the actions are gradually developing.)

They were calling each other ‘George’ and 'Elizabeth' before they reached Camden Town. (The subordinate clause points to the moment before which the action of the main clause was in progress. The action of the predicate in the subordinate clause is posterior.)

The heavy guns began again soon after it was light. (The action of the subordinate clause, which is prior, fixes the beginning of the action in the main clause.)

The conjunctions till and until introduce clauses which fix the end of the action in the main clause if the latter contains no negation, as in:

She resolved to wait till Clym came to look for her.

If the time reference in the subordinate clause with till or until is to a commencement point, the main clause is always negative. For example:

He did not say a word till he was asked.

They did not marry until she was forty.

The boy did not start to read until he went to school.

Corresponding sentences with affirmative main clauses are impossible unless, the conjunction before is used.

*He said a word till he was asked ——> He said some words before he was asked.

*They married until she was forty ——> They married before she was forty.

The conjunction since may introduce a clause which indicates the beginning of a period of time continuing until now or until some time in the past. In the first case the present perfect is used in the principal clause, in the second the past perfect. In a temporal clause the past indefinite tense is used in both cases. For example:

I have only seen him once since I left school.

She had been such of a companion to him since she was three years old.

If the actions expressed in both clauses are durative and still continuing, the present perfect tense is used in both the clauses, as in:

Since we have been friends we have never quarrelled.

Conjunctions of recent formation have mainly been formed from nouns denoting time, although some are formed from adverbs denoting time. They are the time, the moment, the instant, immediately, directly and others. Most of them are used to introduce subordinate clauses denoting the exact moment of the action in the main clause or the quick succession of the actions in both clauses.

We’ll be married the very moment we find a house.

Immediately he had lain down and closed his eyes, his consciousness went racing on without him.

Directly he saw me, he slipped back into the room.

Some of the temporal conjunctions are not confined to clauses of time. Thus as may be used to join clauses of cause, manner, concession, comparison and also to introduce parenthetic clauses. The conjunction since may introduce clauses of reason. The conjunctions when and while may express adversative relations, in which case they can hardly be considered subordinating conjunctions. When can introduce a clause containing a new piece of information, not prepared for by the preceding narrative, and thus indicates a quick succession of actions. The conjunction whenever generally expresses temporal relations, but the idea of time often mingles with that of concession.

At the sound of that knock she jumped up, when the brass candlestick clattered to the floor. (The 

conjunction when expresses the quick succession of actions.)

She left the room in the pursuit of her duties, when no duty could have taken her away if she had wished 

to stay.

His life has been ruined for him, when he is but one-and-twenty.(In the last two sentences the conjunction 

when expresses a concessive relation.)

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of manner

§ 167. Adverbial clauses of manner characterize actions, states, qualities, circumstances. Therefore they may have different reference. The most common conjunctions to introduce them are as and the way.

Adverbial clauses of manner may have different reference:

I. Adverbial clauses of manner may modify the predicate of the main clause by attributing some quality to it.

I’m sorry I talked the way I did at lunch.

She cooks the turkey exactly as my mother did.

He could do it as no one else could have done.

II. They may refer to attributes or predicatives characterizing a state or quality of a person or non-person.

Astonished, as one could be in such circumstances, he didn’t give a sign of it.

He was puzzled by the situation, as one could easily be in his place.

III. They may refer to an adverbial modifier, giving additional infor​mation or explanation concerning it.

He said it with contempt, as a grown-up serious man should treat such views.

In the second and the third case the connection between the clauses is rather loose, and the subordinate clause is generally set off by commas.

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of comparison

§ 168. Adverbial clauses of comparison characterize the action expressed by the predicate in the main clause by comparing it with some real or hypothetical circumstance or action.

Clauses of comparison may be introduced by conjunctions as, like, as if, as though, than; correlative conjunctions as... as, so... as, as... as if.

Swithin’s pale eyes bulged as though he might suddenly have been afflicted with insight.

He spoke as timidly as if he were afraid of me.

An adverbial clause of comparison may correlate with adverbs in the comparative degree in the principal clause. In this case the clause refers to the predicate with its adverbial modifier. Thus in the sentence Mr. Direct’s broken wrist healed sooner than he desired the subordinate clause characterizes the predicate group healed sooner through comparison. The conjunction than is correlated with the adverb in the comparative degree sooner. 

The indicative form can also be used.

They don’t have long intervals like they do at other theatres.

Note 1:

The difference between the use of as and like is important. As implies the idea of identification, as in: Let me speak to you as your father ought to (= I am your father and I am speaking to you in that character), whereas like implies the idea of mere comparison, as in: Let me speak to you like a father might (= I am not your father, but I am speaking in the way your father might).

Note 2:

The conjunctions as if and as though may also introduce appositive and predicative clauses, as the comparative meaning may combine with different syntactic connections.

     She had a look as if she had something in her mouth.(appositive clause)

     She looked as if she had something in her mouth. (predicative clause)

     She looked at me as if nothing was wrong. (adverbial clause)

Clauses of comparison sometimes have inverted word order. 

He was as obstinate as were most of his relatives.

Special mention should be made of cases when two subordinating devices are used to introduce a clause, usually a conjunction and a conjunctive word: than whose, than which, than where, or two conjunctions: than if. They bear double relation to the main clause, one of which is that of comparison.

He is never more present in my work than when no image of him is there. (comparative and temporal  

relation) 

The butler took his tip far more casually, far more naturally than if Dicky had offered to shake hands with 

him. - чем если бы Дикки протянул ему руку (comparative and conditional relation)

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of condition

§ 169. Adverbial clauses of this type contain some condition (either real or unreal) which makes the action in the main clause possible.

Adverbial clauses of condition may be introduced by conjunctions: if, unless, once, in case. There are also several conjunctions derived from verbal forms sometimes followed by the optional that: provided (that), providing (that), suppose (that), supposing (that), considering (that), given (that), granted (that), granting (that), admitting (that), presuming (that), seeing (that).

Conditional clauses introduced by if and other conjunctions (with the exception of unless) imply uncertainty. Therefore they often contain non-assertive forms of pronouns and pronominal adverbs, such as any, anybody, anything, anywhere.

If anything troubles you, you’d better tell me. 

If anyone asks for me, tell him to wait.

Clauses beginning with unless express the only possible condition which will make the action in the main clause possible. Therefore they usually contain assertive forms like something, somebody.

Unless somebody interferes, there may be a disaster.

For the same reason unless-clauses hardly ever express unreal conditions.

The exclusive meaning of unless accounts for the fact that, even if the condition is real, the unless-clause is not always equivalent to an if-not-clause. Thus the sentence: I won’t come unless you invite me (я приду, только если вы пригласите меня) and the sentence I won’t come if you don’t invite me (= я не приду, если вы меня не приглашаете) are quite different in their meaning.

The conjunction provided opens a clause containing some desirable condition for the fullfilment of the action expressed by the predicate in the main clause.

And you can do what you please, provided you do it neatly and don’t make a row over it.

The conjunctions suppose and supposing always imply that the condition is merely hypothetical.

I mean this: Suppose some other European pauper prince was anxious to marry Princess Anna and her 

fortune, wouldn’t that Prince have an interest in stopping this loan of yours to Prince Eugen?

Conditional clauses may be joined to the main clause asyndetically by means of link-inversion. Inversion is possible only if the predicate in the subordinate clause is in the subjunctive mood, that is expressed by past subjunctive (were), or by non-factual Past Perfect.

But had chance taken you out into the surrounding country and had it taken you in the right direction, 

you would have found him toiling along by the hedges...

§ 170. Depending on the relation between the subordinate and the main clauses and on the use of tense and mood forms, complex sentences with conditional clauses may be subdivided into three types:

I. Complex sentences with clauses of real condition are those when the actions or events in both the clauses refer to the past or present and these actions or events are regarded as real facts. If the actions or events in these clauses refer to the future, the actions or events are regarded as possible real facts.

If I have offended you, I am very sorry. 

Why did he send us matches if he knew there was no gas? 

If Jules comes back, simply defy him to enter - that is all. 

I won’t phone you, unless something unforeseen happens.

The conditional clause may be a statement for mere argument, no condition is meant.

If she got no money from her brother-in-law, she got what was as good as money - credit.

If Adrian had a passion, indeed, except for Diana Ferse, it was a burning desire to fix that breeding spot,

As can be seen from the above examples, the predicates in conditional clauses may be in the past or present indefinite, present perfect, present or past continuous.

Note:       

In cases like the following Let her come to me as she will, when she will, not at all if she will not; But I must run out for half a minute, if you’ll let me the verb will is not auxiliary but modal, as it expresses wish, insistence, or resistance (in negative form).

II. Complex sentences with clauses of open condition. These clauses denote hypothetical situations or circumstances which may be (or may not be) realised in the present or future. Accordingly the subjunctive-mood forms are used both in the subordinate and the principal clause to denote actions or states.

	
	In the main dause
	
	In the subordinate clause



	1.
	Analytical forms with 
	1.
	The present subjunctive (be, go, see, etc.) or the past subjunctive for all the persons in the singular and plural. 

Of these forms be and were can open asyndetically joined clauses.

	
	should +

would
	non-perfect

 infinitive
	
	

	
	(in Modern English the tendency is to use would for all the persons)
	
	


In case the state of the patient became worse he would be taken to a hospital.

If I were you, I would change into another dress.

You wouldn’t be talking that way unless you were hurt.

	2.
	Quasi-subjunctive-mood forms 

with may (might) + non-perfect infinitive
	2.
	The non-factual past indefinite and past continuous.


You might ask her this question if you were less scrupulous. 

This might seem to be unreal unless I saw it with my own eyes.

	3.
	The imperative mood.
	3.
	Analytical forms with should + non-perfect infinitive (mostly with inversion).


Should he ask for references, tell him to apply to me.

Note:

The form would + infinitive in the subordinate clause may be not a mood form, but a compound predicate, expressing a polite request.

     I should be much obliged if you would agree to take part in the concert (если бы вы согласились  

     участвовать в концерте).

III. Complex sentences with clauses of rejected condition imply non-fulfilment of the condition, as the actions or events described in the conditional clause refer to the past and the time of their realization is over. The condition is generally not even supposed to have been fulfilled, but is stated merely for the sake of argument. The following mood forms are used;

	In the main clause 

analytical forms


	In the subordinate clause 

non-factual past perfect

	should 

would 

might  
(may)

could 
	+ perfect infinitive
	


If I hadn’t woken you, you’d (would) have lain there for the whole fortnight.

She would have been playing her part well unless she had been stiff with fright.

I might have persuaded her to change her mind if she had not been so obstinate.

If the book had been published they could have bought a copy in the shops.

Could he not have missed the train if he had been detained by the director?*
* The forms with may (might) and could are compound verbal modal predi​cates in the subjunctive mood.

The non-factual past perfect form may open an asyndetically joined conditional clause (with partial inversion).

Had the colour of the dress been to my taste, I should have bought it. 

Had the world been watching, it would have been startled.

§ 171. A complex sentence with a conditional clause may be built on clauses of both type II and III, thus forming a mixed type of conditional relationship. For instance:

If we hadn’t been such fools, we would all still be together. (the subordinate clause with reference to the 

past - type III, the principal clause with reference to the present - type II).

If you were more attentive, you would’t have made so many mistakes (the subordinate clause with 

reference to the present, as it implies somebody's ability to concentrate in general - type II, the main 

clause with reference to the past - type III).

Note:

Some of the conditional constructions may be used to join clauses expressing other meanings or admitting a two-fold interpretation. Thus if may introduce concessive clauses (see § 172), clauses in which the meaning of condition is combined with temporal meaning. The conjunction in case may introduce clauses of negative purpose, as in:

     I went and ate sandwiches in the woods, in case one of the servants should see me on the lawn from the  

     window... (чтобы кто-нибудь из слуг не увидел...)

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of concession

§ 172. In complex sentences with concessive clauses there is a contrast between the content of the main clause and that of the subordinate one: the action or fact described in the main clause is carried out or takes place despite the action or state expressed in the subordinate clause.

This type of clause is introduced by conjunctions: although, though, if; correlative conjunctions: though...yet, whether...or; conjunctive pronouns or adverbs: whoever, whatever, whichever, whenever, wherever (which may stand for almost any part of the sentence), as, or composite соnjunсtiоns: no matter how, no matter what, for all that, despite that, in spite of the fact, despite the fact, even if, even though, even when.

The abundance of means for expressing concessive relations is determined not only by the necessity to differentiate various shades of meaning, but also by the fact that different parts may form the focus of the concessive meaning:

	However cynical he was – 

Сколь бы циничен он ни был..., 

Late as it was – 

Хотя было поздно..., 

как бы ни было поздно..., 

Try as he might – 

Как бы он ни старался..., 

хотя он и старался работать..., 

Whoever may come – 

Кто бы ни пришел...,
	(The focus is the predicative.) 

“-“-“ 

(The focus is the notional 

part of the predicate.) 

(The focus is the subject.)


Compound conjunctive pronouns and adverbs (whoever, whenever, etc.) impart universal or indefinite meaning to the clause they introduce. Contrast the following sentences:

a) Whenever you come send me a note (any time when...).

b) When you come send me a note (the definite time when...).

There is some similarity between clauses of condition and concession. The difference lies in the fact that whereas conditional clauses state the dependence of one action or circumstance on another, concessive clauses imply a contrast or lack of dependence between them. Thus the following sentences with concessive clauses

Although the weather was bad, he went for a walk.

Although the weather was fine, he did not go for a walk (the second statement is surprising in the light of 

the first),

may be rephrased using coordinate clauses joined by the contrastive but.

The weather was bad, but he went for a walk. 
The weather was fine, but he did not go for a walk.

In complex sentences with a conditional clause the dependence has no contrast.

If the weather was fine he went for a walk. (The second statement results from the first.)

Note 1:

However, contrastive meaning is not characteristic of all types of concessive clauses. There are three types of concessive clauses, which differ in the relation they bear to the principal clause and in the way they are connected.

I. Clauses of admitted concession (придаточные уступительные со значением допущения).

     Though there might be many obstacles to overcome, he faithfully believed in future. 
     Though all efforts fail, we shall never surrender. 
     Though war and danger were in store, war and danger might not befall for months to come.

Concessive clauses introduced by compound pronouns and adverbs in -ever are never adversative to the main clause in their content, as they suggest a choice from among a number of possibilities.

     Whoever he may be, he seems to be an honest man at least.

     Wherever you live, you can keep a cat.

     Whatever your problems are, they can’t be worse than mine.

     Whatever guests you invite, they are welcome.

Clauses of admitted concession may have inverted word order; inversion is possible both with the conjunctions though and as, which in this case occur in non-initial position (after the predicative), and with conjunctive words.

     Josephine could always eat, however excited she was (though she was excited).

     Dark as it was getting, I could still see these changes (though it was getting dark).

     Miraculous though it seemed to be, there was no miracle in their survival (though it seemed to be

     miraculous).

The connective however, besides being a linking element, functions also as an adverbial modifier of degree referring to the predicative (however excited she was).

Note 2:

Sometimes clauses concessive in form have a non-concessive meaning of cause or attendant circumstance.

     The sergeant, fool as he was, couldn't see the point (because he was a fool, being a fool).

II. Clauses of open concession (придаточные уступи​тельные со значением гипотетического допуще​ния). Clauses of this type express an unreal condition, despite which the action in the principal clause is carried out. The predicate in the subordinate clause may be in the indicative or in the subjunctive mood (in the latter case the quasi-subjunctive forms with may and might are generally used).

     Whatever may be the shortcomings and defects of the present treatment, it is vain to attempt to extenuate    

     or excuse them in a short preface. 

     However much advice you give him, he does exactly what he wants.

III. Clauses of disjunctive or alternative concession (придаточные уступительные со значением альтер​нативы). These clauses admit two possible alternatives, both of which may be unreal, or may refer to the future. As can be seen from the examples given below, the contrast between the principal and the subordinate clause or clauses is weaker, as there are two alternatives, neither of which can be considered as an acceptable condition.

     “Coward!” he repeated. “Coward, am I? Then I'll be a coward, and you shall kiss me whether you will or  

     not!”

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of purpose

§ 173. Clauses of purpose generally express the purpose of the action, which is stated in the main clause. The verb-predicate in the subordinate clause is in the subjunctive mood as it expresses a planned but not a real action. Adverbial clauses of purpose are introduced by conjunctions that, so that, lest, so as, so, in order that, for fear that.

I trode on an edging of turf that the crackle of the pebbly gravel might not betray me.

I tell you all this so that you may understand me perfectly.

The conjunctions lest and for fear (that) introduce clauses stating what is to be prevented, as botli the conjunctions have a negative meaning. Lest is now extremely formal and after this conjunction the analytical subjunctive with should auxiliary is generally used.

He was like a man who is afraid to look behind him lest he should see something there which ought not to 

be there.

 “It’s a bit lighter in the park,” he said, “but take it (an electric torch) for fear you get off the path.”

In some cases the meaning of purpose in clauses introduced by lest and for fear that is weakened so that the clause expresses rather general motivation than purpose, or else an outcome of the action in the main clause, as in:

Lest the wall should collapse, they evacuated the building. (They did not evacuate the building with the 

purpose of causing the wall to collapse.) 

Better chain up the dog for fear he bites.

Note:

The conjunctions that, so that, lest, so are not confined only to clauses of purpose: that may introduce subject clauses, predicative clauses, and object clauses;

so that may introduce clauses of result, lest - clauses of cause, subject clauses, predicative clauses and object clauses; so - clauses of result and of cause.

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of cause

§ 174. Adverbial clauses of cause (or causative clauses) express the reason, cause, or motivation of the action expressed in the main clause or of its content as a whole.

Causative clauses may be introduced by the conjunctions as, because, since, so, that, lest, seeing (that), considering; or by the composite conjunctions for the reason that, in view of the fact that, in so far as (insofar as), by reason of. Of these the conjunction as is preferable when the sentence opens with a clause of cause.

As he was tired he preferred to stay at home. 

Since there is no help, let us try and bear it as best we can. 

They went down arm-in-arm - James with Imogen, because his pretty grandchild cheered him.

In so far as it is difficult to assign an external cause to certain happen​ings, they are written off as  

uncaused or spontaneous.

As can be seen from the above examples, the causative clause may stand in preposition to the main clause, or follow it. It may also be embedded within the main clause, as in:

She loved to give, since she had plenty, and sent presents here and there to Lilian, the children, and 

others.

Each of the conjunctions and conjunctive phrases expresses a certain shade of causative meaning, and so they are not always interchangeable. Because usually introduces clauses with the meaning of real cause. This can be illustrated by the ability of because-causes (but not others) to be included in questions. Thus it is correct to say:

Did you ask him because he was famous or for another reason? 

But it is wrong to say: Did you ask him since he was famous...?

Unlike because, the conjunctions since and as introduce clauses with an explanatory meaning, or else that of motivation.

Since you are here, we may begin our talk.

The other reason why causal conjunctions, though synonymous, are not always interchangeable with because, is that some of them are polyfunctional: as and since may be conjunctions of time, as well as of cause. For example:

His mood changed as they marched down to the clocks, (temporal relation)

Note 1:

Causative relation may be found in compound sentences with the coordinating conjunction for. Its coordinate character is unmistakably shown by the fact that the clause with for cannot stand before the other half of the sentence.

Note 2:

Some causative conjunctions (as, because) may connect their clause to the main clause rather loosely, in which case the relation between the clauses is similar to coordination (such clauses may even be independent sentences). The causative clause generally expresses some grounds on which we can judge of the truthfulness of some idea expressed in the main clause, as in:

     He was, I presume, a relative of the coachman’s, as he lay atop of the luggage, with his face towards the 

     rain.

Here the subordinate clause as he lay atop of the luggage, with his face towards the rain, does not express the cause, but gives some grounds which serve to prove the truthfulness of the supposition expressed in the main clause.

     I must have been very weak at the time; because I know, after the first half hour or so, I seemed to take  

     no interest whatever in my food.

In this sentence the first clause is separated by a semicolon, which is not typical of subordination and is a mark of loose connection.

In colloquial English a clause of cause may be joined rather loosely to a sentence which cannot be its main clause: Are you going to the post-office? - Because I have some letters to post. (I ask you this because I have some letters to post.)

The complex sentence with an adverbial clause of result (consequence)

§ 175. An adverbial clause of result denotes some consequence or result of the action expressed in the main clause. It may be introduced by the conjunction so that, or simply that.

Light fell on her there, so that Soames could see her face, eyes, hair, strangely as he remembered them, 

strangely beautiful.

Clauses with the correlatives so and such (so... that, such... that) may express manner with a shade of resultative meaning and are treated as such. However one should bear in mind that the line of demarcation between cases of jo... that and so that is rather difficult to draw when the two words follow one another.

The complex sentence with mutually subordinated clauses

§ 176. In complex sentences of this type it is impossible to differentiate which of the clauses is the main one and which is subordinate. We shall consider two patterns of such sentences.

§ 177. Clauses of proportionate agreement (or comparison). They express a proportional relationship - proportionality or equivalence; the more intensive is the action or quality described in one clause, the more intensive becomes the other, described in the following clause. Although sentences containing such clauses are undoubtedly complex, it is nevertheless impossible to state which of the clauses is the main one and which is subordinate, since they are of the same pattern -two twin clauses, looking like one another.

Clauses of proportionate agreement are joined by the conjunction as (correlated with the adverb of degree so in the other clause); or by means of the correlative adverbs so... so in both clauses. Proportionate agreement between the clauses may also be expressed by the correlative particles the... the, followed by the comparative degree of adverbs (or adjectives).

As time went on, so their hopes began to wane.

The more he reflected on the idea, the more he liked it.

The further I penetrated into London, the profounder grew the stillness.

Proportionate agreement occurs in such aphoristic sentences as the more the better, the sooner the better, which may refer to various situations.

§ 178. The second pattern of mutually subordinated clauses expresses temporal relations - a quick succession of actions or events, often overlapping with one another for a short period of time. These clauses form an indivisible whole owing to correlative elements and sometimes partial inversion in the first clause. The order in which the elements follow one another is fixed. As partial inversion is possible when the predicate consists of the operator and the notional part, only analytical forms or compound predicates are used.

There are several variants of the pattern:

1. No sooner... than.

No sooner had Tom seen us than he jumped into a bus.

No sooner could the chairman finish his speech than a great noise started.

2. Scarcely... when, scarcely... before.

Scarcely had he seen us when he jumped into a bus. 

The door had scarcely closed behind her before it opened again.

3. Hardly... when.

Hardly could he finish his last sentence when a great noise started. 

I had hardly finished when Holmes returned with the news that the boy was putting in the horse.

4. Negation... when.

He had not closed the door when he heard somebody knock at it.

5. Just... when.

He had just cut a mighty slice of bread when he heard somebody’s footsteps.

The role of the past perfect tense in the first clause is also of importance as it does not manifest in this case real precedence but peculiar temporal relation, that of a quick succession of events or actions, often overlapping.

Pseudo-complex sentences

§ 179. We shall consider sentences consisting of two clauses joined according to some pattern of subordination, but different from other complex sentences in the relation the clauses bear to one another. There are several types of pseudo-complex sentences. In the first type the splitting of the sentence into clauses is a device for the sake of emphasizing this or that part of the sentence; actually the meaning of the sentence does not require splitting (or cleaving) into clauses. These sentences are called emphatic (or cleft) sentences.

Emphatic (or cleft) sentences

§ 180. These sentences in their turn fall into three patterns, in all of which the form of the complex sentence is used to emphasize some part of the sentence.

In the first pattern the emphasized part is placed in the position of the predicative, which is followed by a clause. The main clause is patterned on the model of the it-clause and the subordinate clause may be patterned as an attributive, temporal, local or nominal clause.

It is my friend who told me this.

The role of the main clause is purely emphatic, as the information which is divided between the main and the subordinate clause can be expressed in a simple sentence.

It is my friend who told me this ——> My friend told me this.

It is the examination that you and I are concerned with ——-> You and I are concerned with the 

examination.

If is not that she loved him ——> She did not love him.

It was the idea they were buying, not the project ——> They were buying the idea, not the project.

The emphatic position may be occupied by a whole clause.

It was what she said that spoiled the impression. 

Was it because dusk was gathering that you failed to see anything?

In the last two sentences the content of the predicative clause is em​phasized.

The position of the predicative serves for placing greater emphasis on the part occupying this position. Semantically the emphasized part may fulfil different roles.

It was not till this very moment that I recollected him ——> did not recollect him till this very moment. 

(The emphasized part is adverbial modifier of time.)

It is not that I hate you ——> I don’t hate you. (Negation is empha​sized.)

The cleft sentences and the simple ones given above are similar in meaning as they describe the same situation. The difference lies in a special accentuation of the bold-faced words.

The subordinate clause may be joined asyndetically: It is not you I hate.

Pseudo-complex sentences of this type may be interrogative.

What is it that happened to you? 

What was it he disliked so much ?

A sentence can be transformed into different cleft sentences depending on what element is to be emphasized. For example:

	John liked to read books at home -
	→ It was John who liked to read books at home. 

→ It was books that John liked to read at home. 

→ It was at home that John liked to read books.


The second pattern of cleft sentences is used to emphasize the predicate, which is split into the operator in the subordinate subject clause and the infinitive in the main clause.

What John liked was to read books at home. 

What he disliked so much was to be addressed by passers-by.

The particle to is often omitted.

What he has done is spoil the whole thing.

The third pattern of pseudo-complex emphatic sentences begins with the conjunction if, which does not introduce a conditional clause.

If I feel sorry for anyone it’s Norman ——> I really feel sorry for Normal.

Appended clauses (повторы с уточнением)

§ 181. There are several varieties of appended clauses, modelled on the pattern of the main clause. These are used to intensify or reinforce a statement in the previous clause. The most common type of appended clauses are tag questions (tags). You are tired, aren't you? You are not ill, are you?

In non-formal style there is another form of appended clause, which is elliptical.

He is always very gloomy, is that John of yours. 

She is a clever girl, is your friend.

In such sentences the link-verb to be is generally repeated, or a form of the verb to do is used.

He never told me anything, did your brother.

Note:

The appended part may consist only of a nominal group.

     He is a clever boy, your brother John.

Such cases should not be confused with appended clauses.

Absolute (or indendent) subordinate clauses

§ 182. Subordinate clauses may be used absolutely as independent exclamatory sentences. They may have the form of a conditional or comparative clause.

If only I knew his address! 

As though you didn’t know! 

That he should be so late!

Parenthetical clauses (parentheses)

§ 183. A parenthetical clause (parenthesis) interrupts another sentence with which it is either not connected syntactically or is only loosely connected with separate parts of the sentence.

Parenthetical clauses are often called comment clauses, because they do not simply add to the information given in the sentence, but comment on its truth, the manner of saying it, or express the attitude of the speaker toward it. In some cases it is direct address to the listener or reader.

He waited (which was his normal occupation) and thought, like other citizens, of the cost of living... 

(Some information is added.)

...there is, as it were, a transparent barrier between myself and strong emotions. (The figurative meaning 

of the utterance is indicated.)

My parents, you know, were peasants. (Direct address to the listener.)

Parenthetical clauses may occur in front, mid- and end position, but the end position is mainly restricted to informal style. They are usually marked off from the rest of the sentence by commas, dashes, or parentheses (brackets) in written English and by a separate tone unit in speech.

Parenthetical clauses may be patterned like independent sentences, coordinate, main, or subordinate clauses. In all cases the mechanism of turning a sentence or clause into a parenthesis is the same - the inverting of their usual sequence or placing the parenthetical clause in an unusual position, which changes their communicative value. The embedded (включенное) structure acquires a secondary status, informing the reader of the author's opinion of the utterance, or containing some comment on the content of the embedding (включающее) sentence, or else address​ing the reader directly. The embedding structure is primary in importance and structurally independent. The following sentences may be taken as examples:

Although the evening was still light - we dined early - the lamps were on. (a parenthetical clause 

patterned like an independent sentence)

She cooked - and she was a good cook - and marketed and chatted with the delivery boys. (a parenthetical 

clause patterned like a coordinate clause)

As you put it, it sounds convincing, (a parenthetical clause patterned like an adverbial clause of manner)

Does your objection to tea (which I do frightfully want) mean that we’re unlikely to be alone? (a 

parenthetical clause patterned like an attributive clause)

Mr. Ford - if this was now to be his name - walked slowly up to the counter, (a parenthetical clause 

patterned like an adverbial clause of condition)

Parenthetical clauses may be patterned like different communicative types of sentences or clauses - statements, questions, imperative or exclamatory sentences or clauses.

It was - why hadn’t he noticed it before? - beginning to be an effort for her to hold her back straight, (a 

parenthetical clause patterned like a why-question)

I felt - such curious shapes egoism fakes! - that they had come because of me. (a parenthetical clause 

patterned like an exclamatory sentence)

Clauses patterned like main clauses with verbs of saying and those denoting mental activity (he thought, the author said, etc.) may have an inverted order (thought he, said the author).

Quite a number of parenthetical clauses are stereotyped conversation formulas, used to attract the listener’s attention or to show the reaction of the speaker (you know, you see, I see, etc.).

INDIRECT SPEECH

§ 184. Indirect speech does not reproduce the exact words of the speaker, but only reports them. The grammatical form in which the speaker's words are reported is a subordinate object clause (for statements and questions) or an infinitive object (for orders and requests) dependent on a verb of saying or a verb or expression implying the idea of saying. The most frequent verbs of saying are the verbs to say and to tell for reported statements, to ask for reported questions, to tell and to ask for reported orders and requests. The subordinate clauses are joined to their principal ones by means of conjunctions, conjunctive pronouns or adverbs, or asyndetically.

The word order in these clauses is always direct, irrespective of the communicative type of the sentence in direct speech, that is, whether it is a declarative or an interrogative sentence (imperative sentences are reported by means of an infinitive object).

He says he has all the proof.

He asks what you are going to do.

The chief told me to do it at once.

When direct speech is replaced by indirect speech, the forms of personal, possessive and reflexive pronouns may be changed or not, depending on the general sense, that is, on their actual correlation with the participants of the act of speaking and the situation described in that particular unit of speech, in the same way as in Russian.

	“I don’t know anything about 

him,” says the girl. 

«Я ничего о нем не знаю», - 

говорит девочка. 

“I can do it myself,” say I. 

«Я вполне могу сделать это 

сам», - говорю я. 

“What are you going to do about 

my picture?” she asks. 

«Что вы собираетесь делать с 

моей картиной?” - спрашивает она.
	The girl says that she does not 

know anything about him 

Девочка говорит, что она ничего 

о нем не знает. 

I say that I can do it myself. 

Я говорю, что (я) вполне могу 

сделать это сам. 

She asks what I am going to do about 

her picture. 

Она спрашивает, что я собираюсь 

делать с ее картиной.


 The tense form of the predicate of the object clause with reported speech is predetermined by the general rules of sequence of tenses.

If the predicate of the object clause in which direct speech is reported is to be changed into one of the past tenses, the change may affect the use of certain adverbs and demonstrative pronouns. That is, depending on the actual correlation between the place and time of the act of speaking and those of the content of the direct speech, there may arise the necessity to replace the adverbs and demonstrative pronouns implying near reference in time or space by those denoting distant reference. In such cases the following changes take place:

this → that

these → those

here → there

now → then, at that time

today → that day

tonight → that night

tomorrow → the following day, (the) next day

yesterday → the day before, the previous day

ago → before

last week (month, year) → the previous week (month, year)

	“But I am really very busy today,” 

said Hans. 

“Well, there’s no use in standing 

here arguing about it,” she said.
	Hans said that he was really very 

busy that day.

She said that there was no use in 

standing there arguing about it.


§ 185. If the sentence in direct speech is declarative, the object clause reporting it in indirect speech is joined to the principal clause by means of the conjunction that or asyndetically. The predicate of the principal clause is usually expressed by the verbs to say or to tell; to say is used when the person to whom the direct speech is addressed is not mentioned in the sentence with indirect speech, whereas to tell is used when the person is mentioned.

	Then she turned to Fanny: 

“We have been married for three years.”
	a)
	Then she turned to Fanny and 

said (that) they had been married for three years.



	
	b)
	Then she turned to Fanny and 

told her (that) they had been married for three years.



	Looking at the doctor she said, 

“I don’t know what it was.”
	a)
	Looking at the doctor she said 

(that) she did not know what it had been.



	
	b)
	Looking at the doctor she told him 

(that) she did not know what it had been.


§ 186. If the direct speech is a pronominal question, the object clause reporting it in indirect speech is joined to the principal clause by the same pronominal word (pronoun or adverb) as used in direct speech. In this case it is treated as a conjunctive word. The word order in the object clause becomes direct. The predicate of the principal clause is the verb to ask or one of its synonyms to want to know, to wonder, etc.

	“Who is it?” she asked. 

“Why didn’t he come?” said she.
	She asked who it was. 

She wanted to know why he had not come.


The person to whom the direct speech is addressed is usually mentioned either in the sentence itself, or in a broader context, or else is understood from the situation. In indirect speech it is expressed in the object to the verb introducing indirect speech.

	“Where have you come from?” she asked the boy. 

She began to put on her gloves. 

“What are you going to do?” he asked.
	She asked the boy where he had come from. 

She began to put on her gloves. 

He asked her what she was going to do.


§ 187. If the direct speech is a general question, the object clause reporting it in indirect speech is joined to the principal clause by means of the conjunctions if or whether. The word order in the object clause is direct. The predicate of the principal clause is the verb to ask or one of its synonyms.

	“Did you tell Frank?” he asked me. 

“Won’t your husband forgive you?” he said after a while.
	He asked me if (whether) I had told Frank. 

After a while he asked (her) if (whether) her husband would not forgive her.


§ 188. If direct speech is an imperative sentence, the following changes take place when reporting it in indirect speech: the predicate of the sentence takes the form of the infinitive and becomes an object to the verb introducing indirect speech; one more object, a noun or a pronoun denoting the person to whom the order or request is addressed, is supplied. Note that this object is an obligatory component of the sentence structure. If the person to whom the order or request is addressed is not indicated in direct speech, it is to be supplied from the previous context or from the speech situation.

Orders, requests, etc., in indirect speech are introduced by the verbs of inducement to tell, to order, to ask, to beg, etc.

	I said, “Say hello to the family for me, Mr. Hunt.” 

“Get me out of here, baby. Get me out of here. Please.” 

The tall boy did not stop. “Shut up, you fool,” cried she. 

One of the boys turned away. 

“Look me full in the face,” said the woman.
	I asked Mr. Hunt to say hello to the family for me. 

He begged me to get him out of there. 

The tall boy did not stop, and she ordered him to shut up. 

One of the boys turned away, 

but the woman told him to look her full in the face.


If the predicate of the imperative sentence is negative, the negation not is placed before the infinitive in indirect speech.

	“Don’t go,” said he. 

“Don't stop!” cried he and ran after them.
	He asked her not to go. 

He ordered them not to stop and ran after them.


APPENDIX I

SOME WAYS OF SENTENCE EXTENSION

Sentence extension embraces different parentheses and direct address mentioned above (§ 113); it also includes homogeneous parts, appended parts, and different kinds of repetitions.

Homogeneous parts

§ 189. Homogeneous parts are two or more components of the sentence which are characterized by the following features:

1. They are connected by coordination, that is, are of equal syntactical rank. They are connected either by a coordinating conjunction (a), or Joined asyndetically (b).

(a) The men were cold and sick and silent.

(b) They crawled ahead, waited, listened to the bombardment.

2. They have one and the same syntactical function in the sentence and similar syntactical relations with other parts of the sentence.

The grass was long and high and wet ——>

	
——> The grass was 
	long 

|

and 

|

high 

|

and 

|

wet




Dora and I ate in silence. ——>

	——>
	Dora

|

and — —> ate in silence.

|

I


The identical syntactical function and the fact that these parts are coordinated make them homogeneous.

3. Homogeneous parts are separated from each other by pauses in speech and generally by commas in writing.

Gertrude had seen Martin first and noticed the eager, hungry lines of his face, and the desperate, worried 

look of his eyes.

4. They may differ:

a) in their structure

I started to kiss Maybelle but couldn’t quite make up my mind. 

(The first homogeneous predicate is a compound verbal phasal predicate and the second is a compound 

verbal modal predicate.) 

She didn’t feel well and stayed in bed. 

(The first homogeneous predicate is a compound nominal predicate and the second is a simple verbal 

predicate.)

She mumbled and kept staring at the same spot in the book. 

(The first homogeneous predicate is a simple verbal predicate and the second is a compound verbal 

phasal predicate.)

b) in the ways of expression (morphologically)

The Johnsons and I have been to five balls to-night.

(The homogeneous subjects are expressed by a proper noun and a pronoun.)

His voice was loud, ringing, yet strained.

(The homogeneous predicatives are expressed by an adjective, participle I and participle II.)

The Colonel had just finished breakfast and was walking across the compound towards the stables.

(The homogeneous simple predicates are expressed by different verb forms.)

From the point of view of their syntactical function there may be:

a) homogeneous subjects

You and Tuck have had a nice time together this summer, haven’t you?

He and Sis didn’t discuss such things.

b) homogeneous predicates

Sis got up and dressed in a hurry and didn’t even put on any lipstick.

When she would turn the pages, she licked her thumb and held out her little finger and turned very 

slowly.

c) homogeneous predicatives

He felt little and worn and helpless. 

The question was painful and difficult to ask.

d) homogeneous objects (direct and indirect)

She had on a sweater and a blue pleated skirt.

All of a sudden I felt mad at myself and the dream and Maybelle and Sucker and every single person I 

knew.

e) homogeneous attributes

He wore a blue striped shirt and grey checked trousers.

f) homogeneous adverbial modifiers

She had lessons on Tuesday after school and on Sunday afternoons.

Homogeneous parts may be connected by different coordinating conjunctions:

a) copulative conjunctions and, nor, neither ... nor, as well as, both ... and, not only ... but also

Neither the wagons nor the howitzer came.

b) disjunctive conjunctions or, either ...or

I don’t care either for Maybelle or any particular girl any more. 

I can get along by myself if Sis or anybody wants to.

c) adversative conjunction but and conjunctive adverb yet

The old man nodded but did not stop eating. 

The story is interesting, yet a little too long.

§ 190. There are, however, cases which look very much like homo​geneous parts but which should be distinguished from them. 

They are:

1. Different kinds of repetitions which make the utterance more expressive but which name the same notion. Any part of the sentence may be repeated in this way.

There were rumours, rumours, rumours. 

It’s wonderful, wonderful, wonderful. 

I’ll never, never, never go there again. 

She is my dear, dear, dear sister.

2. Phrases where coordinated nouns refer to one thing or person, such as: my son and heir, their friend and defender, her friend and counselor.

Bread and butter is not enough for breakfast.

3. Syntactically indivisible coordinated phrases in which neither component can be removed and which make one indivisible part of the sentence.                                 .

Four and four is eight. 

Water consists of hydrogen and oxygen.

4. Sentences where the predicate consists of two parts joined by the conjunction and which in this case has no copulative meaning.

	Try and do it properly 

Come and help me
	= Try to do it properly.

= Come to help me.


The appended modifier (уточнение)

§ 191.  Another way of sentence extension, but based on syntactical parallelism or doubling, is an appended modifier, which usually is parenthetic and follows the headword as an afterthought. It is a dependent part, which can refer to practically any part of the sentence and answer the same question, but in a fuller and more detailed way, narrowing or particularizing the notion, expressed by the headword. Therefore the headword is usually more general in meaning than the appended part; very often it is a pronoun, made explicit by the following nouns.

They were alike, his father and he.

Being a dependent part of the sentence, the appended modifier still cannot be opposed either to the main, or to secondary parts of the sentence. Its dependence also accounts for the reason why the appended part cannot be considered as homogeneous with the headword. Besides they are very often morphologically inacceptable in the structure of the sentence:

Her face was very pale - a greyish pallor.



His daily trips were really very easy - about a mile and a half.



There was very little to do - parading with the Company inspection, a little drill, orderly officers 


occasionally.

Appended parts may be joined asyndetically, and in this case they are marked off graphically by a comma or a dash. They may be also joined by some conjunctions (and, or), or else by explanatory words (namely, that is, i.e. (= that is), to wit, for example, for instance); also by intensifying particles (almost, especially, etc.).

Language makers, that is ordinary speakers, are not very accurate thinkers.

He had discovered that he had a talent for mathematics - almost a genius for it.                                                      

Another way of linking the appended modifier to its headword is the repetition of the same part with modifying words.

My object is secure happiness - the happiness of both of us. 

There are three structural types of appended modifiers.

1. The most common case of an appended modifier is when a different word or even a different morphological form refers to the headword. Standing for identical notions, the appended part gives a fuller and more detailed nomination of the same concept. In some way appended modifiers of this type resemble appositions, only unlike appositions, they may refer to words of non-nominal nature (verbs, adverbs). Even referring to nouns, they never qualify words, but particularize the notion.

Yet it worried her, this queer intensity of Hughie’s.

(appended subject)

I used to do as Jean Jacques did — lie down on my boat and get it glide whereas it would.     

                                                   (appended predicate with dependent words)

Hughie wanted to be a star, a footballer in the big league.

(appended predicative)

And we’ll talk it over, every bit of it.

(appended object)


2. Appended modifiers of the second type form a string of homoge​neous parts referring to a headword with a general meaning (thing, problem, question, etc.). Here again the appended modifiers may refer to different parts of the sentence.

She kept up her music, she read an awful lot -  novels, poetry, all sorts of stuff .

She was allowed to choose things from the shop;  jam, or paste, or biscuits, or the slab cake.


3. Appended parts of the third type - with a repeated headword - usually have an emphatic force.


There was only one road:    the main road, the road that struck due east.

                      (appended subject)


He had his pride of course, the natural pride of a liberal enlighted man. 

                                                (appended object)


He had been a fool, a presumptuous fool.

(appended predicative)


In silence they stood,  in mortal silence.

(appended adverbial modifier)


The emphatic force is often manifested by adverbs of degree, intensifying particles (just, even, especially, particularly, at least, in particular), or modal words (in fact, indeed, etc.). The explanatory function is carried out by modifying words or attributive clauses.

In one place Winterbourne found ... a French-woman with two starved children living in a cottage with nothing but straw - literally nothing but  straw...

They assured him that they were the only men - or almost the only men - left alive...

APPENDIX II

SOME SPECIAL DIFFICULTIES OF ANALYSIS

(syncretic forms, syntactic homonyms, dubious cases of analysis)

Though each sentence can be divided into parts as described in the section “Parts of the sentence”, the attribution of some parts may present certain difficulties.

Here we may distinguish three cases.

1. The analysis of parts of the sentence which contain two meanings at one and the same time (the so-called syncretic forms).

2. The analysis of phrases built on one and the same pattern in different syntactical functions (the so-called syntactical homonyms).

3. The analysis of parts of the sentence whose attribution is dubious due to their nature.

1. Syncretic forms

Difficulties of this kind arise where a part of the sentence contains two meanings at once and it is not always clear which of them is the predominant. This is usually the case with various classes of adverbials, especially those expressed by an infinitive, a participle, or phrases and complexes with these verbals.

Here are some examples.

She looked under the cot and laughed to see the girl crouched there. 

The work done, I felt as free as a bird. 

It growing dark, she hurried the boys home.

In all these sentences the parts in italics express at the same time the idea of the cause of the action of the predicate verb and an indication of the time of these actions.

In the sentence To hear him talk, you’ll think he's at least ten years old the part in italics combines the idea of time with that of condition.

In the sentences She was clever enough to keep silent; I’ve watched you work too long to underrate you the adverbials combine the idea of result with the idea of degree.

Sometimes an adverbial expressed by a noun with a preposition which name the place where the action of the predicate verb was performed actually denotes rather the time of the action than its place. This is usually the case where the adverbial is detached, as in: At home, she took off her hat and cloak and hurried to the kitchen. Here At home has rather the meaning ‘when she came home’.

2. Syntactical homonyms

Sometimes certain difficulties in analysis may arise from the fact that phrases, complexes or clauses of similar pattern can have different syntactical functions. They are called syntactical homonyms.

Here are a few simple examples:

I’ll do it with great pleasure (adverbial of manner). 

She says she’s cut her finger with that table knife (object). 

At last there appeared in the distance the house with the green roof (attribute).               

He’s always with the losing party (predicative).

He looked as if he did not quite recognize the place (predicative clause).

He looked around as if he did not quite recognize the place (adverbial clause of manner).

The parts in italics have different syntactical functions due to the difference in lexical and grammatical semantics of the words they comprise, or the words they are connected with, or both.

3. Dubious cases

Difficulties of this kind usually arise because of the subtlety of the border-line between secondary parts of the sentence expressed by a noun with a preposition or by an infinitive, or sometimes even by a noun without a preposition, which makes it in some cases hardly possible to tell an object from an adverbial, or an attribute from an adverbial.

Object or Adverbial

We come across such difficulties in the sentences She was slowly moving towards Mrs. Carver; She made the policeman look for the cat among the boxes piled up by the wall and the like, in which the underlined parts allow of two alternative interpretations each - as an adverbial of place or as an indirect non-recipient object. The possible identifying questions are of no help here, for such parts may equally answer the where-question and a question with a preposition what/who: Where was she moving? Towards whom was she moving?                           

In the same way some adverbials of manner may border on an indirect non-recipient object with an instrumental meaning. Compare: He opened the fin with a knife (object - what did he open the tin with?) and He was wounded with a bullet, where the bold faced part may be analyzed in two ways, as an object or as an adverbial of manner (What was he wounded with? or How was he wounded?).

Sometimes there is no rigid border-line between a direct object and an adverbial of measure. This is the case where the formal position of the direct object is filled by a word denoting a unit of measure (money, weight, time, etc.). Thus in the sentence The job paid her the minimum rate the boldfaced part may be analyzed in two ways, that is, either as a direct object (what?) or as an adverbial of measure (how much?).

Attribute or Adverbial

Sometimes it is impossible to tell an attribute from an adverbial of purpose. This often occurs where an infinitive or an infinitive phrase follows a noun which is a direct object to some verb. In this case it may not be clear whether the infinitive is grammatically connected with the noun or with the group “verb + noun”. Thus in the sentence She gave me a book to read on the train the syntactical function of the infinitive may be either that of an attribute (= which I might read...) or that of an adverbial of purpose (= in order that I might read it...). Compare this with the following sentences where relations are more definite.

She turned her head to see who it was (adverbial). 

I have two kids to look after (attribute).

APPENDIX III

SUGGESTED WAYS OF SENTENCE ANALYSIS

I. The simple sentence

1. Dusk - of a summer night.

It is a simple extended one-member declarative sentence.

Dusk is the main (principal) part of this sentence. It is expressed by a common noun in the common case.

of a summer night is an attribute to the main part. It is expressed by a prepositional phrase.

2. Stop talking!

It is an imperative exclamatory sentence.

Stop talking is the predicate. It is a compound phasal verbal predicate. It consists of two parts. The first 

part is expressed by the phasal verb stop in the imperative mood. It denotes the end of the action. 

The second part is expressed by a non-perfect gerund active denoting the action itself.

3. Could’ve been professional.

It is a simple unextended two-member elliptical declarative sentence. The position of the subject is not filled with a word form.

Could’ve been professional is the predicate. It is a mixed type of predicate.

Could is the modal part expressed by the verb can in the subjunctive mood. It denotes a possibility 

referring to the past.

have been is a link-verb expressed by a perfect infinitive. It is a link-verb of being.

professional is a predicative expressed by an adjective in the positive degree.

4. Old Jolyon watching from his corner saw his brother’s face change. 

It is a simple, extended, two-member sentence.

Jolyon is the subject expressed by a proper noun in the common case.

Old is an attribute to the subject. It is expressed by an adjective in the positive degree.

watching from his corner is an attribute to the subject (or an adverbial modifier of time) expressed by a 

participial phrase with participle I as headword.

saw is the predicate. It is a simple verbal predicate expressed by the verb to see in the past indefinite 

active.

his brother’s face change is a complex object expressed by an objective with the infinitive construction; it 

consists of a nominal phrase (his brother’s face) and a non-perfect infinitive.

Note:

Verbal and non-verbal complexes are to be treated as one indivisible part of the sentence.

5. Is the weather not likely to change?

It is a simple unextended two-member interrogative sentence.

the weather is the subject expressed by a common noun. in the common case.

Is not likely to change is the predicate. It is a compound verbal predicate of double orientation. It consists 

of two parts.

Is not likely is the first part. It denotes the estimate of the speaker of, or his attitude to, the situation 

described in the sentence. It is expressed by a phrase with a modal meaning.

to change is the second part. It denotes the action itself and is expressed by a non-perfect infinitive.

6. The whole house being made of wood, it looked good. 

It is a simple extended two-member declarative sentence.

it is the subject expressed by a personal pronoun of the 3rd person singular.

looked good is the predicate. It is a compound nominal predicate, consisting of a link verb and a 

predicative.

looked is a link verb expressed by the past indefinite of the link verb to look, which is a link verb of being 

in a state.

the whole house being made of wood is an adverbial modifier of reason expressed by a nominative 

absolute participial construction.

7. I found my life dull. 

It is a simple extended two-member declarative sentence.

I is the subject expressed by a personal pronoun of the 1st person singular.

found is a simple verbal predicate expressed by the past indefinite of the verb to find.

my life dull is a predicative complex (or a complex object) expressed by an objective non-verbal 

construction (or by an object + objective predicative).

II. The composite sentence

A. The compound sentence

1. (a) Coffee was served and the ladies went upstairs.

It is a compound sentence consisting of two coordinate clauses connected by copulative connection with the help of the conjunction and.

	Coffee was served
	and
	The ladies went upstairs


(b) He loved his work and he counted himself fortunate to have such an opportunity so early in his 

career.

It is a compound sentence containing two clauses joined by causative-consecutive relations with the help of the copulative conjunction and, which expresses a shade of consecutive relations.

(c) I wanted to go on, whereas my friend wanted to go back.

It is a compound sentence comprising two coordinate clauses which are connected by adversative connection expressed by the adversative conjunction whereas.

In sentences (b), (c) the graphical presentation is the same as in sentence (a).

2. (a) Our Elsie was looking at her with big imploring eyes; she was frowning, she wanted to go.

It is a compound sentence consisting of three coordinate clauses which are connected by copulative coordination asyndetically.

	Our Elsie was looking...
	
	she was frowning
	
	she wanted to go

	
	
	
	
	


(b) I longed to stay there and tell the truth, but that would have been ridiculous, so I came away.

It is a compound sentence comprising three coordinate clauses. The first two clauses are joined by means of adversative connection with the help of the adversative conjunction but. The second and the third clauses are connected by causative-consecutive connection with the help of the consecutive conjunction so.

	I longed to stay there...
	——but—
	that would have been ridiculous
	—so——
	I came away


B.
The complex sentence

1. (a) What impressed me was Cyprus Avenue.

It is a complex sentence with the subject expressed by a subordinate clause introduced by the conjunctive pronoun what. The main clause is devoid of the subject.

	What impressed me
	←
	was Cyprus Avenue


(b) This is where Havoc Has been.

It is a complex sentence with a predicative clause introduced by the conjunctive adverb where. The main clause is devoid of the predicative.

	This is
	→
	where Havoc has been


 (c) What surprised him was that there was no pain about it.

It is a complex sentence with a subject and a predicative clause. The subject clause is introduced by the conjunctive pronoun what and the predicative clause by the conjunction that. Since these clauses occupy the positions of the main parts of the sentence, the main (principal) clause is reduced to the link verb only.

	What surprised him
	←
	was
	→
	that there was no pain about it


2. (a) The woman who ran the place was very cheerful.

It is a complex sentence comprising (or consisting of) two clauses. The main clause is The woman was very cheerful. The subordinate clause is who ran the place. It is a restrictive (limiting) relative attributive clause modifying the subject of the main clause as its antecedent.
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The same graphical presentation is to be found in other complex sen​tences containing one subordinate clause.

(b) The next book she wrote she sent to a magazine.

It is a complex sentence with a contact clause dependent on the antecedent the next book, which is the subject of the main clause.

Or:

It is a complex sentence containing a restrictive attributive clause joined to the main clause asyndetically.

(c) Stratford-on-Avon, -where Shakespeare was born, is visited by thousands of tourists.

It is a complex sentence with a descriptive (or non-restrictive) attributive clause introduced by the relative adverb where, which refers to the antecedent Stratford-on-Avon in the main clause.

(d) Look before you leap.

It is a complex sentence with an adverbial clause of time introduced by the conjunction before and depending on-the predicate of the main clause.

(e) Bad as things are, we mustn’t give up hope.

It is a complex sentence with an adverbial clause of concession. The concessive clause is introduced by the conjunction as with inverted word order in the subordinate clause. It modifies the whole of the main clause.

3. I did not tell Muriel on my return to London what George had said to me, or what he looked like, but contended myself with assuring her that he was well and happy.

It is a complex sentence comprising one main clause and three subordinate object clauses. The main clause contains two homogeneous predicates (did not tell and contended) connected by the conjunction but. The first and the second subordinate clauses are homogeneous, they are joined to each other by the disjunctive conjunction or and introduced by the conjunctive pronoun what. Both modify the first of the two homogeneous predicates. The third object clause is introduced by the conjunction that. It depends on the object to the second homogeneous predicate with assuring.
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4. Complex sentences with successive subordination:





(а) Не spoke as if I were a child that needed to be distracted.

It is a complex sentence comprising three clauses. (Or: it is a complex sentence consisting of the main clause He spoke and two subordinate clauses of different degrees of subordination.) The first subordinate clause is of the first degree of subordination. It is an adverbial clause of comparison introduced by the conjunction as if and depending on the predicate of the main clause. The second subordinate clause is of the second degree of subordination. It is a restrictive attributive clause introduced by the relative pronoun that and depending on the predicative of the previous clause, that is, the clause of the first degree of subordination.
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(b) When the news came that France had mobilized and that the Germans had crossed the Belgian frontier, George abandoned all hope immediately.

It is a complex sentence consisting of one principal and three subordinate clauses. The first subordinate clause is introduced by the conjunction when and is a subordinate clause of time of the first degree of subordination. The other two clauses are of the second degree of subordination. They are homogeneous appositive clauses introduced by the conjunction that and linked with each other by the copulative conjunction and. They both depend on the subject of the adverbial clause of time.
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С. The compound-complex sentence

Why were her own relations so rich, and Phil never knew where the money was coming from for tomorrow’s tobacco?

It is a compound-complex sentence consisting of two coordinated clauses connected by contrasting relations and linked by the copulative conjunction and. Besides two coordinate clauses the sentence comprises one subordinate clause which depends on the second coordinate clause. It is an object clause introduced by the conjunctive adverb where.
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SUPPLEMENT

Tense Auxiliaries

As the majority of the finite form of the  verb are analytical they are formed by means of auxiliary verbs (auxiliaries). These are: to do, to be, to have, shall, will.

In the spoken language some forms of the auxiliaries and the negation not are contracted which is shown in writing by means  of the apostrophe (‘)
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Note:

In the spoken language is [ɪz] is usually weakened and is pronounced [z] after vowels and voiced consonants (except voiced sibilants and affricates), [s] after voiceless consonants (except voiceless sibilants and affricates), [ǝz] after sibilants and affricates (both voiced and voiceless). This weakening of the form is not usually shown in writing:

The boy is gone (ðǝ 'boɪz'gon].

The plan is good [ðǝ 'plænz'gud].

The cup is broken [ðǝ 'kʌps'broukæn].

The bus is coming up [ðǝ 'bʌsǝz'kʌmɪŋ'ʌp].

* The contraction of are combined with certain personal pronouns is pronounced differently is British and American English, viz.:

	British English
	American English

	we’re [wɪǝ] 

you’re [juǝ] 

they’re ['ðeɪǝ]
	[wɪr] 

[jur] 

[ðеr]


** In dialect and "uneducated" British and American English the form ain’t is very common. It is used as a contracted form of am not, are not, is not, have not and has not. Ain’t is not used in standard (“correct”) English.                   .

I ain’t going to buy it.

Don’t talk to me like that, you ain’t my mother.

It ain’t raining, let’s go out.

I ain’t got any money.

He ain’t seen me yet.

** ‘m not is replaced by aren’t in the negative-interrogative (Aren’t I clever enough? I’m clever enough, aren’t I?)
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Note:

As a future tense auxiliary shall (should) is used with the 1st person (singular and plural) only.
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Note 1:

As a future tense auxiliary will (would) in its full form is commonly used with the 2nd and the 3rd persons. Nowadays however there is strong tendency to use it with the 1st persons as well, especially in American English.

Note 2:

The contractions ‘ll and ‘d stand for will and would, not for shall and should, though they are widely used with the 1st persons as well.

Archaic Forms of the Auxiliaries

The forms given in the tables above are those of modern standard English. One may also come across archaic forms, mainly in poetry or texts where an archaic effect is intended.

	Forms


	Grammatical characteristics


	Verbs



	dost [dʌSt], [dǝst]


	Present indefinite, 2nd person singular


	to do



	doth, doeth [dʌθ], ][dǝθ]


	Present indefinite, 3rd person singular


	


	didst [dɪdst]


	Past indefinite, 2nd person singular


	

	art [a:t], [ǝt]


	Present indefinite, 2nd person singular


	to be



	wast [wɔst], [wǝst], wert [wǝ:t], [wǝt]


	Past indefinite, 2nd person singular


	

	hast [hæst], [hǝst], |ǝst], [st]


	Present indefinite, 2nd person singular


	to have



	hath [hæθ], [hǝθ], [ǝθ]


	Present indefinite, 3rd person singular


	

	hadst [hædst], [hǝdst], [ǝdst]


	Past indefinite, 2nd person singular


	

	shall [∫ælt], [∫ǝlt], [∫lt]

	Present indefinite, 2nd person singular


	shall



	shouldst, shouldest [∫udst]


	Past indefinite, 2nd person singular


	

	wilt [wɪlt], [ǝlt], [ɪt]


	Present indefinite, 2nd person singular


	will



	wouldst, wouldest [wudst]


	Past indefinite, 2nd person singular


	


	Table of tense - aspect - perfect forms of the verb “to translate” 

in the Indicative mood (3d person singular)



	Time 

Reference


	Aspect


	Non-perfect


	Perfect



	Present


	Common


	He works


	He has worked



	
	Continuous


	He is working


	He has been working



	Past


	Common


	He worked


	He had worked



	
	Continuous


	He was working


	He had been working



	Future


	Common


	He will work


	He will have worked



	
	Continuous


	He will be working


	He will have been working



	Future in the past


	Common


	He would work


	He would have worked



	
	Continuous


	He would be working


	He would have been working
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